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CORPORATE PROFILE
REEN

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in purchasing,
processing, designing, production and wholesale distribution of pearls
and jewellery products and operation of strategic investment and financial
services, with the objective to include investments in real estate agency
business and real estate investment funds and other potential investment
opportunities.

The Company was spun-off from Man Sang International Limited and
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange") by way of introduction on 17 October 2014 under
the stock code of 1466. In March 2017, the name of the Company was
changed from Man Sang Jewellery Holdings Limited to Affluent Partners
Holdings Limited.

The Group is one of the world's largest merchants, purchasers and
processors of pearls. The processing and production of pearls and
jewellery are conducted at the Group's production facilities in Shenzhen,
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC").

During the current financial year, the Group has maintained its investment
in the realty market in the United Kingdom through the subscription of
an investment fund and loan notes and invested in the co-working space
industry which are included in the strategic investment and financial
services operating segment.

The Group will continue to explore new business opportunities so arising
in order to maximise shareholders’ value in the coming future.
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KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B

FENBRR

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A31HLEE
Consolidated Income Statement FERER 2020 2019 Change
2020% 2019F & %
Revenue (HK$'000) WA (F&7T) 111,978 171,266 (59,289) (346)
Gross profit (HK$'000) EM(FET) 28,549 48521 (19972) 412)
Loss before income tax (HK$'000) BRETEHAIEE (TAT) (280,402) (43,220) (237,182) (5488)
Loss for the year attributable to equity AEEZARRIREEMER
holders of the Company (HK$'000) (F%T) (281,822) (42,816) (239,006) (5582)
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cent) SRERREEBE (BL) (15.53) (2.52) (13.01) (516.3)
As at 31 March
R3A31H
Consolidated Balance Sheet REEESER 2020 2019 Change
2020% 2019F 29 %
Net assets (HK$'000) BEFE(THAT) 85,132 197,978 (112,846) (57.0)
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) RehERBRE (FHT) 34,491 28443 6,048 213
Shareholders' equity (HK$'000) Rz (TAT) 85,132 197,978 (112,846) (57.0)
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FEMBLER
2020 2019 Change
2020F 2019%F 2
Gross profit margin® EMED 25.5% 28.3% (2.8) percentage points
QEENE
Return on equity® BRE SRR (331.0)% (216)% (309.4) percentage points
B0oAEE DB
Current ratio (times)® ML (fF)© 2.1 17
Gearing ratio® BREEL R 0.36 0.27
m Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the Group. @) EMERIEREBEFRBRABA
) Return on equity is defined as the ratio of loss attributable to equity holders of the @ BRA S EHRATERANAFRREEEHRRARR
Company to total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. FIRRER P A8 Mt el 2t o
(3) Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities. G RBLRATRADEERERUADREEEL
Lt
(4) Gearing ratio represents total borrowing, including current and non-current portion, ) EARELXEEERE (BERBLIFRE D)

divided by total equity.

BRIAME RS -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERB|E

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”),
| hereby present the results of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (‘FY20").

PERFORMANCE

This year, the Company continued its pace in the transformation. Through
strategic investment and financial services segment, the Company
gradually marched towards becoming an investment enterprise with
business diversification especially in real estate related segments.

During FY20, the Group entered the sale and purchase agreement for the
acquisition of certain interest in a target group ("Campfire Group”) whose
main business is engaged in the operation of co-working spaces in Hong
Kong under the Campfire brand. We believe that it could represent a viable
business opportunity to step forward in strengthening and to further
expand the Group's existing strategic investment and financial services
segment by widening the spectrum from real estate agency business to
co-working space business.

Meanwhile, during FY20, the Group disposed its investment in the
commercial property (the “Property”) in Hong Kong that was acquired
and completed in 2018. The Group is of the view that the disposal
transaction represents a good opportunity for the Group to realise the
Property at a reasonable price. The proceeds from the disposal would
greatly improve the financial position of the Group.

Since January 2020, many countries have imposed travel restrictions,
public health measures and quarantine requirement of travellers in
order to contain the outbreak of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) (the
"Outbreak”’) which resulted in the weakened consumer sentiment in
the world which reduced the total Group's sales contribution in pearl
and jewellery products. In fact, the segment results improved a lot as
compared with that of last year as a result of cost control measures
deployed by the Group. While the Outbreak is yet stable, we expect that
the revenue from pearls and jewellery business will continue to further
deteriorate. The Group will continue to observe the high-consumption
products market, and to review and adjust business development
strategies in a timely manner in a bid to deploy for steady performance in
the future.
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In addition, since the Outbreak in January 2020, the travel restrictions,
public health measures and quarantine requirement of travellers which
were imposed by Hong Kong government and other countries have
adversely affected the operation of Campfire Group, which has in turn
affected the demand of co-working space, as well as the average rental
income of co-working space. In order to reduce losses and maintain the
business of Campfire Group, the management of the Campfire Group has
downsized the co-working space network in Hong Kong. As a result, the
Group has recognised the impairment loss of its investment in Campfire
Group during FY20.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with the real estate investment business, the investments
in the Sub-Fund (as defined on page 10) and the co-working space
industry, our targets are the countries along the Eurasia. We anticipate that
the Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment will diversify the
income streams of the Group, and generate additional investment returns
on the available funds of the Company from time to time. We expect that
the segment will be the growth driver of the Company and will actively
make continuous efforts to find appropriate investment projects in the
future.

The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add
value for the acquisition project to increase its profitability and return.
Meanwhile, the Group will continue enhancing the development of the
mature pearls and jewellery business, actively participating in various
important jewellery & gem fairs around the world and optimising
operation efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive.

With the development of the existing Strategic Investment and Financial
Services Segment, the Group will focus its investments and operations
more in the real estate, co-working spaces and investment and asset
management sectors especially in Europe and Asia.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
EFREHRE (B)

APPRECIATION

I ' would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to
all our shareholders, customers and other business partners for their long-
term attention and support to the Group over the years. | would also like
to thank the senior management team and all the staffs of the Group for
their dedication, hard work and contributions to the Group during the past
year.

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board hereby reports the results of the Company and the Group for
FY20. During FY20, the consolidated loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company was HK$281.8 million (year ended 31 March 2019
("FY19"): HK$42.8 million), representing a substantial increase of 558.4% as
compared with that in FY19. Basic loss per share was 15.53 HK cents (FY19:
2.52 HK cents), representing a substantial increase of 516.3% as compared
with that in FY19 mainly due to the impairment losses on investments
in associates, fair value loss on unlisted property fund and the loss on
disposals of property, plant and equipment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Pearls and Jewellery Business Segment

The Group is one of the world's largest merchants, purchasers and
processors of pearls, with its customers spanning through 50 countries
and regions around the globe. Leveraging its own competitive
advantages, which include the close and stable relationship with
customers and suppliers, the Group has offered vertically integrated
product chain and built a renowned reputation in the pearl and jewellery
industry.

The global market sentiment for pearl and fine jewellery continued to be
weak during the year which had an adverse impact on demand of the
Group's pearl and jewellery products. Since January 2020, many countries
have imposed travel restrictions, public health measures and quarantine
requirement of travellers in order to contain the Outbreak which resulted
in the weakened consumer sentiment in the world which reduced the
total Group's sales contribution in pearl and jewellery products (FY20:
HK$109.8 million; FY19: HK$169.4 million). For FY20, the return on capital of
pearls and jewellery products was (24.7) % (FY19: (1.5)%).

The Group will continue to strictly control costs and improve operation
efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive. The Group will
continue to actively participate in various important jewellery and gem
fairs around the world in order to maintain its diversified customer base.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERE AT (B)

Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment

In the wake of rapid transformation in previous years, during FY20, the
Group maintained the real estate investment business through the
Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment. This segment has
been in operation and its objectives include investments in real estate
agency business and real estate investment funds as well as other
potential investment opportunities.

On 22 February 2018, the Group entered into a subscription agreement
with Orient Capital Opportunity Fund SPC (the “Investment Fund”)
pursuant to which the Group has agreed to subscribe for participating
shares of the value equivalent to HK$76,000,000 in the Investment Fund
in respect of the Orient Capital Real Estate Fund SP (the “Sub-Fund") in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the subscription agreement
and the private placing memorandum. The principal investment objective
of the Sub-Fund is to achieve capital returns by investing solely in a
residential estate project (the "Project”) in West London. The Project
comprises 49 apartment units and 31 car parking spaces which are located
at 9 Lillie Square, Lillie Square London, SW6, United Kingdom. The Project
is the fourth block within Phase 2 of a larger development known as Lillie
Square. Lillie Square is owned and developed by a joint venture formed
by Capital & Counties Properties PLC ("Capco”), one of the largest listed
property investment and development companies that specialise in
central London real estate, and interests of certain members of the Kwok
family ("KFI"). KFI represents interests of certain members of the Kwok
family, who are major shareholders of Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited,
one of the largest real estate companies listed on the Stock Exchange. The
Project is expected to be completed in 2020. As at 31 March 2020, the
Group has contributed HK$41,800,000 to the Sub-Fund and the remaining
portion of HK$34,200,000 is subject to be called from time to time. During
FY20, the Group recognised a fair value loss on the investment in the Sub-
Fund amounting to approximately HK$33.6 million mainly due to the
recent market downturns and the uncertainty in Brexit. Please refer to the
Company's announcements dated 22 February 2018 and 2 March 2018.
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As at the balance sheet date, the Group holds 33% of the entire issued
share capital of Dellos Group Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with its main operating subsidiary in Korea, (collectively
the “Dellos Group”). Products under Dellos Group are sold in South Korea
and countries across the world. Dellos Group develops the nano water-
soluble technology with an independent third party, which could be
applied to the manufacturing process of beverage for easily digested and
absorbed by human body.

Investments in and loans to Dellos Group were fully written down
during the year ended 31 March 2018. The Group was informed by the
management of Dellos Group on 20 June 2018 that Dellos F&B Co., Ltd.
(‘Dellos F&B") had filed an application for commencing rehabilitation
proceedings (the "Rehabilitation Proceedings”’) with Seoul
Rehabilitation Court (the “Court”) on 13 February 2018 and the Court had
approved the commencement of the Rehabilitation Proceedings on 7
March 2018.

The rehabilitation plan (‘Rehabilitation Plan”) involves, among other
matters, reduction or exemption of the outstanding debts owed by Dellos
F&B, conversion of all or part of the creditors’ claims into shares of Dellos
F&B and repayment plan for the remaining debts. The Rehabilitation Plan
was put forward for approval by the creditors and shareholders of Dellos
F&B and the Court.

Based on the advices from the Group's legal advisers, the management of
Dellos F&B is planning to make a bankruptcy filing to the Korean court in
July 2020 for the formally bankruptcy proceedings. Once the bankruptcy
proceedings has been confirmed, the Rehabilitation Plan would no longer
exist. In view of this, the Directors considered that the investment cost and
loans and interest receivables are unlikely to be recovered during FY20.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERE AT (B)

On 26 October 2018, the Company entered into a collaboration
agreement (the “Collaboration Agreement’) with Equitativa Real Estate
Limited (‘Equitativa”) in relation to setting up one or more REITs (the
“REITs") along Eurasia to be managed by an entity or entities established
and wholly owned by Equitativa or its affiliates. Under the Collaboration
Agreement, the Group will facilitate the implementation of the REITs,
identify assets to seed the REITs, refer clients for investment in the REITs
and act as an advisor to and work closely with Equitativa in relation to the
REITs. Equitativa or its affiliates will be responsible for the establishment
and management of the REITs and will be appointed as the manager. The
Group shall be entitled to a referral fee equivalent to certain percentage
of the transaction value of any assets acquired by the REITs and for any
investments in the REITs introduced by the Group. The Group will also
be entitled to a one-off performance fee upon the successful listing of
the REITs on a recognised stock exchange on a pro rata basis as relative
to the assets identified and referred by the Group and acquired by the
REITs. Details of the Collaboration Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement made by the Company on 28 October 2018.

On 10 June 2019, the Group and the vendors entered into the sale
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the vendors have agreed
to sell and the Group had conditionally agreed to acquire the sale
shares (“Acquisition’), representing 30% of the issued share capital of
Guardian City Limited (the “"Guardian City"), at the total consideration
of HK$176,005,000 (the “Total Consideration”). The Total Consideration
shall be HK$176,005,000 which shall be satisfied by the Group by (i) cash
in the sum of HK$10,000,000 and (ii) procure the allotment and issuance
of 153,000,000 consideration Shares at the issue price of HK$1.085 per
consideration Share by the Company to the vendors upon the completion.
On 25 June 2019, the consideration Shares were allotted and issued to the
vendors under the general mandate approved by the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 September 2018. At
the completion, the Group, the vendor 1 and the vendor 2 were interested
in 30.0%, 20.4% and 14.4% equity interests in Guardian City respectively. As
such, Guardian City becomes an associate of the Company. Guardian City
is principally engaged in investment holding which holds 62.55% equity
interest in Campfire Holdings Company Limited (“Campfire Holdings").
Campfire Holdings is principally engaged in investment holding and
Campfire Holdings and its subsidiaries (“Campfire Group”) are principally
engaged in the operation of co-working spaces in Hong Kong with
ongoing expansion plan in Asia Pacific region under the Campfire brand.
Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the announcements made by
the Company on 28 May 2019, 10 June 2019 and 25 June 2019.
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Since June 2019, the social movement has been dampening the economic
activities in Hong Kong. The business operating environment in Hong
Kong became uncertain and challenging, as well as weaker consumer
sentiment, decline of visitor arrivals from mainland China to Hong Kong.
As a result, the clients of Campfire Group have been affected significantly
and it attributed to the decline of the demand of co-working spaces of
Campfire Group. In addition, since the Outbreak in January 2020, the
travel restrictions, public health measures and quarantine requirement
of travellers which were imposed by Hong Kong government and other
countries have adversely affected the operation of Campfire Group,
which has in turn affected the demand of co-working space, as well as
the average rental income of co-working space. In order to reduce losses
and maintain the business of Campfire Group, the management of the
Campfire Group has downsized the co-working space network in Hong
Kong. As a result, Campfire Group has closed down 9 out of the 13 sites
in Hong Kong and the Group has recognised the impairment loss of
investment in Guardian City of approximately HK$147,391,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2020 based on the above assessment.

Looking forward, with the completion of the loan notes, its subsequent
real estate agency business, the investment in the Sub-Fund and the
investment in the co-working space industry, we expect that our strategic
investment and financial services segment will diversify the income
streams of the Group and generate additional investment returns on
the available funds of the Company from time to time. In view of the
recent market downturns and the uncertainty in Brexit, we considered
to minimise our investments in the United Kingdom. We expect that the
segment will be one of the growth drivers of the Company in the future
and we will make continuous efforts to find appropriate investment
projects. The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to
add value for the acquisition projects, so as to increase its profitability and
return.
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GENERAL OFFER

On 27 April 2018, the Company was informed that Pacific Wish Limited
(“Pacific Wish") (as purchaser) and Crown City Inc Limited (as vendor)
entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement’) in
relation to the sale and purchase of an aggregate of 168,177,382 Shares,
representing approximately 49.55% of the issued share capital of the
Company, for the total consideration of approximately HK$363 million
(equivalent to HK$2.16 per Share). Completion took place on 9 May 2018.
Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Hong Kong Codes on Takeovers and Mergers,
Pacific Wish made a mandatory conditional general cash offer (the
"General Offer’) for all the issued shares (other than those already owned
or agreed to be acquired by Pacific Wish and parties acting in concert
with it). The General Offer lapsed on 30 August 2018 and Pacific Wish
received acceptances in respect of a total of 14,102 Shares, representing
approximately 0.004% of the issued share capital of the Company. As the
conditions of the General Offer had not been satisfied, the General Offer
had not become unconditional and lapsed on 30 August 2018. Please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 7 May 2018, 9 May 2018, 25
May 2018, 3 July 2018, 17 July 2018, 27 July 2018, 9 August 2018 and 30
August 2018 as well as the composite offer and response document dated
9 August 2018, jointly issued by Pacific Wish and the Company for further
information relating to the Agreement and the General Offer.

GRANT OF SHARE OPTIONS

On 29 October 2018, the Board granted and the grants were accepted by
the eligible participants as defined in the Share Option Scheme in respect
of 64,796,000 share options at an exercise price of HK$1.34 per Share.

On 13 December 2018, the Board granted and the grants were accepted
by the eligible participants as defined in the Share Option Scheme in
respect of 1,000,000 share options at an exercise price of HK$1.2 per Share.

Details of the above grants of share options were disclosed in the
announcements made by the Company on 29 October 2018 and 13
December 2018 respectively.
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PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO AN
AFFILIATED COMPANY

On 1 August 2019, Thriving Oasis Limited (the “Lender”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Campfire Holdings Company Limited
(the "Borrower”), an associated company of the Company, entered into
the loan agreement (the ‘Loan Agreement’). Pursuant to the Loan
Agreement, the Lender has agreed to grant the loan (the “Loan”) in the
principal amount of up to HK$25,000,000 at the interest rate of 15% per
annum to the Borrower for the period of 12 months from the drawdown
date to the final repayment date subject to the terms and conditions
of the Loan Agreement. From 1 August 2019 up to the balance sheet
date, no amount of the Loan was utilised. For more details of the Loan
Agreement, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 1 August
2019.

MAJOR TRANSACTION - DISPOSAL OF
PROPERTY

In March 2018, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement in
relation to the acquisition of the sale shares and sale loan of Summit
Pacific Group Limited ("Summit Pacific”) at the consideration of HK$70
million in cash. Summit Pacific held a property (the “Property”) with a
saleable area of approximately 2,567 sq. ft. located in Wanchai, Hong Kong.
The acquisition, the terms of which were amended by a supplemental
agreement entered into by the parties on 19 April 2018, was completed
on 4 October 2018 and the Property had been occupied as the
headquarters of the Group as from 4 April 2019.

On 5 December 2019, Summit Pacific, the purchaser and the agent
entered into the provisional agreement, pursuant to which Summit
Pacific would sell and the purchaser would acquire the Property at the
consideration of HKS$53 million in cash (the "Disposal’). The Disposal
constituted a major transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules
and was therefore subject to the Shareholders’ approval in the EGM. At
the EGM held on 16 January 2020, the Disposal was duly passed by the
Shareholders by way of poll.

The completion of the Disposal took place on 16 January 2020. Upon
the completion, the Property was no longer the asset of the Group and
the Group recorded a loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$17.7 million during FY20.
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Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 23 March 2018, 19
April 2018, 28 September 2018, 4 October 2018, 4 April 2019, 5 December
2019, 7 January 2020 and 16 January 2020 and the Company’s circular
dated 31 December 2019.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no financial guarantee.

LITIGATION

On 16 March 2020, the Company and its subsidiary received a writ of
summons endorsed with a statement of claim under action number HCA
248 of 2020 issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) by the
solicitors acting for Great View Finance Limited (the “Plaintiff’) against the
Company and its subsidiary for demand immediate repayment of overdue
borrowing of approximately HK$3,084,000 (the “Claims”) and the interest
on the Claims at the rate of 18% per annum from 17 January 2020 to the
date of settlement.

After the settlement of the Claims by the Group, on 8 June 2020, the
Group had received a notice of discontinuance filed in the High Court by
the Plaintiff, confirming that the legal proceedings closed.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 17 March 2020 and 8
June 2020.

Other than the above, as at the balance sheet date, the Group was not
involved in any other material litigation or arbitration.
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EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Placing of New Shares Under General Mandate

On 1 June 2020, a total of 369,900,000 placing Shares were placed by
Kingston Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent’) to not less than six
placees at placing price of HK$0.025 per placing Share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement entered into between
the Company and the Placing Agent on 14 May 2020, representing
approximately 16.66% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing Shares immediately
upon completion of the placing.

The above placing Shares were allotted and issued under the general
mandate granted to the Board at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 27 September 2019. The net proceeds from the
placing, after deduction of the placing commission and other related
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$8.72 million will be used for
general working capital for the Group including the settlement of the
writ of summons as detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 17
March 2020. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the Company's
announcements dated 14 May 2020, 15 May 2020 and 1 June 2020.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with the real estate investment business, the investments
in the Sub-Fund and the co-working space industry, our targets are the
countries along Eurasia. We anticipate that the Strategic Investment and
Financial Services Segment will diversify the income streams of the Group,
and generate additional investment returns on the available funds of
the Company from time to time. We expect that the segment will be the
growth driver of the Company and will actively make continuous efforts to
find appropriate investment projects in the future.
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Overall speaking, the social movement in Hong Kong and the Outbreak
is expected to adversely impact on the business performance of the
Group but the actual impact has yet to be quantified. Based on the
Company's current observation and estimation, the downtrend on the
Group's revenue is expected to be carried forward to certain extent for
the second half of 2020 due to the slow down of economic activities and
the change of consumption pattern caused by the Outbreak. The Group is
taking all practicable measures to cope with the challenges ahead, while
striving for the highest caution standard to protect the health and safety
of our staff and our customers. The Company will continue to monitor the
development of the Outbreak and its impact on the Company’s operations
and the impairment of the investment in Guardian City and react actively
to its impacts on the financial position and operating results of the Group.

The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add
value for the acquisition project to increase its profitability and return.
Meanwhile, the Group will continue enhancing the development of the
mature pearls and jewellery business, actively participating in various
important jewellery & gem fairs around the world and optimising
operation efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive. While
the Outbreak being yet stable, the Directors expected that the revenue
from pearls and jewellery business will continue to further deteriorate.

With the development of the existing Strategic Investment and Financial
Services Segment, the Group will focus its investments and operations
more in the real estate, co-working spaces and investment and asset
management sectors especially in Europe and Asia.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group currently is principally engaged in purchasing, processing,
designing, production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery
products and operation of strategic investment and financial services.

Revenue and Gross Profit

Revenue decreased to HK$112.0 million for FY20 (FY19: HK$171.3 million),
comprised sales of pearl and jewellery of HK$109.8 million (FY19: HK$169.4
million) and interest income on strategic investment and financial services
of HK$2.2 million (FY19: HK$1.9 million), mainly as a result of the decrease
in sales of pearl and jewellery.
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Gross profit decreased by HK$20.0 million or 41.2% to HK$28.5 million
(FY19: HK$48.5 million). The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the
decrease in revenue from sales of pearl and jewellery during FY20 (FY20:
25.5%; FY19: 28.3%). The decrease in gross profit margin was also mainly
attributable to the decrease in revenue from sales of pearl and jewellery
during the year.

Selling and Administrative Expenses (the “S&A
expenses”)

S&A expenses mainly comprised selling expenses of HK$4.2 million (FY19:
HKS$6.3 million) and administrative expenses of HK$66.1 million (FY19:
HKS$72.2 million). S&A expenses decreased by HK$8.2 million or 10.5%
to HKS$70.3 million (FY19: HK$78.5 million) in FY20. The decrease in S&A
expenses was mainly due to the decrease in share-based payments
expenses in administrative expenses and as a result of cost control
measures deployed by the Group during FY20.

Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company substantially
increased by HK$239.0 million or 558.4% to HK$281.8 million in FY20 (FY19:
HK$42.8 million) mainly due to the impairment losses on investments
in associates, fair value loss on unlisted property fund and the loss on
disposal of property, plant and equipment during the year as compared to
FY19.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the year, the Group funded its operations through a combination
of cash generated from operations and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. As at 31 March 2020, the Group's total equity was
HKS$85.1 million (2019: HK$198.0 million), representing a decrease of 57.0%
from last year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$34.5
million (31 March 2019: HK$28.4 million). Cash and cash equivalents were
mainly denominated in United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Group's net current assets were HK$74.6 million (31 March
2019: HK$53.3 million). The current ratio, represented by the total current
assets divided by the total current liabilities, was 2.1 (31 March 2019: 1.7).
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As at 31 March 2020, the Group had outstanding borrowings and amount
due to immediate holding company of HK$31.1 million (31 March 2019:
HK$58.2 million) of which a borrowing amount of HK$25.7 million is
secured by convertible loan notes with carrying value of HK$32.0 million
and such borrowing is provided by a company of which Mr. Leung Alex
is a common director and is at interest rate of 15% per annum and the
tenor of which is 12 months (31 March 2019: the borrowings were secured
by leasehold property of the Group with net carrying amount of HK$69.3
million). With the available cash and cash equivalents and cash generated
from operations, the Group has adequate financial resources to meet
the anticipated future liquidity requirements and capital expenditure
commitment.

Capital Structure and Share Subdivision

As at 31 March 2020, the total number of issued shares of the Company
was 1,849,949,645 (31 March 2019: 1,696,949,645) of HK$0.002 each (31
March 2019: HK$0.002 each) (the “Shares”) and its issued share capital was
HK$3,699,899 (31 March 2019: HK$3,393,899).

On 25 June 2019, as part of the payment of the Total Consideration in the
Acquisition, the Company allotted and issued 153,000,000 consideration
Shares at the issue price of HK$1.085 per consideration Shares to the
vendors.

Save as disclosed above, there was no movements in either the Company’s
authorised or issued share capital during the year under review.

Capital Commitments

At 31 March 2020, the Group had commitment, which was contracted
but not provided and subject to fulfilment of conditions precedent, to
make the remaining capital commitment to the unlisted property fund of
HK$34.2 million (2019: HK$38.0 million).

Save for the above, the Group had no other significant commitments
outstanding at 31 March 2020.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries
The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries
during FY19 and FY20.
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Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from various
currencies, such as United States dollars, Great Britain Pounds, Renminbi
and South Korean Won, which were the major foreign currencies
transacted by the Group during FY19 and FY20.

Since Hong Kong dollars remain pegged to the United States dollars
within a defined range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign
exchange risk against the United States dollars. The Group has subsidiaries
operating in the PRC, in which most of their transactions, including
revenue, expenses and other financing activities, are denominated in
Renminbi. The Group has investments operating in England and South
Korea and these investments are denominated in Great Britain Pounds and
South Korean Won.

The Group manages its foreign currency risk against other currencies by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and may
use hedging derivative, such as foreign currency forward contract, to
manage its foreign currency risk as appropriate.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total workforce of 201 (31 March
2019: 260), of whom 22 (31 March 2019: 41) were based in Hong Kong.
The total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments and mandatory
provident fund, was approximately HK$49.1 million in 2020 (2019: HK$53.2
million). Employees were remunerated on the basis of their performance
and experience. Remuneration packages, including salary and year-end
discretionary bonus, were determined by reference to market conditions
and individual performance.
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Key performance indicators
The Company has defined the following key performance indicators
("KPIs") which are closely aligned with the performance of the Group.

ITERBER
ARREREU FTEAEEBXRRENARZEE
KRS ([EERBER]) -

For the year ended 31 March

BE3ANALEFEE
2020 2019
2020F 2019%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FTHEx FHET
Revenue W as HK$111,9788 1T HK$171,26678 7T
Loss for the year attributable to equity REZ AR B RREGERE
holders of the Company HK$(281,822)3 T HK$(42,816)7 7T
Equity attributable to equity holders of ~ ZN2 &) B B Bk i 2
the Company HK$85,13238 7T HK$197,978/8 7T
Return on capital employed in sale of MERKRERKEESR
pearls and jewellery products FTREZR 2O 1 (24.7)% (1.5)%
Return on capital employed in strategic ~ SRBS & K B 7 AR 7% A7 A
investment and financial services =N 2 (390.7)% (12.3)%
Notes: B E

(1) Return on capital employed in sale of pearls and jewellery products represents segment
profit or loss from sale of pearls and jewellery products business divided by average

capital employed and is measured as a percentage.

(2) Return on capital employed in strategic investment and financial services represent
segment profit or loss from strategic investment and financial services divided by

average capital employed and is measured as a percentage.

Commentary on the performance of the Group against each of these KPlIs
is set out in “BUSINESS REVIEW" above.

These KPIs are reviewed regularly and amended occasionally to
correspond with the changing mix of the Group’s principal activities.

(1) HEPKRERKREERMAEAZEREHEEDHR
WEEREB 2D BN RERRATFERREAR
YEERBEDL

O RESIEE R R AL 2 ORISR A R
BRI 2 5 BRI R BER AT AEA ¥
BESHHE.

PARERBEZZEEEZRABFEZAREN LX
[EfEE] -

ZE T BERBEFRETE B s X AEHERT - LR
BARETHESH  TBXBHES -



SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's management reviews the Group's internal reporting in order
to assess performance and allocate resources. They have determined
the operating segments based on these reports. The Group is principally
engaged in purchasing, processing, designing, production and wholesale
distribution of pearls and jewellery products and operation of strategic
investment and financial services. Accordingly, the Group has identified
two operating segments — pearls and jewellery operating segment and

strategic investment and financial services operating segment.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A summary of the principal risks and uncertainties which may impact the
Group's financial conditions, results of operations or future performance
and how the Group mitigates these risks is set out below.

This summary should not be regarded as a complete and comprehensive
statement of all potential risks and uncertainties faced by the Group,
but rather those risks which the Group currently believes may have a
significant impact on the Group's performance and future prospects.

Principal risks

FEEB

Description

AE
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Mitigating actions

B RIE

Strategic risk
SRS 1 L B

Economic risk

7 R

Strategic risk is the risk that medium and long term
profitability and/or reputation of the Group could be
adversely impacted by the failure either to identify
or implement the correct strategy, or to react
appropriately to changes in the business environment.
REEMER SEAREBN KRB ERREIEE
FREE ft1’EﬁL$&F’Eﬁﬁﬁ$¢lﬂhﬁH&E%ﬁ
BREENR/SHBEBEXTATE 2 AR -

Economic risk is the risk of any downturn in
economic conditions which could impact the Group's
performance through higher bad debts as a result of
customers’ inability to repay loans and lower asset
values.

OB R 7%&17%%@%%2?%@@’EJZ@;@@
BEFENEBEERERMBBURRE ML EEEER
15 %&%K%li%fﬁo

Extensive investment management experience of
the Board.

EFENREEEBZEELR-

Regularly review on strategy and performance of
each business unit.

R R EREM R R KRR -

Perform comprehensive due diligence on all
potential acquisitions.

A EERBERATEEERES

Regularly review forward looking indicators to
identify economic conditions.

EHIR A ATIE IR R DUR BB R -
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Principal risks

TERRE

Description

2ES

Mitigating actions

B RIE

Credit risk

=&
I:l/\

Business risk

XGRR

Operational risk

ZERR

Liquidity risk
nBEE AR

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a

customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails

to meet its contractual obligations.

hh ERAHERIAZEFPXRHHFRER
THENEE AEEAXMBEREZRR -

Business risk is the risk that any of our major customers
ceases their business relationship with us.

¥ERBATMEIFERFPRIERMEKBERZ
[ B o

Operational risk is the risk of increasing labour costs
and labour shortages which could have a material
and adverse impact on the Group's operation and
proﬁtability
B E b
BEREFI

8 TARA LA R TR R YA
EREATHYEZ AR -

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
RBECRERASAREEFEEEITHIEZ I
EE AR

Fully understand customers and carry out credit

quality assessment on customers before granting

loans.

REHERZE TREFPTHEFPETES

EEHEEE

Regularly monitor loans and interest receivable and

assess for their recoverability.
ERBWE R EAE - Wz H A [ Y2

J‘g“ o

Continually review market trends and maintain a
competitive position by retaining product quality.

BARKERER FERITSBELER
FRF AL o

Regularly assess the requirements of labours based
on forecasts.

RIBTRRE R ES THEK-

Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of
financial position.

EHREERDHES MUBRREK -

Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover
commitments.

REBBERDES AR EFH-

Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing only in
securities listed on stock exchanges.
FBRERENBHFR S L2 & HmR IR
BETER-

Ensure acceptable and appropriate finance in place,
or believed to be available before committing
investment projects.
EEREERMEREAIHEAEINEE
Bdo



Principal risks

Description
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EEEDTHFH& ?ﬁ(ij‘i‘)

Mitigating actions

TERRE RE B RE R
Price risk Price risk is the risk that changes in equity prices will Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address any
BrER affect the Group's income and the value of its holdings portfolio issues promptly.

Exchange risk

P 34 LR

People risk

AZER

Legal and
regulatory risk

ERMEERR

of equities.
BRERABTZEREBRAREMFREEE
ZBEEE Ak -

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign
exchange rates will affect the Group'’s income and the
value of its holdings of assets.
EXRERAKTZERNEBERANEMTEEEE
ZHMEE =S8 2 Bk -

People risk is the risk of loss of the services of any
directors, senior management and other key personnel
which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's businesses.

AERBAEFNES SREBAEREMBEE
AN BB RR T 7] g ¥ AR & B T 3E R B KA 52
BZRK-

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a breach
of laws and regulations could lead to litigation,
investigations or disputes, resulting in additional costs
being incurred, civil and/or criminal proceedings and
reputational damage.

EE N EEE R B ROEE FOERR AT B 5 BRAA -
BELA L EREEFIKE  RERLME
BrFRhEEXBZER-

FEHIERBREREHEA R EEEMIEER
G-

Spread price risk exposure by investing a number of
equities.

REZERFEND BEBRER -

Closely monitor statement of financial position and
cashﬂovv exchange risk exposures.

YIRS R IR & T H R b o

Provide competitive reward and benefit packages
that ensure our ability to attract and retain the
employees we need.

RE AT 2 BB MBS
B IREI RIEEME 2 EE -
Ensure that the staff of the Group have the right
working environment to enable them to do the

ARERAN S E

best job possible and maximise their satisfaction at
work.
BRAEEEIRAECIHERBUASTET
RRAAEMETTERESERATIEREE

Monitor changes and developments in the
regulatory environment and ensure that sufficient
resources being made available to implement any
required changes.
%%ﬁa%%Z“@&%Fﬁﬁﬁﬂ%Zﬁﬁ
RABHBEMARE 2 E

Seek legal or other specialist advice as appropriate.

BERSERNHEMERZIER
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EEERE

CHAIRMAN

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, aged 52, was appointed as an executive director
and the Chairman of the Board of the Company on 27 September 2019
and 18 October 2019 respectively. He obtained a Degree in Business
Studies from University of Glamorgan in 1992 and a Master Degree in
Business Administration from Cardiff Business School in 1993. He is a
fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of International Accountants. He
is also a Chartered Marketer of The Chartered Institute of Marketing and
a member of Institute of Management Accountants. He has over 26 years
of working experience in merger and acquisition, finance and accounting,
banking, asset management and funds operations in various industries
including real estate developments, infrastructure developments, real
estate investment trusts (REITS), securities investments and natural
resources industries. Mr. Cheng was an executive director of Ming Lam
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sino Haijing Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 1106), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to August 2018. He was also a non-
executive director of IRC Limited (stock code: 1029), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to
March 2020.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Alex, aged 41, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 11 April 2016. Mr. Leung obtained his Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of Auckland, New Zealand in May 2000. Mr.
Leung had worked in two international accounting firms from December
2000 to February 2012. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accounting and the CPA Australia. He has more than 20
years of experience in auditing, accounting and corporate management.
Mr. Leung is currently an executive director of China Healthwise Holdings
Limited (stock code: 348), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung was an executive director and the group
chief financial officer of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from October 2014 to November 2018.
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Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, aged 51, was appointed as an executive director,
company secretary and the chief financial officer of the Company on 1
April 2018. Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has
accumulated over 20 years' working experience from an international
audit firm and public listed companies. He had spent about 8 years in the
international audit firm and was an audit manager before he left the firm.
Thereafter, Mr. Cheung has held different senior positions in various public
listed companies. He was an executive director and chief financial officer
of Dingyi Group Investment Limited (stock code: 508), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from October 2011 to
March 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Yat Yuen, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 19 November 2016. He joined Asia
Port Services Limited in 1994 as a finance manager and was promoted
to deputy general manager in 1999. Asia Port Services Limited provides
a loading alternative for container vessels anchored in mid-stream or
moored to buoys in Hong Kong's harbour. Mr. Lai has gained ample
experience in financial management from his employment with Asia Port
Services Limited. He also has experience in auditing field between 1981
and 1986 while working at Wong C. Ming & Co., Peat, Marwick, Mitchell
& Co,, as well as the government of Hong Kong. Mr. Lai holds an honours
diploma in accountancy studies. He is a fellow member of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Lee Kin Keung, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 19 November 2016. He graduated
from the University of New South Wales with a bachelor of commerce
degree and a master of commerce degree. He also holds a master of
applied finance degree from Macquarie University. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of CPA Australia. Mr. Lee has experience in finance, management, auditing
and accounting fields and had worked in Touche Ross & Co. from 1985
to 1990, and in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from 1990 to 1992 and from
1995 to 1997. Mr. Lee was appointed as a director of Kandour Consultants
Limited, a consultancy and advisory company in Hong Kong, in 2013. He
has been a director of Crater Gold Mining Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, since 2014.

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny, aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 23 January 2019. He holds
a Bachelor of Laws of the University of London. Mr. Leung is a qualified
solicitor in Hong Kong, England & Wales and Singapore, and is a Notary
Public and China Appointed Attesting Officer. He has over 33 years of
experience in legal field and is the senior partner of Messrs. Johnny KK.
Leung & Co,, Solicitors & Notaries.

Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of Celestial
Asia Securities Holdings Limited (stock code: 1049), Ban Loong Holdings
Limited (stock code: 30), all of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange as well as Phoenitron Holdings Limited (stock code: 8066),
which is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent
non-executive director of Aeso Holding Limited (stock code: 8341), which
is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from December 2016 to June
2017. From September 2018 to June 2019, Mr. Leung was an independent
non-executive director of Asia Coal Limited (stock code: 835), which was
delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in June 2019.

TR\ ELE IR Fe0pr  R2016F11H19HEZR
TARRBNB LN TES - FRITHEER
Er K B8 (University of New South Wales)EX {5 7 2 £2
T MR EE T2 I K E K (Macquarie
University) BU/S FE B IS IE + 27 - R AF B €51
firgeERRMNEtMAeEFe8 =84E
Rem B8 B EHAEGER 51985
£ 2219904 L B M Touche Ross & Co.’ B 1990F &
19924F 2 1995 F 1997 F R AMEE) - =R
S EITT  FARAR0BRERZ T ARIEME
RAR (—HBEBEBRBART ZES - HFE
20144F #2 H {E Crater Gold Mining Limited 2 &% » 7%
PNEZ DI BMNEHFR BT e

RREEE  RF625r KR2019F1 A3 EZ(E
BARBZEBIYIERTESR FHEAEABRBHK
BEEREBLTEBN -RELEREL BB RE
BT AR NG 2 & BEREM TARBRAE
ARFBEEEBREAERA - EBFRBFE
BEBLR WARRNEMITZEHRER A

REXBEAREREEEFTRAR (BRHRK:
1049) R BEEREE AR A A (RH R :30)
(Z2BHRBZMERLET) URREIZERAR
A (BRI REE :8066) (MEERFTGEM LT ) 218
MIEBMITEE - BH2016F 128 E2017F6H B &
YRR AR AR (BRMDASE:8341) (REEZFAT
GEM_ETT) Z B IEHTTE =S - 2018598 £2019
Fo REERTMNEEBRAR (BRMHRK:
835) (F20195F6H BEIRATEMMRIE) 2 B 3E
WITES-



Annual Report 2020 £ 29

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard of
corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interests of all of its stakeholders, and the Board
is fully committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards
of corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation for
the Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high
standard of accountability and protect stakeholders' interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement of policy
which provides guidance on the application of the corporate governance
principles on the Group, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2020 and, where appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices
of the CG Code, except for the deviations disclosed in this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon
specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2020. To ensure Directors’ dealings in the securities of
the Company are conducted in accordance with the Model Code, each
Director is required to notify the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman’)
in writing and obtain a written acknowledgement from the Chairman prior
to any dealings in the securities of the Company. Likewise, the Chairman is
required to notify the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company in
writing and obtain a written acknowledgement from the latter prior to the
Chairman’s dealings in the securities of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group, which
includes leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management and
performances. The management team is delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management of the
Group. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board
to the management include (1) the preparation of interim and annual
reports and announcements for the Board's approval before publishing;
(2) implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures; and (3) compliance with relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements and rules and regulations. It is the responsibility
of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate governance practices
applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and
procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s corporate governance
objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of the Group
and for the exercise of independent judgement. The Directors with various
professional qualifications, experience and related financial management
expertise have contributed to the effective direction of the Company and
provided adequate checks and balances to safeguard to the interests of
both the Group and the shareholders of the Company (‘“Shareholders”).
Hence, the Board believes that the current Board composition satisfies the
balance of expertise, skills and experience to the corporate governance
requirements of the Group as well as the ongoing development and
management of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises 3 executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng
Chi Kin, Mr. Leung Alex and Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai Yat Yuen, Mr. Lee Kin Keung and
Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in “Profile of Directors” on
pages 26 to 28 of this annual report.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Company, and to review and
approve the Company's interim and annual results. During the year ended
31 March 2020, 12 Board meetings were held and the attendance of each
Director at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committees Meetings” of this report.

Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days
should be given of a regular board meeting to all directors an opportunity
to attend. During the year ended 31 March 2020, certain regular Board
meetings were convened with less than 14 days' notice to enable the
Directors to react timely and make expeditious decisions in respect of
transactions which were of significance to the Group's business. As a result,
the aforesaid regular Board meetings were held with a shorter notice
period than required with no objection by the Directors. The Board will
do its best endeavours to meet the requirement of code provision A.1.3
of the CG Code in future. In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman of
the Board met with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman
in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply with all applicable rules
and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are
normally sent to the Directors at least three days before the intended date
of a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated
to the Directors for their comments before being approved. All minutes
are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), all
Directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the
next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election at the meeting. At each annual general meeting, one third
of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Save as disclosed in the “Profile of Directors” set out on pages 26 to 28 of
this annual report, the Directors do not have material financial, business or
other relationships with one another.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the executive Directors are clearly
segregated to ensure independence and proper checks and balances.
The Chairman focuses on the business strategy and direction of the
Company, provides leadership to the Board and ensures proper and
effective functioning of the Board in discharge of its responsibilities. The
executive Directors are collectively accountable to the Board for the overall
implementation of the Company’s strategies and the co-ordination of
overall business operations.

There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") up to the date of this annual report. In the absence of a CEO, the
duties of the CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken
by all executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. Leung Alex
and Mr. Cheung Sze Ming. In the opinion of the Directors, the present
arrangement is effective and efficient.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors, appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after their
appointment and be subject to re-election at that meeting; and those
Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and be eligible for re-election.

Moreover, all non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are appointed for an initial term of one year, which
are renewable automatically for successive terms of one year from the
day immediately after the expiry of the current terms of their respective
appointments, subject to expiration on the earlier of either (i) the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company in the year of
the third anniversary of the appointment or re-election of that Director;
or (i) the expiration of the period within which the annual general
meeting of the Company is required to be held in the year of the third
anniversary of the appointment or re-election of that Director; or (iii) earlier
determination in accordance with the Articles and/or any applicable laws
and regulations.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1),
3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received
confirmation of independence from all the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lai Yat Yuen, Mr. Lee Kin Keung, Mr. Leung Ka Kui,
Johnny in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors and concluded that all of them are independent within
the definition of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware
of the occurrence of any events which would cause it to believe that the
independence of any of the independent non-executive Directors has
been impaired up to the date of this report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
in October 2014 which was amended in December 2018. The Board
Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and
sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background and professional experience. The Company
will also take into consideration its own business model and specific needs
from time to time. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 6 Directors, amongst
them, 3 are independent non-executive Directors, thereby promoting
critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also
characterized by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of age,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Appointment of Directors is based on meritocracy and the Board Diversity
Policy is among the criteria used in selecting members to join the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with specific
written terms of reference and all members of the Audit Committee are
independent non-executive Directors. Pursuant to its terms of reference,
the Audit Committee is authorised to commit the Company funds in order
to obtain advice from outside legal counsel, accountants, investigatory
services or other expert advice. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee detailing the authority and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Audit Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lai Yat Yuen, Mr. Lee Kin Keung and Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny.
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen is the chairman of the Audit Committee,

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee held 2
meetings to review the interim and the annual results, internal control
review report and risk assessment report before their submission to the
Board. The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out
in the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this report.

The Audit Committee has also discussed and reviewed the key audit
matters determined by the external auditor under the new and revised
auditor reporting standards under Hong Kong Standards on Auditing for
the year ended 31 March 2020.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board with
specific written terms of reference and the majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee detailing the authority
and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lai Yat Yuen, Mr. Lee Kin Keung and Mr. Leung Ka Kui,
Johnny, and an executive Director, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin. Mr. Lai Yat
Yuen is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee held
2 meetings to review and recommend the proposed emolument of a new
executive Director and the proposed adjustment to the emolument of an
executive Director. The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year ended
31 March 2020 are set out in note 37(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board with specific
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst
other things, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, considering the reappointment of the Directors and succession
planning for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in
respect of the aforesaid matters. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee detailing the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lai Yat Yuen, Mr. Lee Kin Keung and Mr. Leung Ka Kui,
Johnny, and an executive Director, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin. Mr. Lee Kin
Keung is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Board adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 21 December 2018 to formally set out the criteria and process
on the selection, nomination and appointment of Directors. According
to the Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board or the Shareholders in
general meeting as the case may be. The Board has delegated the relevant
screening and evaluation process to the Nomination Committee, which
identifies suitable candidates for directorships and recommends them to
the Board. In assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate(s), the
Nomination Committee takes into consideration the candidates’ character,
integrity, personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy, and the ability to provide insights and
practical wisdom based on those attributes, his commitment to devoting
adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member, fulfilment of
the independence requirements as set out in the Listing Rules (for
independent non-executive Directors) and diversity on the Board. After
reaching its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates the relevant
candidate(s) to the Board for approval of appointment. The Board will
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of Directors at general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee
held 3 meetings to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board; to assess the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors; to recommend to the Board on the nomination of retiring
Directors for re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company;
and to recommend the proposed appointment of a new executive
Director, a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee; and to recommend the proposed appointment
of the Chairman. The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
board remains informed and relevant.

Upon appointment, new Directors receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction package covering business operations, policy
and procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and
regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that they are
sufficiently aware of their responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other
relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, receive amendments to or updates
on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the Company
encourages the Directors to enrol in a wide range of professional
development courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules, Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and corporate governance practices so that
they can continuously improve their relevant knowledge and skills.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development
and provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31
March 2020 to the Company. The Company has also continuously updated
the Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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The participation by each Director in continuous professional

development for the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

HE20200F3A3ALFE SEEMRHEFE
BEERHHINT

Reading materials relating
to rules and/or attending
trainings and seminars

MEFBEAAZ

MER B

Name of Director EEpE HEZI RS

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BFER A 4

Mr. Leung Alex RS A v

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming oK R ER ST A v

Mr. Lai Yat Yuen IR A 4

Mr. Lee Kin Keung Pk 4

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny RRE LA 4
Mr. Yuen Ching Bor, Stephen RFR LA

(resigned on 18 October 2019)

Mr. Archambaud-Chao Percy Henry Junior

(resigned on 18 October 2019)

(720195108188 & E) _

MR ST A

(2019510 A18B B {E) =

BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the general
meetings and the meetings of the Board and various Committees during

the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out below:

EEERZEEEER

BE2020F3A3 B EFE SEEHFEREKX
g BEEOeRELTESCH AT FERLREET
N

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

General meetings meetings Meetings Meetings

meetings EXxe ERZEe FHEEe REZES

Name of Director EEps TN L 23 ] ]
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Note 1) BFREE (M) N 12/12 = 11 1/1
Mr. Leung Alex PTG 0/2 6/15 = = =
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REFHULAE 22 15/15 = = =
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen RaREE 2 10/15 2 2 33
Mr. Lee Kin Keung Tkt 12 10115 22 22 3/3
Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny ARMEE 12 8/15 22 22 23
Mr. Yuen Ching Bor, Stephen (Note 2) RER KL (HiE2) N 3/6 = 11 =
Mr. Archambaud-Chao Percy Henry Junior  BERIFA 55 & (#7#3) N 4/6 = = 12

(Note 3)



Notes:

Q) Mr. Cheng Chi Kin was appointed as an executive Director on 27 September 2019.

(2) Mr. Yuen Ching Bor, Stephen resigned as a non-executive Director on 18 October 2019.

(3) Mr. Archambaud-Chao Percy Henry Junior resigned as an executive Director on 18

October 2019.

Apart from formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval were
arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 which gives a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of
the results and cash flows for year then ended. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has selected
appropriate accounting policies, applied them consistently in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards which are pertinent to
its operations and relevant to the financial statements, made judgements
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and ensured the
preparation of the financial statements on the going concern basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects. The
interim and annual results of the Company are announced in a timely
manner within the limit of two months and three months, respectively,
after the end of the relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing all
information and representation contained in the financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the services provided by the
Company's auditor, Moore Stephens CPA Limited to the Group and
associated remuneration were as follows:

Frig itz R %%

Services Rendered

BB B &

HE202053A318 IEFE KA A 2 /2 8Ah K
EmEetMERAER AR RAEBIRRE R
HhEEMSmT:

Fees paid/
payable
21,/
ENEAR
HK$'000
FHET

EXP R R e
Hfth SR AL RS

Audit of financial statements
Other non-audit services

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the design
and implementation of internal controls and risk management which
covers financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk management of
the Company, as well as continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such
internal controls and risk management. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the management of the Company. The management,
under the supervision of the Board, has established an on-going process
for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the
Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk management
that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit
Committee also considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group's accounting and financial reporting
function, as well as their training programmes and budgets.
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In light of the size and scale of the Group's businesses, the Company
does not establish a separate internal audit department. The Group has
engaged an independent professional firm to conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management systems
annually. The independent professional firm engaged has performed a
review of the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems covering the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. The
review covered all key controls and based on inquiry, observation and
analytical review procedures supplemented by testing of transactions,
reports and reconciliation. The overall opinion on the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group are satisfactory.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions for the year under review and up to the
date of issuance of the annual report is reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, the Company Secretary is a full-time employee of
the Company. Mr. Cheung reported to the Chairman of the Company and
is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters.
Mr. Cheung confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the year under review and has complied with the
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, registered Shareholders holding not less
than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the "EGM
Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM") to the Board at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office A, 6/F Valiant
Commercial Building, 22-24 Prat Avenue, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The EGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of
the EGM and such request(s) must be signed by all the EGM Requisitionists
and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of the EGM Requisitionists.

The Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong
will verify the EGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’
request. Promptly after their confirmation that the EGM Requisitionists’
request is in order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice to all the registered
Shareholders in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements. On the contrary, if the EGM Requisitionists’ request is verified
not in order, the EGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and a
EGM will not be convened as requested.

The EGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-tenth
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM
if within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the EGM Requisitionists’
request, the Board does not proceed duly to convene an EGM provided
that any EGM so convened is held within two (2) months from the date
of the original EGM Requisitionists’ request. An EGM so convened by the
EGM Requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals
at a General Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands for
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph. Shareholders can also send enquiries and proposals
putting forward for Shareholders’ consideration at Shareholders” meetings
to the Board in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong as shown below or directly by raising questions at the general
meeting of the Company.

Office A, 6/F

Valiant Commercial Building
22-24 Prat Avenue

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road
East, Hong Kong, or call its customer service hotline at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make enquiries
through the Company’s website and by means of emails to the investor
relations department (email address: ir@affluent-partners.com). The
management always provides prompt responses to any such enquiries.
During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no changes in the
Company's memorandum and articles of association. An up-to-date
consolidated version of the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association is available on the Company's website.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”’) in
December 2018. The Group considers stable and sustainable returns to
the Shareholders to be its goal. In proposing any dividend payout, the
Board shall take into account, inter alia, the operating results, cash flow,
financial condition and capital requirements of the Group and the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company’s distribution of dividends
shall also be subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company as well as
all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy allows the Board to declare special dividends from
time to time in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. There is
no guarantee that any particular amount of dividends will be distributed
for any specific periods. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to
time.

By Order of the Board
Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors herein present their report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Group was principally engaged in the purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products
and operation of strategic investment and financial services.

The principal activities of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 March 2020
by operating segment is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group's
future business development during the year ended 31 March 2020
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 8 and the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 9 to 25 of this annual
report.

Financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown
in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 135 to 153 of
this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on page 5 of
this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on its principal
activities and the risk of non-compliance with such laws and regulations
could lead to litigation, investigations or disputes, resulting in additional
costs being incurred, civil and/or criminal proceedings and reputational
damage.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to promoting an environmentally conscious
work place and aims and places significant emphasis on minimising our
environmental impact and to create a more sustainable future for future
generations.

Our production operations are carried out by the production facilities
of Hui Bao Feng Jewellery (Shenzhen) Limited ("HBF Jewellery’), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in Shenzhen, which is subject
to certain PRC environmental laws and regulations. The primary waste
generated from our production processes is waste water, which is
treated in compliance with the applicable PRC environmental laws and
regulations. To ensure the operation of HBF Jewellery is in compliance with
the applicable environmental law on an ongoing basis, we have entered
into a waste water treatment agreement with a qualified water treatment
company which is responsible for collecting the waste water in the
production process.

HBF Jewellery has been compliant with all relevant PRC environmental
related laws and regulations in all material respects during the year ended
31 March 2020.

Further discussion on the Group's environmental issues and policies will
be contained in the Company's Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 March 2020 which will be published in due
course.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 72 of this annual report. The
Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s net reserves available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law (2020 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands, as at 31 March 2020 amounted to HK$37,533,000

(2019: HK$189,815,000), which represented the retained earnings/
accumulated losses and share premium.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on page

50 of this annual report, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements during the year ended 31 March 2020.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 220.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman)
(appointed as Director on 27 September 2019 and
Chairman on 18 October 2019)

Mr. Leung Alex

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming

Mr. Archambaud-Chao Percy Henry Junior
(resigned on 18 October 2019)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yuen Ching Bor Stephen (Chairman) (resigned on 18 October 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen

Mr. Lee Kin Keung

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
Accordingly, Mr. Cheung Sze Ming and Mr. Lai Yat Yuen shall retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Cheng Chi Kin who
was appointed as a Director as an addition to the Board, shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company.
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Article 164(1) of the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty, in their respective offices, provided that this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attached to any of them. Such permitted indemnity provision
is currently in force and was in force throughout the year end 31 March
2020.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’
liability insurance policy throughout the year, which indemnifies against
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by the
Directors in the execution and discharge of their duties.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 26 to 28.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
no other contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company has been entered
into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2020.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors have any interests
in a business which competes or may compete with the business of the
Group or have any other conflict of interests with the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 17 October 2014. As at the date of this report, the total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme (the “Options”) shall not
in aggregate exceed 169,694,964 shares, being 10% of the total number of
shares in issue at the date of approval of the refreshed scheme mandate
limit at the annual general meeting of the Company on 28 September
2018. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant an
option to any of the directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants
(including executive and non-executive consultants) of any member of the
Group as determined by the Board. The total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all Options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes
adopted by the Company (and to which the provisions of chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules are applicable) must not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. No Options may be granted under
any schemes of the Company if this will result in the limit being exceeded.
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each eligible participant (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) under the Share Option Scheme in
any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue.
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The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to the
eligible participants to contribute to the Group and to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are
valuable to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, grant Options to
the eligible participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the adoption of the Share Option Scheme. Subject
to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme, Options
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time during the applicable
option period, which is not more than 10 years from the date of grant
of Options. There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which Options must be held or the performance targets which must be
achieved before Options can be exercised under the terms of the Share
Option Scheme. However, at the time of granting any Option, the Board
may, on a case by case basis, make such grant subject to such conditions,
restrictions or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to
the minimum period of the Options to be held and/or the performance
targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 33,936,000 Options lapsed and no
Options were granted, exercised or cancelled. As at the date of this report,
the maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
Options yet to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 103,898,960,
representing approximately 4.68% of the total number of shares in issue of
the Company as at 30 June 2020 (i.e. 2,219,849,645 shares).
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The movements in the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme B E20205F3A31 B IEFE - IR ERT IR H
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are shown below: ZEREFEE TR
Number of Options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise
1 April during during during during 31 March Date of grant Validity period price
Name or category of participants 2019 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2020 of Options of Options of Options
#2019%F 1#2020%F BRE
SREZHZRER 4818 FRERY FRETE FREHH FREXN 38318 REBRERS BRESNE g
HKS
B
per share
ik
Executive Directors
oo
Mr. Leung Alex 1,000,000 = = = = 1,000,000 29-10-2018  29-10-2019 to 28-10-2023 1.34
RRERAE 20185104298 019510898 E
20236107288
1,000,000 = = = = 1,000,000 29-10-2018  29-10-2020 to 28-10-2023 134

2018F10A29H 2020F10A98 %
2023F10A28R

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming 8484000 = = = = 8,484,000 29102018 29-10-2019 t0 28-10-2023 134
RHQEE 2018F10A29H 2019F10A98Z
2023F10A28R

8484000 = = = = 8,484,000 29102018 29-10-2020 to 28-10-2023 134

2018F10A29H 2020F10A98 %
2023F10A28R

Mr. Archambaud-Chao Percy Henry Junior 8,484,000 = = = (8,484,000) = 29102018 29-10-2019 to 28-10-2023 134
(resigned on 18 October 2019) 2018F10A29H 2019F10A98Z
BRI LA (Ro019E10518A BHF) 2023%10A288
8484000 = = = (8484,000) = 29102018 29-10-2020 to 28-10-2023 134

2018F10A29H 2020F10A98 %
2023F10A28R

Non-executive director

FATES

Mr. Yuen Ching Bor Stephen 8484000 = = = (8484,000) = 29-10-2018  29-10-2019 to 28-10-2023 134
(resigned on 18 October 2019) 2018F10A29A 2019F10A9AZ

REFLAE (Ro019%10518A 8 1) 2023F10A28R

8484000 = = = (8484,000) = 29-10-2018  29-10-2020 to 28-10-2023 134
2018F10A29A 2020F10A98 %
2023F10A28R
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Number of Options
BREYE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise
1 April during during during during 31 March Date of grant Validity period price
Name or category of participants 2019 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2020 of Options of Options of Options
120195 120205 BRE
SEEZHELE 4818 ERTRY EREME  FREHHE  EREAX 38318 RUBRERD BRETXE 1@
HKS
B
per share
5K
Independent non-executive directors
BUKHITES
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen 848,000 - - - - 848,000 29-10-2018  29-10-2019 to 28-10-2023 134
RaREE 2018104298 2019F10A298 F
2023F10A28R
848,000 - - - - 848,000 29-10-2018  29-10-2020 to 28-10-2023 134
2018108298 2020F10A298 %
2023F10A28R
Mr. Lee Kin Keung 848,000 - - - - 848,000 29-10-2018  29-10-2019 to 28-10-2023 134
Tt 2018%10A298 2019F10A29RE
2023F10A28R
848,000 - - - - 848,000 29-10-2018  29-10-2020 to 28-10-2023 134
2018104298 2020F10A298 %
2023F10A28R
Sub-total 56,296,000 - - - (33,936,000) 22,360,000
P
Others
Hit
Employees 4,250,000 - - - - 4,250,000 29-10-2018  29-10-2019 to 28-10-2023 134
31 2018104298 2019F10A298 F
2023F10A28R
4,250,000 - - - - 4,250,000 29-10-2018  29-10-2020 to 28-10-2023 134
2018104298 2020F10A298 %
2023F10A28R
500,000 - - - - 500,000 13-12-2018  13-12-2019t0 12-12-2023 12
2018F 128138 WI9E1ABRE
2023F12A128
500,000 - - - - 500,000 13-12-2018  13-12-2020to 12-12-2023 12
2018F 128138 200F128138F
2023F12A128
Sub-total 9,500,000 - - - - 9,500,000
P
Total 65,796,000 - - - (33,936,000) 31,860,000

st
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Exens (B

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware and save as disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” on page 50 of this report, as at 31 March
2020, none of the Directors or chief executives and their respective
associates had any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO") (i) which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register kept by the Company, or (i) which will be required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on page
50 of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2020 were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements and did not constitute connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Company.

EERESTHRAEREARFAREEH
BOEEAIRG  HERODRESF 28
mRAR

BB MBRAREFS0E [BETE] —&0
FTEE N 20208638310 BEESES &S
THRABRES B BB ARAR ) H )
B(EER (FEHFLBERKRM ([ (BFHFELHBE
1&BI1Y 1) EXVER) M5 - B G REHP %
ﬁ ORI (BHREEKRN) F35265 LR A
Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁpaﬁ}mmﬁié‘ FORA B NRIE
TZAEST B ME AN F) KRB FTR A R 30k

A
EO

EEREROIES 2EF

MATREFS0E [BERERT S — AT EE I
HE2020F3A3AEFEZEMER MERT
ARMEZEHHS A ZERBHAFEN T LAIEBAR
RERMOSESFMERS R B RS INETE
ZEREN AR ﬂ&ﬁt&ﬂf%l‘%@ﬁ?a‘rﬂﬂﬁ
ERLZHERSEZ A RSN EMEAEEZZ
LT o

BEALXRS

REBREZ2020F3A3BILFET I ZEEA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2020, so far as the Directors are aware, the persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who directly or
indirectly, had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, which are required to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which will be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, were as follows:

ordinary shares
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BFeRE (B

FERRZESFERS

20203 A31H " IBEEMA RARARMD &
HEBROFEZXBEREERE (5 KH
EIEBY FEXVERE 2R3 BRIE X T AR BB sk 1R 1%
(GBEAE N EEIEN) 33615788 AZ Gl &S
MrEEIAEMAL (RRREETREEZITH
ABBRIN IR :

Number of Percentage of

the issued

Name of substantial of HK$0.002 Long/short share capital
shareholder Capacity each held position of the Company
FRESRER N
0.002& T Z B BITRA
TERRER HA 14 EEREE 57} Btk
(note 3)
(B15£3)
Pacific Wish Limited (Note) Beneficial owner 840,886,910 Long position 45.45%
BEBRBRIE (#E) EmER A o)
Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing (Note)  Interest in a controlled corporation 840,886,910 Long position 45.45%
BRoK s & (H1at) EEPNEL - X oY=y
Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation 840,886,910 Long position 45.45%
ARB L (i) Ry LB HE

Note:  These 840,886,910 shares were directly owned by Pacific Wish Limited, which was legally
and beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing as to 50% and Ms. Hui Ka Man
Emily as to 50%. As at 31 March 2020, the board of directors of Pacific Wish Limited
comprised Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, there was no other person
or entity had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Miat - BB EVE R A R A B A 7%840,886 91008 I 15+ 5%
ARIBERKBEERTEHLLHREERERE
B50%K%50%  R20206F3 A3 1B BEERABARAAZ
EFemMKBRERTERL AR

B EXCHTEEIN 7202038318 - BEEE M A
THRERENARRRG HERMDKESFTRES

BRESHRARRIRE (FHRBEEH) %3361%
HEBTHREZELCMAKERITHE AR
BT 2 B A B ©
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BEeRE (B

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed the independence of
all the independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their
independence.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information
of the Directors are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Changes

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin He resigned as a non-executive director of IRC
Limited (stock code: 1029), which is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, with effect from
20 March 2020.

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming  His salary was adjusted to HK$884,000 per annum
with effect from 1 May 2020.

Save for the above changes, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, which comprises 3 independent non-executive
Directors, has reviewed with the management in conjunction with the
independent auditor, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the internal control, risk management
and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020.

BYFHITESZHBILEH

ARRIEZEEBUIIFATEERELHRASE
SBEREBYISNBEL CFERRK -EFED
HEERBYFNTERT BN LERRE
FBEL-

EEENBD

B FTRAIE1351BME  EEEREEHH| W
—F:

EEnR SEEE

Bl 7 ER A A4 HEEBIREER AR (K
MRER 1029) (&R RIREER
FIERLEM)ZIERNITES B
2020593 208 #BAERK o
REFEUE A B &P A% AT F8840008
JC B2020F5 A 1H#BAERK -

B L BN B AR R LR A
13.51B0)BET A B BB 2 A -

BEREES

H3RBYIFMITERMAR CEREZE S HER
EBHMRBIZEME B AEBFEMN e /R
LER TRAFABEE BRREERMBRE
EE BIEEMAEEEHZ2020F3831HIEFE
ZIREBRGATBERE -



MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31 March 2020
contributed by the Group’s major suppliers and customers respectively are
as follows:

Purchases

- the largest supplier 22%
- five largest suppliers combined 47%
Sales

- the largest customer 35%
- five largest customers combined 67%

None of the Directors, their associates or substantial Shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) were interested, at any time during the year, in the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates
and the local community are key stakeholders of the Group's success.
The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging
employees, providing quality services to customers and collaborating
with business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver
sustainable products and services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the Company'’s
Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March
2020, which will be published in due course.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended by
the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, having regard
to the Company's operating results, individual qualifications, experience,
duties, responsibility, performance and comparable market statistics.
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FEREFRHER

HE2020F3A3AEFE AEBEETEHERMN
EENRBMEEE LRI T

317
B

- =AHER 22%
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- BRAAREFEZHEM 67%
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BEeRE (B

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as at the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of Cayman lIslands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March,
2020 were audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited. A resolution will be
submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint Moore Stephens
CPA Limited as the independent auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

K| MOORE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT TO
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AFFLUENT PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Affluent Partners
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 72 to 219, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BB ERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the Code), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

RREE
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8B)

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables FERERZEHREEBHETM
(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 21(a) to the consolidated financial (BLHERAUBEHRERWES ~6()®%21@))
statements)

Key audit matter

HEETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNAEESBREE

As at 31 March 2020, the gross trade receivables of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$43,594,000 and of its related
allowance for expected credit loss amounted to approximately
HK$17,098,000.

M202053 4310 EEEEWE KA T /43,594,000
BT R EAEEEREEBREEL 517,098,000 7T ©

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables
and the sufficiency of the allowance for expected credit loss.
The management of the Company estimated the amount
of expected credit loss based on provision matrix through
grouping of various customers that have similar loss patterns,
after considering the credit profile of respective customers,
ageing analysis, geographical areas, historical settlement
records, subsequent settlement status and on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers. The management of
the Company also considered the forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances as to estimate the expected credit loss.

ERRIEBEHRENERZ T RO RFEREEEHEE
WA REETERTNE BERAFEEELERERH
BERZEEERL REOW & BEENTHE  HigE
MRAREREEFZHEEHBEFR REBRBEERER
SEREBRUBRRA 2 Z2 TP EREESFES
#we ERREREMMAARPEEEEZSEARTE
BEFEEMKREREREN ZAEILEER -

We have identified the management’s assessment of the
recoverability of the trade receivables and estimation of
expected credit loss as a key audit matter because the
amounts involved were significant and the assessment
required significant management judgement and estimation
uncertainty.

AP A5 E I E B FE WS R AT W B (A 1T 2 AR A TR
EEBRZEFRERERENZTE RARMPSEE
EX BEFETREELEARAEG T AT -

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BPREEHERCAREFBEHE:

- obtained an understanding of the Group's provision policy
on trade receivables, the key controls and procedures for
managing and monitoring the credit risk, and validated the
control effectiveness;

- TR BERECEVERBERRRIERREERES
EERR T EEFIRRRIIER  WEREEHIER L

- obtained the ageing analysis of the trade receivables and
discussed with the management of the Company about their
evaluation of the background and financial capability of the
debtors and their credit assessment that the amounts were
recoverable;

- ESEWERZEEREIN LE SRFERENRK
FHNEBAZE R RIHEe 1 2 714 DA K 45 % 3 AT e
Ol &%z 5 &7 E

- tested the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a
sample basis, to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlements to bank receipts;

- RIBBM KR SRR B W B SR BRI DT - W IRER
TTUUR AR B F A 1R B

- inquired the management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at the year ended
and corroborated explanations from the management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding on-going
business relationship with customers based on the trade
records, checked historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the customers;

- HHAEEBAENFHACAPZREAERERERZ
BRWIAZFHBE (MRBEBEHLHTRETP 2 HE
EBHRER REEPZBERARENCEUARERS
ZEAMBA)REEIRE 2 HE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8)

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables BRERZEAREEEETMG (&)
(Continued)
(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 21(a) to the consolidated financial (B2HGREMBHRRMFES 6 X21@a@) (&)
statements)

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREISEE BFNETNMEESRBEE

Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)

BMPREEHEECAREFRE: (B)

- reviewed credit related information of a sample of debtors
which were compiled by the management of the Company
as part of their assessment of the recoverability of the trade
receivables;

- Rk BEAFEBRERRZEBEBAGERBER
ERREFF A REERATKRE Tz — 8D :

- assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provisioning methodology including the identification of
credit impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of the
grouping of trade receivables into different categories in the
provision matrix and the basis of estimated loss rates adopted
in each category; and

- FMETEHGEEERERERENSENL  BRIFIEER
BEREWER REHERAKEKERSBERTREER
CEBUERBBEARA BETBRRZEE K&

- examined the key data inputs on a sample basis to assess the
accuracy and completeness, and challenged the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking information,
used to determine the expected credit loss.

- HMEREFERABBUATAEEREMTEY  TE
ARARETRREEEENRR (BEEL RAREE
) o



Provision for inventories
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8B)

FERE

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements) (FBRHEGA U B REMFE5X%20)

Key audit matter

HEETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNAEESHEEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's inventories amounted to
approximately HK$34,102,000 and the reversal of impairment
losses on inventories of approximately HK$33,363,000 was
recognised by the Group in the consolidated profit or loss for
the year.

20203 A31H BEBEZFEXR34,1020008 7T B
TFEREEIBRR 4333630008 TH BEXEEREAFE
FaEmPER-

The management of the Company assessed the provision for
obsolete or slow moving inventories taking into consideration
of inventory ageing, condition of inventories, historical and
current sales information, as well as different market factors
impacting the selling price of these inventories. In addition,
the management of the Company considered the changes
in prevailing market condition, expected market trends and
customer demands.
ERRERENERENFHETERE IREREFEER
B FERR BEREMNHEER UARFEZSHFE
EEBZTRTHZERZ W BERAREBEDZERRIT
TR AR SBEREFHTR2EH -

We have identified the management’s impairment assessment
of the provision for obsolete or slow moving inventories
as a key audit matter because the amounts of inventories
were significant and the assessment required significant
management judgement and involved high level of estimation
uncertainty.

B EEBYREIFHFEREET 2 RER R
BEARBREBFFR REARTESREEA BAMAT
HHEEEEBIEFHEAAE Y S RS E M THEEE-

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BPREEHERCBERIEFEE:

- obtained understanding of, and evaluated, the Group's
provision policy on inventories;

- TEREFHE ERBEZEFEBEEXK:

- reviewed and assessed the management’s process of the
identification of obsolete or out-dated inventories and
estimation of the net realisable value of these inventories;

- BRARTHEEESMNRENBATECRIEREZE
FERERFE

- evaluated historical accuracy of inventory provisioning by
comparing historical provision made to the loss incurred for
actual sales;

- ERHEURAMEBREEREEMELSESE B
AT SR 2 R

- tested the purchase cost, selling price and margins of aged
and obsolete inventories on sample basis to the supporting
documents; and

- HEAXHHERIBHEREFTEZRERN EE
KA K

- reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories, on
sample basis, with reference to subsequent sales information
and the external price data and performed testing on a
sample basis, by tracing to the supporting documents.

- HERAEAGEFEZAE2RFE (K2REKRHEEER
RSN ERE R BRI ) T35 38 48 W38 BA S A T bR AR
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B ZEENRE (8)

DBV EERZEIRZEMTAZ

Valuation of financial instruments classified as level 3

under fair value hierarchy fh{E
(Please refer to Notes 5, 19 and 26 to the consolidated financial (BLREEFEE M BREMES ~19K%26)
statements)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNAEESHEE

Key audit matter

HAEEITEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's financial assets at fair ~ Our key procedures to address the matter included:
value through profit or loss amounting to approximately HFIRIEEBEE  BREFBE:

HK$36,702,000 were classified as level 3 under fair value
hierarchy (‘Level 3 financial instruments’). These included
an investment in unlisted property fund and convertible loan
notes with fair values at 31 March 2020 of approximately
HK$4,710,000 and HK$31,992,000 respectively. The loss
on changes in fair value of the financial instruments of
approximately HK$34,955,000 was recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2020.
M2020F3H31H BEXEERAFVEFABRGZRZ SR
B E #936,702,0007t D HA R R TFEE & 2 E3/% ([H38%
SRMIA]) -HBIER020F3A3BZAFES LA
4,710,000 7T 531,992,000 7T 2 3E F T EEE 2 R E K
AR ERER B E2020F3A3HILFE  BEREGRER
RRERAZSZRIAZ A FEEZ B E 434955000748
T o

The management of the Company assessed and measured
the financial instruments using particular valuation techniques,
with assistance from an external professional valuer. The
valuation process was highly judgemental due to its reliance on
the management’s assumptions.

RONEZXMGER BT BEBRAREEREFAREME
FETERGEEMTI A AN EEREKBEEERE 2R
& HFRAKEHE -

examined the relevant investment contracts for the key
terms and the relevant contractual rights and obligations of
the holders of these financial instruments and assessed the
underlying business substance;
REMIAZIERRINZFeRIAFAEAZERS
WREELEEHERRESRETRSE WA HHERE
BAR:

obtained an understanding of the valuation methodologies
and the processes performed by the management and the
independent qualified valuer and the management’s review
process of the work of the independent qualified valuer;
TREEFERERERBYAERMEEMETZRE
F-AREREERNBYAEREEMIIEZIZEF:

obtained the valuation reports and assessed the competence
and independence of the professional valuer, and their
experience in conducting valuation of similar financial
instruments;
BRHERSMRAHERGEMZEIEBIE: RE
EITHEUSMITAZHEZER:
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B ZEENRE (8B)

Valuation of financial instruments classified as level 3 PEALNTEEBRZERZEMIAEZ
under fair value hierarchy (Continued) fhE (&)

(Please refer to Notes 5, 19 and 26 to the consolidated financial (BLBEFEE M BEHREWES ~19%26)
statements)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNAEESHEE

Key audit matter

HAEEITEE

We identified the valuation of the Level 3 financial instruments ~ Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)
as a key audit matter due to the degree of complexity involved H{FIEEEMEBE ZBEEF2IE: (8)

in valuing the financial instruments and the significance of
the judgements and estimates made by the management.
In particular, the determination of unobservable inputs is
considerably more subjective given the lack of availability of
market-based data.
HRARERITAZEES R ZEMRIEREREEL 22
Rt zE2N B ERReRIAZHERE
RAREFTFE -BERME EXRZTISAEMREIE
BETIBEERBABBEREE-

evaluated the appropriateness of the methodologies and
valuation techniques used by the management for Level 3
financial instruments and assessed the reasonableness and
relevance of key assumptions based on industry knowledge
and the prevailing economic indicators;
EERERSIReRIAMAZ A ARBERINZ
REN UREBEITERZ ROIKBEESRTHEIERR
ZEBM KA@M

evaluated the appropriateness of the key inputs by checking
to the external data or by evaluating the rationale of the
management’s judgement on the key inputs by considering
the publicly available information and other available
information from related external parties, or by performing
sensitivity analysis with reference to available market
information, to evaluate the magnitude of their impact on the
valuation, where appropriate;

FBRESNREERE HBEEERAMAISENNEKS
HEIAALZEMAISERMAHEREEH T E2HA
Bz HE 2R BB ERAEMISEFEITHR
Bt b B HEsFERE (ER) - UFEE
ERABIBZIREL:
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8)

Valuation of financial instruments classified as level 3
under fair value hierarchy (Continued)
(Please refer to Notes 5, 19 and 26 to the consolidated financial

4

PEAAFEEBRZEIRZEMIAZ
&8 (&
(BLREEFEE M BREMES ~19K%26)

statements)
Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
REESEE BMNEFTNMEEEESEE

Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)

BPREAHEECAREFEE: (&)

in respect of the convertible loan notes, in addition to the
above procedures, evaluated the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used in the profit forecast including expected
revenue growth rate, discount rates and volatility, questioned
the management regarding its approach for determining the
probability weighting, liquidation and redemption scenarios,
including assessing and analysing the weightings based on
the understanding of the business and market conditions;
and

HAMBRERERMS B L2 FoN - 5714 & 5 T8 8
FIRAZFE2RX (BEEHRRAERE AR ERKE)
ZRELE REEEECHEEE FREABEEBRZ
FERERERLHEE BREBBHEBRT R TH
et RO R &

in respect of the unlisted property fund, in addition to the
above procedures, obtained the statement of the unlisted
fund as at 31 March 2020 and compared the market value of
the underlying project used in the estimation of the fair value
of the unlisted property fund to the net asset value as at 31
March 2020.

MIELTMEREESMS R EMRBEFIN BRGFHFELETE
BR20206F3 A3 B 2k WHIE EMERES 2 AT
BfAETFTAZ A B MISEEEN2020F3A31B 2 &
EREETHER:
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8B)

Impairment assessment of investments in associates REE QAR ZRE ZBEFG
(Please refer to Notes 5 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements) (FBRHEGEUBREAMER18)

Key audit matter

HEETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNAEESHEEE

The Group has significant investments in associates, which is
accounted for under the equity method. As at 31 March 2020,
the management performed the assessment on its investments
in associates and recognised impairment loss of approximately
HK$147,391,000 to the consolidated profit or loss for the year
then ended.

EEERBERREAEARE ANREBESIEARK-
202063 8310 BB AN E QR 2 RE LT
i WREEZRLEFEZ R BRAERMEEED
147,391,000/ 7T ©

The Group's investments in the associates are subject to
impairment assessments when there is an objective evidence
of impairment. Management performed an impairment
assessment of the investments in the associates by comparing
the value in use against the carrying amount.
EAERELEERRN S SREEXRBEQTIZRERE
XREME - EEESBLBERAEERFEEEEMHR
i N 2R B EITRER A

Significant judgements and estimates are involved in
determining key inputs for carrying out the impairment
assessment, including future cash flows expected to derive
from the associates and discount rate.

BEETRENGZ EF 2R ABBEY REARH B LG
T BREEHEMERRMEZARKRRERE KR E-

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BPREEHERCBERIEFEE:

- Verified financial information used to determine the
forecasted future cash flows, growth rate and discount rate, to
determine the value in use;

- BZERAREEEARRRERE WRERAMIRE
BERRAIELRRIER - UEEEAEE:

- Reviewed calculations on the the value in use of the
associates and the estimation of the impairment loss; and

- EHARBEARZEREEMREBEGNE:
M

- Performed sensitivity analyses on the key assumptions as
stated above.
- B ERFERBETERESM-
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report for
the year ended 31 March 2020 of the Group other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The audit committee of the Company assists the directors in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

REPBHRRABEZBE RS 5
ZEH

BEEEHEMENAS - HERBE BE5E
HZE2020F3A3VAEFE2FHREEHER
BRBIEGE T B HRE R BRFITE 2 2

W o

BAHGEAMBRERCBEAL NREEMER
BAM A HZFEMENBEREATAZEES

=A
Amg ©

‘BARMYRAMBRR2ET RANEER
BIEEMER  FUBEh EEEMENIEHE
REMBHRRIRMERTBRETATHZBR
FHEEAEBERUTFEERHERRLZITN -
ERBEMAEATZITE WRERMARBSEMLESR
FHEEBABREE BT REZFE UM
B RALEEMRSE -

EEREVZEERGESUBERREA
AEZEE

EZAAREALSTMASRM 2B BN KR
EEARBBRRGRIIZ HEERKEHEEMT
BREAMBHRE  AHERR/ERA MK R
RZBETFHERRAFFRERMEB 2 EAHE
RERILPA T 2 AEPEHI B & -

EREGAMBHRRE EFR AN E5H
SEREZR YHEERBRTREEFEL
LEMZER URERFELLERSTER
BRIFEEFAER BESEBRIEFLELL K5
BHRMOERZER T RS IERN -

BERRECZEEHMESTETEE E5EH
BHREBEZEE-



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8B)

1‘2%{%5‘%%%‘#%%%5’%%&%%&@%2
B

BFzBE REGEVBRREBRL TR
RRGFERMEB B ERFERBMERG S 2
REE - W h AFA RPIRIEZ I TIEZ 15 7€ 165K
EREZBRREREL ZZBERE - BRI AN
AmE TR RIEEMAE - RAMTRARER
REEMEMALTAERAZET - GERES
SKFRE  ETRREBERRBREERAEAET
ZEFERXR-—EXERBAFERAREER -5
ARPRILA] R ERRF S EE ARSI - A B TR A B
BB ERAMBBREREFEZSS
B B|MERMIEL ZLBERTE - B A B #E R Bt
AIAREEK

ERBEEEEEAETR ZBES HFIE
REEHE R R T ERIBEEE - LI

%’é

l

5l R FE A R AREF SR AR T B BUR & B
BRRFEEAHERRA 2 AR - 325 R
TEAEFARHZEAR A KRERFE
FAE 2 BABRE ERRMBER ZER-
MAMGFARERSRER BE E2ER.
I fRR IR At B 7R B P AP 42 ) - AR BE B3R R R
FEMEME AR 2 B RS0 K%
AR R MG R E AR 2 AR -

TRRERAEZARES URFTER
RERTBEE cEREF EEMILIF
& BERBERRENZERUERRER-

FE RATEEMRARIHEELBYM
W RAEH REHE T R BEZ A -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

HEERABECEGTERZRE MR
g ARBRBAEG 2 BT RERE
EEAFERSERNBERNERZIERTEE
MR EERYE BEREBELEREN
EEBEREE - WERMBSFEEATHEE
1 RIZBE R BE R E T IRFBEMRE LB
BUMBERERP 2ABERES (WERRET
RIBHIFEREER -RAZEWENE
ERBENHRE A YPIL ARG 2 EHERE - A
- ARFEHERAATELER BEREEX

RERE-

MBS AP RAR 2 BEBIIH A BB R
AR BREEE ARGV BHRREST
BRBBEXSRER

5 EREANERBAXRBFABIHHEERE
MR EEZETRE  UHERESUBR
RERER -RMAE BESEEFTA-
EERBIT -BRMRBFERAEEZYEA
Fo

BPEEZZEQAB (AP 2EFE:t
HBENMBHELZHFUARERESNER  BREME
FEET A RRI R ED R b Z (R A R EREA

BATAEZZESRREH  FARMCTA
BB ABEERBEENR YA E
WERBREFERMBLEZ AR EME
AR (HER) Rl EiEeRERRE g
B e



From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hung, Wan Fong Joanne
Practising Certificate Number: P05419
Hong Kong, 30 June 2020

Annual Report 2020 £ 71

Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
B ZEENRE (8B)
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Ra SR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £20206F3 A31H IEFE

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HKS'000
M FET FAT
Revenue A 7 111,978 171,266
Cost of sales S4B AR (83,429) (122,745)
Gross profit EA 28,549 48,521
Other losses, net HibEsiE  F5 9 (19,508) (341)
Fair value loss on convertible AREERERZ
loan notes NEEEE 19 (1,365) (2,910)
Fair value loss on unlisted FEETMEREE 2
property fund NE{EEE 26 (33,590) (3,500)
Fair value loss on other receivables HEMEWBRR 2
~NTEEEE 21 (b)) - (4,053)
Share of loss on investments in DIEREEENT 2
associates &2 B 18 (28,614) =
Impairment losses on investments REENRIZIREZ
in associates EEE 18 (147,391) =
Selling expenses HERX (4,225) (6,343)
Administrative expenses THRAZ (66,080) (72,248)
Operating loss 2B EE (272,224) (40,874)
Finance income e 29 371 263
Finance costs BF TS A AR 29 (8,549) (2,609)
Finance costs, net WIRSR AN » F AR (8,178) (2,346)
Loss before income tax BRETERATEIE 10 (280,402) (43,220)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fiisf (Ax) #H&e 12 (1,420) 404
Loss for the year attributable to EARRRELFEEEE
equity holders of the Company (281,822) (42,816)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted HEARR#E 13 HK(15.53) cents3& HK(2.52) centsi& 1l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEHEWNER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #{Z2020F3 A31H IEF[E

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss for the year KEEEIE (281,822) (42,816)
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hih2mEk (BE)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — AJEEF H 2 Eas 2 B H
— Exchange difference on translation of —BREFIINEBIBREZ
financial statements of foreign operations e i =& 175 (348)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for AEEHMEEWKE
the year, net of tax (BE)  BREFE 175 (348)
Total comprehensive loss for the year KEERABRREMN
attributable to equity holders of T HEHEEAE

the Company (281,647) (43,164)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
nv_\é,ﬁjﬁ%ﬂﬁ}‘ﬂr%‘%

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £20206F3 A31H IEFE

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
B 5 FET FAT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- WE RFE 15 1,874 71,843
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 16 8,626 =
Investments in associates REEE QAR E 18 = =
Convertible loan notes AR ERERE 19 = 32,546
Unlisted property fund FLEMWERES 26 4,710 34,500
Other receivables, EmEWER ZE Rk
deposits and prepayments TR 21 1,491 4676
Deferred tax assets EETIEEE 17 = 1,128
16,701 144,693
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 58 20 34,102 59,258
Trade and other receivables, JE YU E SR % H Ath FE UK BR 3R K
and prepayments AR RIE 21 41,371 45,466
Convertible loan notes AR EREE 19 31,992 =
Cash and cash equivalents BekERRAE 22 34,491 28,443
141,956 133,167
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables, deposits FEAT B R R E A AT RR
received and accruals Bz e R EFTER 23 32,547 21,682
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 2,856 =
Other borrowings HAb &K 25 30,734 52,500
Amounts due to director/ ENES/JIEZRE
former director 27 848 -
Amount due to immediate holding FEAS B AR A RIFRIE
company 27 339 5,700
67,324 79,882
Net current assets RBEEZE 74,632 53,285
Total assets less current liabilities ZAEERABEE 91,333 197,978
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
REBBMRRE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
M5 FHET FET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBRRE 24 5,909 =
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIBE F 17 292 =
6,201 -
Net assets EEFE 85,132 197,978
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to equity ARARBRRELESR
holders of the Company
Share capital A& A< 28 3,700 3,394
Reserves e 81,432 194,584
Total equity wER 85,132 197,978

These consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 219 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June

2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Chi Kin
By

Chairman and Executive Director

FERATEF

BNENIAMME 2 ZEEE PTEHMERE R 20205
6AAEEEIERIFETE YAHTINES
REER:

Cheung Sze Ming
RS
Executive Director

HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERSER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £20206F3 A31H IEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

DR RREN
Share
Share Share  Translation option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
(Note 28) (Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
R& R RE EiftfE BRERE R EE st
(Hik28) (Pita) (Fit7Eb) (k) (PisEd)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx
Balances at 1 April 2018 R2018F4718 2 % 3,394 410810 (1,391) S (176,305) 236,508
Initial adoption of HKFRS 9 MRENE BN B RELRER = = = = (3918) (3918)
H2018F4 A1 B 2 itk
Balances at 1 April 2018 (restated) (gE5) 3394 410810 (1391) = (180223) 232,590
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - (42,816) (42,816)
Other comprehensive loss: Hinz2EER:
Bxchange difference on translation of BREBNEBRBREL
financial statements of EHESE
foreign operations - - (348) - - (348)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEERAEEBRESE = = (348) = (42,816) (43,164)
Equity-settled share-based payments BRELE RGN AERAH
(Note 31) (BEE31) - - - 8552 - 8552
Balances at 31 March 2019 R201953A318 2 &8 3,39 410810 (1,739) 8,552 (223,039) 197,978
Balances at 1 April 2019 R2019%54A18 2 &B# 3,394 410,810 (1,739) 8,552 (223,039) 197,978
Loss for the year AEEFE - - - - (281,822) (281,822)
Other comprehensive income: Hit2EHE:
Exchange difference on translation of MEBINEBRBRE
financial statements of EHESR
foreign operations - - 175 - - 175
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEREBELE - = 175 = (281,822) (281,647)
Issue of consideration shares upon RIgEE S R AR EITRERS
acquisition of associates (Note 18) (B3x18) 306 165,699 - - - 166,005
Equity-settled share-based payments R B IR RERA K
(Note 31) (BEE31) - - - 2,796 - 2,796
Balances at 31 March 2020 2020638318 2 Fgk 3,700 576,509 (1,564) 11,348 (504,861) 85,132




Note:

Annual Report 2020 £ 77

Consolidated Statement ofChanges in Equity (Continued)

Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the proceeds received

over the nominal value of the Company's shares issued.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of certain subsidiaries whose functional

currencies are different from that of presentation currency.

Share option reserve represents the portion of grant date fair value of the actual or

estimated number of unexercised share options of the Company.

The Peoples Republic of China (the "PRC") laws and regulations require companies
registered in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be
appropriated from the net profit (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years)
as reported in their respective statutory financial statements, before profit distributions
to equity holders. All statutory reserves are created for specific purposes. PRC company
is required to appropriate 10% of statutory net profits to statutory surplus reserves,
and before distribution of its post-tax profits of the current year. A company may
discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve
is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves shall only
be used to make up losses of the companies, to expand the companies’ production
operations, or to increase the capital of the companies. In addition, a company may
make further discretional contribution to the surplus reserve using its post-tax profits in
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors. As at 31 March 2020, the statutory
surplus reserves is nil (2019: nil), as the PRC subsidiaries continued to make a loss in its

operations.

raRagPR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # Z2020F3 A31H L F &

G

©

AR EERESRASRRBRARBT B ET
Rty 2 EEZ &

EXFBREELAREETHEBLRR (AEES
HEFNEBIR) <M BERER ZAEINEZR -

BRERBIEADRRITEBBRE . BER XG5 2E
ZEREESMATEZHS -

PEARAME ([HE])EREREREHRZM
ZRABNETEE A W SHERBRETHK
HEFHAZFRF (NBRAFREBR) RAEE
MTFRRZABHE -BEEEABESHEREEN-
FPRARGERDBAFE 2 BIE T A BEEEF
BRZI%EREZTBBRAEL EEATABRRES
2R Z M E 250005 - DA AT AR E B AT A
HRABEREARNBEAREE BAAREEEK
HIEMAREAR BN RAEAIURBEEEG 2R
BREAFBEFNBHBABSE —SPWBEHREK R

202053 A318 EE BB ATEE AT (2019F : &) -
HRTENRBAR & EREBEEMS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £20206F3 A31H IEFE

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHER FHET
Cash flows from operating activities EEEKELCHERE
Loss before income tax BRETS B AT E 18 (280,402) (43,220)
Adjustments for: BTISIBEED 2 A%
Finance income B sl s 29 (371) (263)
Finance costs AR 29 8,549 2,609
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BEREETE
equipment 10 2,376 2,105
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 10 1,361 =
Fair value loss on unlisted property FELETMMEES 2
fund NEEER 26 33,590 3,500
Fair value loss on convertible ABRERER
loan notes ~FEEE 19 1,365 2,910
Fair value loss on other receivables HEibU Rz A EEE 21(b)(ii) = 4,053
Loss on disposals of property, HEEME  BRER&E BB
plant and equipment 9 17,678 16
Loss on early termination of lease REKIEHE EE 9 233 =
Share of loss on investments DR ERR IR E 2 EE
in associates 18 28,614 =
Impairment loss on investments REERNT 2RE ZREEE
in associates 18 147,391 =
Provision for/(reversal of) allowance iR (BEDEHEEER
for expected credit loss, net BiE - FHE 10 309 (551)
Reversal of impairment loss on GFERERBERED  FEH
inventories, net 10 (33,363) (3,218)
Equity-settled share-based payments IR HE 4 E LARR (0 B E TR 5K 11 2,796 8,552
Written off of property, plant and WEEME - BB R E
equipment 9 477 1172
Written off of prepayment I 54 TE A 5R8 10 1,026 =
Operating cash flows before working “EE BB KERERE
capital changes (68,371) (22,335)
Changes in working capital: LEESEE:
Inventories FE 59,131 (5,101)
Trade and other receivables, JE MK B R R EL b PR AR 3K
deposits and prepayments e RTEMRIE 5,953 (562)
Trade and other payables, JEAT B R At FE T BR 3K -
deposits received and accruals Bz E KEFTE A 5,619 4,064
Cash generated from/ RexKELE  (FA)ZES
(used in) operations 2,332 (23,934)
Income tax refunded RIBATER = 962
Net cash generated from/(used in) REREREE (FH)2Z
operating activities REeFHE 2,332 (22,972)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
LeEReRER (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Fff 5 FHER FHT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELZRHETRE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME WEREE
equipment 15 (3,620) (1,072)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEDE BELEREZ
plant and equipment FriS 308 34(a) 53,007 20
Acquisition of associates i NG)| 18 (6,000) =
Interests received BUF B 371 263
Purchase of convertible loan notes BERREFREE 19 (811) (8392)
Purchase of unlisted property fund BEIFLIMYMEES 26 (3,800) =
Repayment from loans to associates B N REEER - 345
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition FBWHE B WEEEEE 2
of assets through acquisition e FEE 30 - (50,000)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KREEZHELA/(FEAR)Z
investing activities ReFRE 39,147 (58,836)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEFHELZRHETRE
Interest paid to other borrowings HiEEZEMNHE (7,330) (2,609)
Interest paid to lease liabilities fﬁ EBEsENAFE (158)
Payment for principal portion of HEEXS I D 2 TR
lease liabilities (1,455) -
Proceeds from borrowings BE RS HIE 27,650 52,500
Repayments of borrowings EHEEBE (49,416) =
Advanced from director/former director ~ E % /B & = 5K 848 =
(Repayments to)/advanced from (BRF) /A HEEERAR
immediate holding company (5,361) 5,700
Net cash (used in)/generated from METE (/) EEZ
financing activities BEFEE (35,222) 55,591
Net increase/(decrease) incashand BEE&RZRB LM, (F)
cash equivalents FEE 6,257 (26,217)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  FHI 2R e MhEREE
of the year 28,443 54,686
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes N IE R & &) 7 57 £ (209) (26)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FR\BERERRE

the year, represented by bank
balances and cash

(HRITEHREEERTR)
34,491 28,443
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £20206F3 A31H IEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company’, collectively
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 13 May 2014 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of
its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal
place of business has been changed from 12/F, Henan Building,
Nos.90 & 92 Jaffe Road and Nos.15-19 Luard Road, Hong Kong to
Office A, 6/F, Valiant Commercial Building, 22-24 Prat Avenue, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong with effect from 19 December 2019.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) the purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery
products and (i) the operation of strategic investment and financial
services segment, with the objective to include investments in real
estate agency business and real estate investment funds and other
potential investment opportunities.

Upon the completion of acquisition of approximately 49.55% of the
issued share capital of the Company on 9 May 2018, the immediate
holding company of the Company was changed to Pacific Wish
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
and the ultimate controlling parties of the Company were changed
to Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 October 2014.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"). The consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values at the end of reporting period.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise stated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
have been used in preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s
best knowledge and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are set out in Note 5 Critical
accounting estimates and judgements.

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3.

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted, for the first time, the
following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which
are relevant to and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the accounting period beginning on 1 April 2019.

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK (IFRIC) Uncertainty over Income Tax
— Interpretation 23 Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's consolidated financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or the disclosure set out in the
consolidated financial statements.

PR 37 5T R ASAE 5T B8 S 3 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

3.1

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SICO)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SICO)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. HKFRS 16 sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases and enquires lessees to account for all leases under
a single on-balance sheet model. Lessor accounting under
HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors
will continue to classify leases as either operating or finance
leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS
16 did not have any financial impact on leases where the
Group is the lessor.

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of
initial application being 1 April 2019. Under this method, the
standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at 1 April 2019, and the comparative
information for the year ended 31 March 2019 was not
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

fre B EmA M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)
3.1 HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
use of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of
the identified asset. The Group elected to use the transition
practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(FRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial
application. Contracts that were not identified as leases under
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed, i.e. the
Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard
to contracts that were not previously identified as containing
a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts
which already existed prior to the date of initial application
and the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied
only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 April
2019.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

3.1 HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Definition of a lease (Continued)

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on
the basis of their stand-alone prices. The Group has used a
practical expedient that is available to a lessee, which the
Group has adopted, not to separate non-lease components
and to account for the lease and the associated non-lease
components (e.g., property management services for leases of

properties) as a single lease component.

The Group being a lessee regarding leases previously
classified as operating leases
Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has entered into lease contracts for various office
properties and warehouse. As a lessee, the Group previously
classified leases as operating leases based on the assessment
of whether the lease transferred substantially all the rewards
and risks of ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS
16, the Group applies a single approach to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases,
except for two elective exemptions for leases of low value
assets (elected on a lease by lease basis) and short-term leases
(elected by class of underlying asset). The Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for (i) leases of low-value assets; and (ii) leases, that at the
commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less.
Instead, the Group recognises the lease payments associated
with those leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e S mR M s (48)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)
3.1 HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group being a lessee regarding leases previously
classified as operating leases (Continued)
Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

Based on the specific transitional provisions available under
HKFRS 16, lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised
based on the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the applicable lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate at 1 April 2019. The right-of-use assets were
measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the lease recognised in the statement of financial
position immediately before 1 April 2019. All these assets
were assessed for any impairment based on HKAS 36 on that
date. The Group elected to present the right-of-use assets
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has elected to apply the following practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019:

Applied the short-term lease exemptions to leases with
a lease term that ends within 12 months from the date
of initial application; and

Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-
of-use asset at the date of initial application.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)
3.1 HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group being a lessee regarding leases previously
classified as operating leases (Continued)
Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

RANHTE] R BIT B RMBRE
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BERMBREER (F)

31 FERMBHREEAF 163 HE]
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BHAEBERABAZ LI AIER
HEHERHEE (&)
RABEMBERELENE16ROTE
“E (&)

The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1 201954 A BEM BB B ImE %
April 2019 are as follows: BlZ16SFTEERZNT
Carrying

amounts Carrying

previously amounts under

reported at HKFRS 16 at

31 March 2019  Adjustments 1 April 2019

RESHE

BEmE

20195 ERIE 165

3A31AH 720195

RAZHZ 48182

BREE A BREE

HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET TET
Non-current assets FRBEE

Right-of-use assets REEE = 1,252 1252

Current liabilities wEEE

Lease liabilities HERRE = (1193) (1193)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Lease liabilities HE&E = (59) (59)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)
3.1 HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group being a lessee regarding leases previously
classified as operating leases (Continued)
Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the
operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 is as
follows:

R RSB B RBUBRE
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At 1

April 2019
20194
4H1H
HK$'000
AT

Operating lease commitments disclosed
as at 31 March 2019

Less: Short-term lease
Future interest expenses

Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental

borrowing rates

Lease liabilities relating to operating leases

R2019F3 A3 1 H IR E 2 L& T EAIE

R HEE
REM B X

12,319

(11,015)
(52)

RARZEESMNEUBRZHERR

(11,067)

RERTEMBREERFE165REH

HEMEERZHEERE

1,252

recognised upon application of HKFRS 16

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at
the date of initial application. The incremental borrowing rates
applied by the relevant group entities at 11.25%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BRI REBITEBUBRE
(CONTINUED) %A (%
New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAFEREERZHFET REIERT
effective for the current year (Continued) BEEMBHREEL (&)
3.1 HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) 3.1 EEMEBREERE165HE]
(&)
As a lessor ERMH A
Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially, BEAMBREENE1SRETHEA
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify BrfREFEREB G ERIE 7
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar RIBTE RS TE - HE A
principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 does not have BEABBEGHENFE 7R 2BUR
an impact for leases where the Group is the lessor. AHEESEAKESIMENRE .
U B BREELF6REARE
EEALHEANEEY EEKTE-
New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet EEMEERERZHET REIEET
effective ERMBEHREER
At the date of this report, the Group has not early adopted any of RAHZEBH AEBWERZEHREVH
the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but WMERNREENEMUTEBMBEBRE
are not yet effective, in these consolidated financial statements: MEVFTE] RASIERTB B M mE LR :
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 2 ERMBRERNETR RReH
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business * ERPBMERAEN EBEER
(BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERMBREENE 0% BREERABMEAFN
and HKAS 28 * an Investor and its Associate or Joint REASHEENE AEAFZHE
Venture ' (BETA) * BELERIE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material * BREHENEIRK BEAZESR
and HKAS 8 BE G RERFH
(BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform * ERPBHREERFES . FEEERE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 BB G EAER
REBHBREER
£75% (BFIK)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concession ° ERMBRERNE SR 2098 RAEREERS
(BFTA) ek
Conceptual Framework for  Revised Conceptual Framework for WISFHMBRERDER EEITHBERERER

Financial Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting *
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE ISR (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

On 6 January 2016, the HKICPA issued Effective Date of Amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28, following the International Accounting Standards Boards
equivalent amendments. This update defers/removes the effective date of
the amendments in Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor or its
Associate or Joint Venture that the HKICPA issued on 7 October 2014. Early

adoption of these amendments continues to be permitted.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the related
impact of adopting the above new and revised HKFRSs. So far, it has
concluded that the above new and revised HKFRSs will be adopted
at the respective effective dates and the adoption of them is
unlikely to have a significant impact on these consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently adopted to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

(a)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

(i)

Consolidation

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Consolidation (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquirers date carrying value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquire over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and
expenses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from
intercompany transactions that are recognised in assets
are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes directly attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investees net assets including
goodwill.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investors
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group's investments in associated entities
includes goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the associates identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated income statement, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income with
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there
is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate
is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises
the amount adjacent to share of profit of investments
accounted for using equity method in the consolidated
income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group's financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investors interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
of interests are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group's entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company's functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the end of the year, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Exchange differences arising
on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(b)  income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

(0 all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

(d) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Subsequent costs are included
in the assets carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated income
statement during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses over their estimated useful
lives from the date on which they are available for use and
after taking into account of their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold land and buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 25% to 33%
Plant and machinery 20% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25%

Motor vehicles 20% to 25%
An assets carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The assets
residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other losses net in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an assets fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the financial assets.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value except
for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL") are added to the
fair value of the financial assets, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost
All recognised financial assets of the Group are measured at
amortised cost on the basis of the Group's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVOCI:

- the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVOCI (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL,
except that at the date of initial adoption/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in OCl if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combination adopted.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVPL when the financial
asset is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an
acquirer as part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term;

- on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of

identified financial instruments that are the Group;

- manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at FVPL are stated at fair value, with any gains
or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or
loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
Notes 19 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents).

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12 months ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for significant balances or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate grouping based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 months ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

frRe S mR M s ()
Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 & Z£20205F3 H31H IEF R

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(@

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
0] Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credlit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iis)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower'’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over three years
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to
cater for cases where evidence of significant increases
in credit risk at the individual instrument level may not
yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped
on the following basis:
Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's
trade and other receivables are each assessed as
a separate group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors;

Nature of collaterals for the receivables; and

External credit ratings where available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each separate group
continues to share similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12 months ECL at the
current reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or
when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another

entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, EASTHEBE (E&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
ERMEE

(g) Financial liabilities (9)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowing at amortised
cost, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value.

The Group's financial liabilities comprise mainly trade and
other payables and accruals, other borrowings, lease liabilities
and amounts due to director/former director/immediate
holding company.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Non-derivative financial liabilities measurement
Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised
at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the
difference in the respective carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, cost of conversion and other costs that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition, is calculated using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
selling expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, SEBERBE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

(j)

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except to the extent it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

(i) Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Company and
its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except in respect of taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
the carried forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the carried
forward unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

4. ERETHRHYE (F)

(k)

BV RARAERL IR (4])

(ii)

i FE B TR
BERBDEREESE ARE
ERREERABEZHELESL
MBHmEN S 2 REBEZE A
BEREZRIELRE-

P FERRTH B 1 2 BRI 1R AR
RELEHRIARE s LB A
AIRBERR 2B B 2 ER
MEREZRMS  HEREE
£ 2 OB IR A ] DASR I - T8
RrEZ R A RS R E AT BE T
SO - BEEHAEEGIAMA
AR B ERE  AERER
WA MR E BRI ER
FER AR -

i R BEBL 7B FERR Bt 1) F] (HE 8
AMREREZE PRGEL
AREAHAL R KRS A AR
B AERRRENAEE I
SREMBARRBERRZRE
BRZAMRERMEZENS -
BEEMREEEENEREEE
FIRERN AT S 2R A & [l 1 S FE AR
Tt ) AT AR B T By 1 2 RR
MR-



Annual Report 2020 £ 115

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)
(ii)

(iii)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

(m)

Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group performs;
or

the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, EREHTHEME (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) EFEHBA (&)

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

Sale of goods

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of pearls and
jewellery product is generally recognised at a point in time
when control of the goods has been transferred, being when
the goods have been shipped to the specific location (upon
delivery of goods) and the customer acceptance has been
obtained, being when the customer has the ability to direct
the use of these products and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits of these products.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that assets net carrying
amount.

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the relevant leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

frRe S mR M s ()
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC based employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the
PRC under which the Group and the PRC based employees
are required to make monthly contributions to these plans
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries.

These plans are a state-managed retirement benefits scheme
being operated by the local PRC government. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute 10% to 15% of the average
basic salary to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, EREHTHEME (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) ERMKBFEE (F)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme (Continued)

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired PRC based employees payable under the plans
described above. Other than the monthly contributions, the
Group has no further obligation for the payment of retirement
and other post retirement benefits of its employees. The
assets of these plans are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds managed by the
PRC government.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under
the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance ("MPF Scheme’), which is a defined
contribution retirement scheme for all employees in Hong
Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on
minimum statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregate income subject to a cap of
HKS$1,500 per month, effective from 1 June 2014. The assets
of this pension scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fre BTSRRI R ()
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(o) Share-based payments

The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration
of its employees (including the directors).

All services received in exchange for the grant of any
share options are measured at their fair value. These are
indirectly determined by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. Their value is appraised at the grant date
and excludes the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets).

All services received is ultimately recognised as an expense
in profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions
apply, or recognised as an expense in full at the grant
date when the share options granted vest immediately
unless the expense qualifies for recognition as asset, with a
corresponding increase in “Share option reserve” within
equity. If service or non-market performance conditions
apply, the expense is recognised over the vesting period,
based on the best available estimate of the number of share
options expected to vest. Non-market performance and
service conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of share options that are expected to vest. Estimates
are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that
the number of share options expected to vest differs from
previous estimates. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(o)

(p)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where a grant of share options is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the grant is recognised immediately. This
includes any grant where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve and the
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs up to the nominal value of the share issued are
reallocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Leases (upon adoption of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transition in Note 3.1)
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand- alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (upon adoption of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transition in Note 3.1)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
(Continued)

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of premises that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight— line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4. ERETHHEHE (HF)

(p) Leases (upon adoption of HKFRS 16 in (p) HE (BEMNIE3AZBEHER
accordance with transition in Note 3.1) ERU KR EEAFE165EE)
(Continued) (#&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBEREBA (&)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) EHEELE (&

ERREERKAREFMBFITER
MEBEE YHREERENEMR

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

EXFTEFELHEE-

fie 7N 5% 8 & P2 e 5E A2 1R & HA JE i B X
SHEREEEENERE AERE
BEAMGABEERERFHER
HIRTE - BRI - (R EER AR
A fERFHREBRNEEENERE
FrE-

HEAE
WIBE R A B AR ERER S B 0
ANBENRNBERRR T BRE
18 - RSB E N RO ER - T
EESEEREMESHFIE BIE
£ 8 0 A R B BOHS B B B AR
ES

HENRELE:

BlE 3% (B EEEE M)
AR EREEEE:

GBI EHS LR MERN AT ZEHE
5% I E AR A RaEE



124 Affluent Partners Holdings Limited $2E1Z R G R A 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (upon adoption of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transition in Note 3.1)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)
amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at
amounts equal to net investments in the leases, measured
using the interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial
direct costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or
dealer lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the
net investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

Leases (upon adoption of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transition in Note 3.1)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Operating leases (before adoption of HKFRS
16 on 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease, except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives
received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of
the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rental is
charged to profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Company's
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the executive directors, which
are the Group's chief operating decision-maker for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group's business
components and for their review of the performance of
those components. The business components in the internal
financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group’s major product and service
lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable and
operating segments: (i) sales of pearls and jewellery and (ii)
strategic investment and financial services. Each of these
operating segments is managed separately as each of the
product and service lines requires different resources as well
as marketing approaches.

All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm'’s length
prices. The measurement policies the Group use for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used
in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs. Segment
results represents the loss incurred by each segment and
hence is arrived at without allocation of certain income and
expenses (including finance costs, corporate income and
expense and income tax expense).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(t) Related parties

(@)

Or

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) as control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

4. ERETHRHYE (F)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(t) Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(0

(i)

(iif)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING BEASTTHERE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.

() DAFEFE

(u) Fair value measurement

The Group measures the fair value of its convertible loan
notes and unlisted property fund at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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frRe S mR M s ()
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
the lowest level input that is significant to these fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices)

Level 3 — based on Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (that is unobservable
inputs)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires
the directors of the Company to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the adoption of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

The management estimate the amount of loss allowance based
on the credit risk of the customers, the Group then uses provision
matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar credit risk characteristic. The provision
matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable, and available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward looking information are considered.
In addition, certain balances of trade receivables and those credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The provision of ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables
(Continued)

The above assessment requires management judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is
different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the
carrying amount of receivables and credit loss allowance/reversal in
the period in which the estimate has been changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each
reporting period. As at 31 March 2020, the net carrying amount
of trade receivables was approximately HK$26,496,000 (2019:
HK$34,014,000). The management of the Company determined
that provision for allowance for ECL on trade receivables on
trade receivables were recognised in consolidated profit or
loss amounting to approximately HK$309,000 (2019: reversal of
approximately HK$551,000) for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated selling expense. The Group
would evaluate ageing analysis as to identify the slow-moving
inventories. The Group would also estimate the net realisable
value of inventories based primarily on the latest market price,
current market conditions and subsequent selling price, and make
allowance for slow-moving inventories when the Group identified
items of inventories which have a net realisable value that is lower
than its carrying amount. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in customer taste and competitors actions in response
to severe industry cycles, such differences will impact the carrying
value of inventories and provision charge/reverse in the period in
which such estimate has been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Net realisable value of inventories (Continued)

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2020, the net carrying amount of inventories
was approximately HK$34,102,000 (2019: HK$59,258,000). The
management of the Company determined that net reversal of
provision for impairment losses on inventories be recognised
in consolidated profit or loss amounting to approximately
HK$33,363,000 (2019: HKS$3,218,000) for the year ended 31 March
2020.

Investments in associates

Determining the equity interest held by the Group in associates and
estimating its value in use requires the management judgements
and involved high level of estimation uncertainty. Should the
estimates and the underlying factors be changed, there would
be material changes in the equity interest in associates and the
estimated impairment provision made.

Detailed information in relation to investments in associates are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually
and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value of financial instruments

The Group selects appropriate valuation techniques for convertible
loan notes and unlisted property fund which are classified as
Level 3 investments in accordance with the Group's significant
accounting policies. Valuation techniques commonly used by
market practitioners are applied. Binomial option pricing model
is used for valuation of the components which involves several
key assumptions and estimates. As at 31 March 2020, the fair
value of convertible loan notes and unlisted property fund
was approximately HK$31,992,000 (2019: HK$32,546,000) and
HK$4,710,000 (2019: HK$34,500,000) respectively.

Related disclosure about the fair value change of convertible loan
notes and unlisted property fund are included in Notes 19 and 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Current and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and
deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised. When the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the period in
which such estimate is changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include unlisted property
fund, convertible loan notes, trade and other receivables and
deposit, cash and cash equivalents, other borrowings, trade and
other payables, deposit received and accruals, lease liabilities
and amounts due to director/former director/immediate holding
company. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments, which include market risk (foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk, and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Save
for credit risk, the Group does not have written risk management
policies and guidelines. However, the board of directors (the Board)
meets periodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage
the Group's exposure to different risks arising from the use of
financial instruments. Generally, the Group employs conservative
strategies regarding its risk management. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(@) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair
value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the
United States of America (the "USA”), United Kingdom
(the “UK") and Europe with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in HKS, United States dollars
("US$"), and Reminbi (‘RMB"). No foreign currency risk
has been identified for the financial assets and financial
liabilities denominated in RMB, which is the functional
currencies of the subsidiaries in the Mainland China to
which these transactions relate. The Group's exposure
to foreign currency risk primarily arises from certain
financial instruments including convertible loan notes,
trade and other receivables and deposits, cash and cash
equivalents and trade payables which are denominated
in USS, RMB, GBP and Euro. During the years, the
Group did not have foreign currency hedging policy
but management continuously monitors the foreign
exchange exposure.
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iR A M SR MTEE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
As USS$ is pegged to HKS, the Group does not expect

any significant movements in the USS/HKS exchange

rates. No sensitivity analysis in respect of the Group’ s
financial assets and liabilities denominated in US$ is
disclosed as in the opinion of directors, such sensitivity
analysis does not give additional value in view of
insignificant movement in the US$/HKS exchange rates

as at reporting date.

The following table summarises the Group's major
financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in

currencies other than the functional currencies of the

respective group companies at the reporting date.
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Convertible loan notes TRRERR - - 31,992 = S 32546
Trade receivables ERER 85 - - 584 - -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

6. VHEAREEEERBE (&)

(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) mWHEE ()
Foreign exchange risk (Continued) @ ?lr\i}?é% iég/%) B EEERR
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The following table indicates the approximate change o -
in the Group's loss for the year and equity in response fian 2 RS BEIEBEE
t A SNEERY ABA LSS (A%
0 reasona : y possible ¢ ange§ |n‘ . e foreign exchange RIRE B EI B E AR
rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the ) o
reporting date.
2020 2019
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in foreign Effect in foreign Effect
exchange on loss Effect exchange on loss Effect
rates for the year on equity rates for the year on equity
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The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming BRE DT RERSNEE REE)
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that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred EﬁAiﬁ H Hﬁ%ﬂélz);ffﬁﬁ, D)
at the reporting dates and that all other variables BRSRIFTREMETE
remain constant.
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The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the period until the next annual
reporting date. A positive figure represents a decrease
in loss or increase in equity and vice versa for figures in
brackets.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk have
been followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Bank
balances at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest-rate risk while the convertible loan notes
and other borrowings carried at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group's income
and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 March 2020, if interest rates on bank balances
had been 25 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would
have been approximately HK$16,000 (2019: HK$13,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income on bank balances.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years are considered
to be effective.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES BEREEBEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.

(b) Credit risk (b) EERBS

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fall to discharge its obligation under the
terms of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to
the Group.

Credit risk mainly arises from trade and other receivables
and deposits, convertible loan notes and cash and cash
equivalents.

Trade receivables

Most of the Group’s customers do not have independent
credit rating. Trade receivables are continuously monitored
by assessing the credit quality of the customers, taking into
account its financial position, past experience and other
factors. Credit limits of customers are reviewed periodically.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Company has to comply with the credit and risk management
policies approved by the Board of the Company, established
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up actions are taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount for each individual trade receivables
including reviewing the credit history, settlement patterns,
subsequent settlement and ageing analysis in determining
the allowance for doubtful debts and ascertain that the
adequate allowance for doubtful debts are made for
irrecoverable amount at the reporting date. In this regard,
the board of directors considers that the Group's credit risk is
effectively controlled and significantly reduced.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group adopted the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit loss which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for trade receivables.

Management assessed the expected loss on the trade
receivable with significant balances individually by estimation
based on the historical credit loss experience, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

In addition, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that there has been no default occurred in respect of certain
largest customers past due 90 days or more and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable due to long term and
on-going business relationship and good repayment record
from these customers. As such, the directors of the Company
considered that the presumption of default could be rebutted
for certain largest customers.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES BEREEBEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6. 6.

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERMK (&)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
uses geographical areas to assess the impairment for its
remaining customers because these remaining customers
consist of a large number of small customers with common
risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The Group's trade receivables are grouped
under a provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to geographical area, past default
experience and current past due exposure of the debtors.
These rates are adjusted to reflect the differences between
the economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the credit risk characteristics of
the debtors. Such forward-looking information is used by
management of the Company to assess both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management of
the Company to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.

FEW & =X (&)
ERAEEEERREEN—&D
AEBERAERFEERTEP AR
B RESZEHRTEFEEAER
HRREBRF-ONEES  MzERE
AR ARBRE P IRIEAS AR
[ATE B ISR RE ) - AR E R
WERTI2EME BEEOERRL
B ARFARRBRRBEERKRE
ERBRHENBEBERSE ZFL
TTH 8T AR BR YR 3B 1 BUR
RGBSR N BN EBHEBAEE
[ B B RO B AR B LR 2 R RO 22
R-ARBEEEERZFAELESE
FHEHER ]S B B2 RO R TR
R DB AARREEREE
Himel AEREREBEHEEFA
ZBRBER-



142  Affluent Partners Holdings Limited $2EiZ R G R A 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. HXEABEEEEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) FERB (&)
EWER (&)
TRIIRH2020F K2019F3 318
REBHEREFRIBEEE A 2 R#e
DRz FRHEEE (R iEFEH

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The following table shows the Group's expected loss rates
(shown on a weighted average basis) adopted to the ageing
analysis of trade receivables, based on due dates, as at 31

March 2020 and 2019: AERFR)
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
FEHEEE RE#AE EiERE REFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET FET
At 31 March 2020 72020563 H31H
Ageing based on REBEZIE B 2 R
the due date
Not overdue o 480 B 3.5% 13,780 (487) 13,293
Overdue by: BH
1 to 30 days 1230H 11.9% 3,207 (382) 2,825
31 to 90 days 31290H 13.2% 6,549 (866) 5,683
91 to 180 days 912180H 32.6% 2,339 (763) 1,576
181 to 365 days 1812365H 27.9% 4,325 (1,206) 3,119
Over 365 days B iB365H 100.0% 13,394 (13,394) -
43,594 (17,098) 26,496
At 31 March 2019 72019563 A31H
Ageing based on RIFZIH B Z R
the due date
Not overdue 7 480 A 1.7% 10,605 (185) 10,420
Overdue by: BH
1 to 30 days 1230H 4.4% 13,109 (578) 12,531
31 to 90 days 31290H 6.3% 6,286 (398) 5,888
91 to 180 days 912180H 30.7% 3,481 (1,067) 2414
181 to 365 days 1812365H 33.6% 4,156 (1,395) 2,761
Over 365 days B iB365H 100.0% 14,550 (14,550) -
52,187 (18,173) 34,014
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES BEREEBEREE (&)

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERMK (&)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk
and expected credit losses of trade receivables as at 31 March
2020 are set out in Note 21(a).

As at 31 March 2020, the largest and the five largest
customers accounted for approximately 14% and 87% (2019:
23% and 84%) of the Group's trade receivables balance
respectively. The directors of the Company considered the
credit risk from this concentration was not significant as these
counterparties were sizeable and well-established companies
in the jewellery industry with sound financial position, one
of which is a company listed in Hong Kong. All of these
counterparties have retail stores in Hong Kong and elsewhere
in the world.

Deposits and other receivables

The Group uses historical default experience and forward
looking information, as appropriate, to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. Based
on the historical default rate and repayment history, the
directors of the Company considered the expected credit loss
for deposits and other receivables is immaterial.

Cash and cash equivalents

In respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group will place
them in banks and financial institutions with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
Management of the Company considers the bank balances
are short-term in nature and the probability of default is
negligible on the basis of high-credit-rating issuers, and
accordingly, loss allowance was considered as insignificant.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6.
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Convertible loan notes
For the convertible loan notes, the issuer and its wholly

HEREZEZERBER (&)

(b) FERER (&)

TREERER

RABMBEERERMS  BTARE

owned subsidiary are well-established multi-national

companies in the realty agency industry in England and the

board of directors consider the credit risk is not high.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the

2EMBARDASRBEEHERE
TEZEBERHERRR HEFE
RBEERBRTR-

TRANNBETEBEREERN G

Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment:

AEETHMEEZREER

Gross
External 12 month or carrying
2020 credit rating lifetime ECL amount
128 A2 H
20205 SRS ERTAR RBMEEER IRE#&E
HK$’000
THET
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERATECEREE
Trade receivables N/A Lifetime ECL 28,863
(provision matrix)
FEW &K 3 A > HEBEEEE
(B frEfE)
Lifetime credit-impaired 14,731
2HEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 12,017
B’ MEMEKERR i@ A RMEAFEREEERE
Bank balances See above 12 month ECL 34,491
RITAEER REX 1218 A FE B E E k18
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. MEREKEEBZERBEK (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERB (&)
Convertible loan notes ARBRERE
Gross
External 12 month or carrying
2019 credit rating lifetime ECL amount
12 HEH
20194 ShEBIS EFEAR AHEEEE IRE#AE
HK$’000
FHExT
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHHATEZSRERE
Trade receivables N/A Lifetime ECL 34,572
(provision matrix)
JE W & 3K i@ A 2R EEEEE
(BtkrbE)
Lifetime credit-impaired 17,615
2 HEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 9,279
Ze Rk H A IR K i@ A PREABEBREEERE
Bank balances See above 12 month ECL 28,443
RITHE REX 1218 A FEHAE B &8



146  Affluent Partners Holdings Limited $2EiZ R G R A 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Convertible loan notes (Continued)

The credit policies have been followed by the Group since
prior years and are considered to have been effective in
limiting the Group's exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will not able
to meet its obligation associated with its financial liabilities.
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group's operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows in the
short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group since
prior years and are considered to have been effective in
managing liquidity risk.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group's trade
and other payables, deposits received and accruals, other
borrowings, lease liabilities and amounts due to director/
former director/immediate holding company based on
undiscounted cash flows (include interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. MEREABEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () RBESRR (&)
The Group's financial liabilities have contractual maturities as rEEeRmEECAENINBABAHAT
follows:

On demand or

less than Between Between
1year 1and2years 2and5 years Total
RERR
PR—F —ZEZWEF MERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FExT FExT FET FHET
At 31 March 2020 120205
3A31H
Trade and other payables, BB R K
deposits received and H b pERTERRR
other accruals BlEe &
fEEtER 19,239 - - 19,239
Lease liabilities HERE 3,276 2,860 3,439 9,575
Other borrowings (Note) HEmEE (M) 30,734 - - 30,734
Amounts due to director/ EES/
former director Al E B RIE 848 = = 848
Amount due to immediate FET BT RR
holding company /NGIE /S 339 - - 339
54,436 2,860 3,439 60,735
At 31 March 2019 72019563 A31H
Trade and other payables, JEN B &
deposits received and o E T BRFR
other accruals Bl &
Hib st &R 15,024 = = 15,024
Other borrowings (Note) B e (MIsE) 52,500 = = 52,500
Amount due to immediate FET BB
holding company NGIE/ S5 5,700 = = 5,700

73,224 = = 73,224
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

Certain other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 year” time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate carrying
amounts of these other borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$52,500,000). Taking into account of the
Group's financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe
that it is probable that the borrower and the lender will exercise the
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such other borrowings will be repaid
within one year after the end of the reporting period in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
At that time, the undiscounted cash outflows amount to approximately

HK$2,240,000 (2019: HK$56,617,000) at 31 March 2020.

(d) Fair value estimation

(i)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, and
deposits received and accruals, other borrowings and
amounts due to director/former director/immediate
holding company. The directors of the Company
consider that the carrying amounts of these financial
assets and liabilities approximate their fair values at 31
March 2020 and 2019

6.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market prices.

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into
three levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these
financial assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy
has the following levels:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

6. VHEAREEEERBE (&)

(d) DFEME (&)

(ii)
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ii)

6.

HEREZEZERBER (&)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (d) DFEME (E)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) RAFEFEZSBMIA (F)
(Continued)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the EefmEEZHEFR ATES
financial assets is categorised in its entirety is based B2KFERE A TEFERE
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the R B2 R ABBKF - 5
fair value measurement. The financial assets measured REVERARAZAFETE
at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial ZEeMEBEENE D BUATHAF
position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as BER:
follows:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
14 F28K $E38; Wt
Financial assets tREE HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FExT FExT FExT
At 31 March 2020 72020%3 4
31H
Financial assets at FVPL: R A FEET A
BmikZ
TREE:
— Unlisted property fund ~ —3F ETi#n%
£ - - 4,710 4,710
— Convertible loan notes *—Hﬁ %
BEREE - - 31,992 31,992
- - 36,702 36,702
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EE Pl E38% w@et
Financial assets SREE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET FET
At 31 March 2019 7201943 H31H
Financial assets at FVPL: IR A FEET A
BaKR2Z
TREE
— Unlisted property fund ~ —3E ET#%
e = = 34,500 34,500
— Convertible loan notes ~ — AI #i%
BERER = = 32,546 32,546
- - 67,046 67,046
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. VHEAREEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (d) AFEME (&)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within RAFEEREIBD B AT ERFE
level 3 of fair value hierarchy: AR
Convertible Unlisted
loan notes property fund Total
Ik ktH
ENE MEES Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHET THET FHERT
Carrying amounts as at 1 April 2018 M2018F4 1B 2 BREE 27,064 38,000 65,064
Additions 2 n 8,392 - 8,392
Fair value loss recognised in REREIBRERZ
consolidated profit or loss NEEEE (2,910) (3,500) (6,410)
Carrying amounts as at 20193318 &
31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 2019F4 A1 B Z R EE 32,546 34,500 67,046
Additions 20 811 3,800 4,611
Fair value loss recognised in REFEBERERZ
consolidated profit or loss ~FEEE (1,365) (33,590) (34,955)

Carrying amounts as at 31 March 2020 720203 H31H 2

fRmE 31,992 4,710 36,702
The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose HMAeERRERHELEER A EQATFE
of measuring fair values are unchanged compared to the ERZAERGERMI RES-
previous reporting periods.
The Group's policy is to recognise transfer between levels of REB ZBEE BRI BER 2 45
fair value hierarchy as of the date of the events or change BRABERRRATLESERZHEZ
in circumstances that cause the transfer. There have been EE-NmEHBASHA2HALEER
no significant transfers between the levels in the reporting BEH o
periods.
The Group's financial assets classified in Level 3 use valuation AEENE AP emEEFRE
technique based on significant inputs that are not based on REREGASE (WIEERATEREM

observable market data. HEE) 2 (& E T
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

Information about level 3 fair value measurement

The convertible loan notes in its entirety was measured
as FVPL and the fair values are determined using binomial
option pricing model (2019: binomial option pricing model)
and the significant unobservable input used in the fair value
measurement is (i) expected volatility and (i) present value
of contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the required yield for receivable component.
The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected volatility. As at 31 March 2020, it is estimated that
with all other variables held constant, an increase in the
expected volatility by 5% would have decreased the Group's
loss by approximately GBP15,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$144,000) (2019: GBP15,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$151,000)) while a decrease in the expected volatility by
5% would have increased the Group's loss by approximately
GBP13,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$125,000) (2019:
GBP10,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$98,000)) for
convertible loan notes.

As at 31 March 2020, the fair values of unlisted property
fund are determined using binomial option pricing model
(2019: binomial option pricing model) and the significant
unobservable input used in the fair value measurement
is the expected Hong Kong risk free rate (2019: volatility).
The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected Hong Kong risk free rate (2019: volatility). As at
31 March 2020, it is estimated that with all other variables
held constant, an increase in the expected Hong Kong risk
free rate by 50% would have decreased the Group's loss by
approximately HK$357,000 while a decrease in the expected
Hong Kong risk free rate by 50% would have increased the
Group's loss by approximately HK$359,000. As at 31 March
2019, it is estimated that with all other variables held constant,
an increase in the expected volatility by 5% would have
decreased the Group's loss by approximately HK$1,500,000
while a decrease in the expected volatility by 5% would have
increased the Group's loss by approximately HK$2,000,000.

For the significant inputs for the convertible loan notes
and unlisted property fund, please refer to Notes 19 and 26
respectively.

6.

HEREZEZERBER (&)

(d)

AT EMLE (E)
BEERAFEFEZER
HRBEEREEEE AR AFETA
BERtE MAFELFR=-ER
HAREE B A (20195 - A IR
EEER)ETE mMAFEFEFEE
FBEERTAERE ABIEANEY
R K () EUBR R0 2 A HIMEE R
RRETREBERMERERPRZRE
BT -ATHEASHEBH RS
BARR - 2020838318 HATA H
A BEAREFTE R BRBKRER
ZEmE A BERE el E
BN 2 B B 1B R 4 4915,000% 8 (48
& 7R #9144,000% 7T) (20194F © 15,000
F4E (AN 491510008 7T) ) - MIE
HA R 8 T B 59055 B B A SR B 5 TR 3 AN
#913,0002 £ (8 E 7 £9125,0007% 7T )
(20194F : 10,0003 £5 (8 & 1 #J98,000
Bir) ) e

MR2020F3A31H  FELTEES 2
NETER ZEAREEEER (2019
FZHEAEEEREI)EE MA
FEAEMEANEATTEEE
ASEAEHREEERRKRFIE (2019
FoRE) AFEFEEBBHEE
mEL S A R (20194 : K iR) 2 1EAE
AR - 2020838318 HATA H
A BERREFETE EHEEER
B I 2 FH509%0088 8 B & B B 18R
> #9357,00078 7T - T T8 ER & 5 3 b
FI = PR 50%48 B B A £ B 5 1R 45 A0
#9359,0007% 7T ° 20193 A31H - i
FIEEMAERAZ#F T BHK
R _E F+5%71% 38 B & B & 18R 4 4
1,500,0007%8 7t + 11 78 B )R 1@ T~ F£5%45
BN [E EF I8 hN4Y2,000,00078 7T ©

ERABmEERERRIFLTYEE
SZERBARBE BOR2HME
19826 °



Annual Report 2020 £ 153

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 6. MBEKREEBERBEK (&)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e) Financial instruments by category (e) HERESTHERMIEA
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated FEMBIRREP 25 2 BREEEI

TEMmEERERABENEGR:

statement of financial position relate to the following
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

2020 2019
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
FHExT T
Financial assets as per consolidated A KR REFMIISRHEE
statement of financial position
Financial assets at FVPL BATEFABGR I CHEE
— Convertible loan notes (Note 19) — AR EREE (M3E19) 31,992 32,546
— Unlisted property fund (Note 26) —JELEmmERES (KizEe) 4,710 34,500
Financial assets measured at BHEN AT ECeREE
amortised cost
—Trade and other receivables and —EURE R H A E R R
deposits (Note 21) e (K1EE21) 38,513 43,293
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) - ReKERE® (ME22) 34,491 28,443
Total st 109,706 138,782
Financial liabilities as per consolidated # & MR AR SRMEE
statement of financial position
Financial liability measured at REHEAATECEMAE
amortised costs
—Trade and other payables, deposits —ENERREMER AR
received and other accruals BliEe R EMERTEA
(Note 23) (BtaE23) 19,239 15,024
~ Lease liabilities (Note 24) —MHEaE (M) 8,765 -
-~ Other borrowings (Note 25) —HEffEE (Mak25) 30,734 52,500
— Amounts due to director/ —-ERESE HESHE
former director 848 =
— Amount due to immediate holding —EREERZERARNKIE
company 339 5,700
Total HET 59,925 73,224
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

7. REVENUE 7. WA
Revenue from sales of pearls and jewellery represents the amounts HELRMURBEZWAERERD KK E
received and receivable from customers in respect of goods sold WEP 2 FRIEREE R -
less returns and allowances.
Interest income on financial assets is accrued on a time basis, by CRMEEZFBEWRATDIERE R KREEAR
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest ®RAEREBERNRIZRE EERG -

rate applicable.

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

FREHERZAEERALT

2020 2019
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHER FHET
Sales of pearls and jewellery from contracts BB ZHFER 2 BB M SRS
with customers within the scope of ERFISHFEERN
HKFRS 15 recognised at a point in time HEDREKER P WA 109,791 169,350
— Sales of pearls —HEBRIK 26,092 35,645
— Design and sales jewellery products — Rt RHEEKREER 83,699 133,705
Revenue from other sources outside BB BHRELERE 155 BE I
the scope of HKFRS 15 Z B AR 2 A
Interest income from strategic investment 2R B IR & K B 75 AR 755 71 B U A
and financial services 2,187 1,916
111,978 171,266
The Group has adopted the practical expedient in paragraph 121 REBEEBEAEYBRELEINE155RE 121
of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for pearls and jewellery products BReBEBREREAERAREZARRAEE
such that information about revenue that the Group will be entitled mZEEL AR ATEHRFHAE—F
to when it satisfies the remaining unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) SUTZHEAAMNE  WEFEEELRSE
performance obligations under the contracts for all contracts EEENENBE T 28T RARER (HEH
that had an original expected duration of one year or less is not ER)BAETRHERKEZBMAZER -

disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments have been determined based
on the information reported to the executive directors, being
the chief operating decision maker of the Group, that are used
for performance assessment and to make strategic decisions.
The Group's operating businesses are structured and managed
separately according to the nature of their operations and the
products and services they provide. Each of the Group's operating
segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of other operating segments. The Group currently has
two operating segments:

(@) Sales of pearls and
jewellery products

Design and sales of jewellery
products, and sales of pearls

(b)  Strategic investment Real estate financial assets

and financial services investments and investments

in associates

The executive directors assess the performance of the
operating segments based on a measure of segment results.
This measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring
expenditure and of corporate expenses from the operating
segments. Other information provided to the executive directors
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

7 HRPE R

AEEZEENMERBERABITES (A
AEBEELERRA)REZENETE -
BEER T AEFT AR RELREEER
e ARREZEEXBIRBERHEE R
Priett 2 Em B RGEBELBLEE - A%
B %82 0 B et S AR 2 SRS 1
EHEN - HRREEHRERINEMEE D
M AKRERBAMELEDE:

(@ HEDKE  RIFRHEEKE

KEEmM B WREED K
b REEHREER HFHESREE
B 75 BR 7% HERREE R A
ZHE

HAEFREDBLEZHEIELES
K o Y5 B IET B LE S B2 IS
BT EROREE Y BB RETHTE
S HBENEREANBRE RS
R g
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f= A

fa =)

BTSRRI RE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. 7HER (H&)
An analysis of the Group's reportable segment revenue, results, REBIREKEDEHE D 2 Al 2D WA
assets, liabilities and other selected financial information by ¥F EE BERHEMETHBEER 2
operating segments are as follows: AT
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYHE KHRER
HKREE® B 7% AR %5 et
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FET
For the year ended 31 March 2020 # £202053H31HLLFE
Segment revenue 2EUA 109,791 2,187 111,978
Segment loss o EBEE (25,240) (211,855) (237,095)
Finance income g e 371
Finance costs B 7 Bk AN (8,549)
Equity-settled share-based payments AR 45 & AR 15 B ETE TR (2,796)
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ERAE (32,333)
Loss before income tax brFTS R RIES 18 (280,402)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 & Z£201953A31HLLFE
Segment revenue 2 EULA 169,350 1916 171,266
Segment loss 2 EEE (1,803) (10,841) (12,644)
Finance income B 5 W e 263
Finance costs B RS R AR (2,609)
Equity-settled share-based payments A% 1 &5 & DA% 15 A EIR AT 3K (8552)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEERE (19,678)
Loss before income tax R P15 T AT B 18 (43,220)
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated EXERzHEBRATEREIINERPEELE L
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the Wias o AEFE AWM SPEHE -

years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

§
/

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. 7HER (H&)
Segment results represent loss incurred by each segment without DEPEBERES DI EEA BB I ESE
allocation of central administrative expenses including directors’ PRTEAS BREEHa TR
emoluments and salaries and other operating expenses incurred by KRARIREEERAREE 2 H & & H
the Company and the investment holding companies, certain other ToETHAM (EE), W kB &
(losses)/gains and finance income and costs. This is the measure RS o it Th 3t B B IR S i E o SR IR M )
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of FELERRAZRM I E-
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Segment assets and liabilities PTHMEEREE
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of assets and TXHEHIBRAEBKEMEHMRE D 2E
liabilities analysed by the geographical area of operations of the ERAEBEZEEBEI:
Group:
At 31 March 2020 7202063 A31H
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEZHKR KERER
HKEEM B 7% AR 75 #st
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
TR FHExT THET
Segment assets PWEE
- Hong Kong — BB 102,576 865 103,441
~The UK — [ - 41,329 41,329
~The PRC — 13,871 - 13,871
116,447 42,194 158,641
Unallocated corporate assets ROMEEEE 16
Total assets BEME 158,657
Segment liabilities PHEE
- Hong Kong —&BH (9,936) (5,132) (15,068)
~The PRC — (17,876) - (17,876)
(27,812) (5,132) (32,944)
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOPEEE (40,581)
Total liabilities BERE (73,525)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
At 31 March 2019

8. ZHEBER (&)

THEEREE (E)
201963 H31H

Strategic

Sales of pearls investment

and jewellery and financial
products services Total

HERKRE HEBRERK
HKREBEM®M B 7% AR 75 #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THEIT THET

Segment assets DEEE
- Hong Kong —&B/B 118,608 1,217 119,825
~The UK — B - 70,512 70,512
~The PRC — 16,890 - 16,890
135,498 71,729 207,227
Unallocated corporate assets ROMEEEE 70,633
Total assets BESE 277,860
Segment liabilities SEEE

- Hong Kong —&BB (15,907) (350) (16,257)
~The PRC —f (3,446) - (3,446)
(19,353) (350) (19,703)
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ko EEEE (60,179)
Total liabilities BEER (79,882)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. 7HEHR (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PTHEERERE (&)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and RERSERBAERRDHBESEER:

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than - BRETYE BELRHE HTZER
certain property, plant and equipment, certain deposits and BRFE - UERETHRERERRS
prepayments, and certain cash and cash equivalents that are Tt AER 2 EIN - FREEEH DB
not attributable to individual segments. BREDHL o

- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than - BETEFEAREMEMNER E
certain accruals and other payables, amounts due to director/ NE=Z/HEE/EHEERABRIE
former director/immediate holding company and other REAMEE T ABR 235N FrE
borrowings that are not attributable to individual segments. BEHOERELEHEL-

Other segment information Hihn HE R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BiE202063831HLLFE

Sale of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery  and financial
products services Total
HEY KRR EHRBRER
KEEM B 7% BR % @t
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
THER FET FER
Amounts included in the measure  SFE 2 HEER
of segment loss and segment STHEEMGFAZEHE
assets
Additions to property, NEWE WEREE
plant and equipment 928 100 1,028
Depreciation of property, mME BELRSETE
plant and equipment (1,048) (64) (1,112)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZIE (427) (934) (1,361)
Loss on disposals of property, REWE - BERE&EEE
plant and equipment (39) (2) (41)
Fair value loss on convertible MBREFRERE 2 AT EEE
loan notes = (1,365) (1,365)
Fair value loss on unlisted FEEMYEREe 2 AN FEEE
property fund - (33,590) (33,590)
Share of loss on investment DEREE RN ZIRE 2 BB
in associates - (28,614) (28,614)
Impairment losses on investment REE AR 2IRE 2 BEBE
in associates - (147,391) (147,391)
Written off of prepayment M EE TR 5RIE - (1,026) (1,026)
Provision for allowance for ECL TRENESRCEHEEER
on trade receivables, net TR (309) - (309)
Reversal of impairment losses on FEREBERER FE
inventories, net 33,363 - 33,363
Written off of property, plant and WEE - WEKRE

equipment (161) (253) (414)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. oHMEHR (&)
Other segment information (Continued) ITHMEERERE (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B E2019F3A31H ILFE
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HERKKE  REEKRER
KEEM B 7% AR 75 @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHETT FHT FHT
Amounts included in the measure TEDHEER 2 BEEFTTTA
of segment loss and segment ZEH
assets
Additions to property, REME BE KRB
plant and equipment 944 90 1,034
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREH#HIINE
plant and equipment (1,419) (152) (1,571)
Loss on disposals of property, HEWME KERZEEE
plant and equipment - (16) (16)
Fair value loss on convertible IRBREREBE AT EER
loan notes - (2,910) (2,910)
Fair value loss on unlisted FrmEREe 2 A FEEE
property fund - (3,500) (3,500)
Fair value loss on other receivable Hih U Rk 2 A EE1E - (4,053) (4,053)
Reversal of allowance for ECL ERER 2 BEEEIERE
on trade receivables, net i CIRpE 551 - 551
Reversal of impairment losses FEZREEIERR FE
on inventories, net 3218 = 3,218
Written off of property, M2 - R E k&
plant and equipment (1,047) - (1,047)




SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical Information

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA, the UK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

8. ZHEBER (&)

i & & R
AEBFTENES PH EH HEARK

and Europe. The Group's revenue from external customers based on M - AEBIRCEFEHE D 2 KRB E

the locations of operations and information about its non-current
assets by geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

SNEPZWERIRRFEEZRE D Z
FRBEEZERFFINT

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets *
REBEHIEF 2W= RBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAT
North America * bEM
—The USA —%H 62,281 98,712 = =
- Others —H A 327 318 = =
Europe &M
- Germany —1= 8,705 16,917 - =
— ltaly —B KRN 18 271 = =
~The UK — B 2,187 2,159 = =
- Others —HE A 3,003 4306 = =
Hong Kong aBE 20,355 21,748 3,073 70,837
Asian countries (excluding MBI R
Hong Kong) (TBEEES)
- PRC —r 828 10,898 7,427 1,006
— Japan —HBZ& 10,167 10,121 = =
- Others —H b 841 1,695 = =
Others EHh 3,266 4121 = =
111,978 171,266 10,500 71,843

assets only.

in the USA, amounted to approximately HK$39,312,000 (2019: HK$53,788,000)

which represented approximately 35% (2019: 31%) of total revenue of the

Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment and right-of-use

Revenue from the transactions with one individual customer, which is located

Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

* FRBEEEBREWME BERREARE
REEE-

g HZE2020F3A31HIEFE  H—RAUREER
ZERE PR S 2 WA K 739,312,000% 7T
(20194 : 53,788,000/ 70 ) * (G AN SR BB U A4
35% (20194F :31%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

9. OTHER LOSSES, NET 9. HiEIR FHE
2020 2019
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
FHExT T T
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BN (&8) W 58 (1,526) 522
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BERELE 2 EE
plant and equipment (Note 34(a)) (P 7E34(a) ) (17,678) (16)
Written off of property, plant and WiE - BB R (FiEs)
equipment (Note 15) (477) (1172)
Loss on termination of lease premises HmIETHEMFE 2 EiE (233) =
Bad debt recovered B U E R - 163
Others H A, 406 162
(19,508) (341)
10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. FRAT{SBLAIE 1R
2020 2019
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
Costs of inventories sold, before reversal of B HEFEKA  # O FEREA
impairment on inventories 101,725 105,051
Employee benefit expenses (including EERMNAZ (REEEME)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 11) (MF&E11) 49,085 53,218
Auditors remuneration 1% SR BN &
— Audit services — B Z AR
— current year —KFE 700 1,108
— overprovided in prior years —BEFEBEEE (200) =
— Non-audit services —FEBEIRTE 238 236
Acquisition-related cost (Note 30) W B MR R A A (B5E30) = 804
Depreciation of property, plant and W B RERETE (Mis)
equipment (Note 15) 2,376 2,105
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) {F FBEEEITE (M ik16) 1,361 =
Written off of prepayment (Note 21(b)(ii)) s TR AT 5B (M EE21(0)(1) ) 1,026 =
Provision for/(reversal of) allowance for ECL ~ 5t#2, (BB Bl ER 2 FBHEE
on trade receivables, net * (Note 21(a)) EE R - FEE
(FFEE21(0)) 309 (551)
Reversal of impairment on inventories, net* 1785 Z B {E# 0] - JF&E" (33,363) (3,218)
Operating lease payments, gross KEHENR - B8 11,308 14,744
Less: operating lease income on WD EZEERERA
sub-premises (3,009) (3,283)
Operating lease payments, net KEMRENR F8E 8,299 11,461
Exhibition expenses REMX 2,742 4602
Commission expenses BeRAX 185 =
& The amount was included in the administrative expenses in the consolidated & ZEEEHAGREGERZITHRAIA-

profit or loss.

" The amount was included in the cost of sales in the consolidated profit or loss. # ZEECHAGEER 2 HERARN-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

11.

BERAAX (BREEEHNE)

2020 2019

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHxT FHET

Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe ITERHMER 43,042 40,493
Equity-settled share-based payments* i e 45 55 LA RR 1 7 R B A 0%

(Note 31) (BtzE31) 2,796 8,552

Pension costs defined contribution BEEZEHATEEHEKTE R
plans and social security costs e REER A 3,247 4173
49,085 53,218
e During the year ended 31 March 2020, certain directors resigned before the * HE2000F3A31HILFE - BETEERIEH

vesting condition of the relevant share options were satisfied, the Group
reversed the corresponding equity-settled share-based payments recognised in
prior years of approximately HK$4,424,000 (2019: Nil) in the consolidated profit

or loss.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for
the year include 1 existing director (2019: 3 existing directors) of
the Company whose emoluments are set out in Note 37 below. The
emolument of the remaining 4 (2019: 2) individuals is as follows:

W BB IRHEERANET  AEEER
FEBEABENBEFEERZBERE
HEE AR AR 2 BT 30 494,424,0007 7T (2019
FoE) o

TEBREHFMAL

TR AEERERSFMALEIERAFR]
1BIETESE (2019F 3ZMIES)  KF
2N EN T XHIEE37 - Efh4% AT (2019
FORBEAAN)ZMEHT

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe IERHMERN 3,864 2,731

Equity-settled share-based payments % 4 45 B LARR A0 B B 5K 2,168 978
Pension costs defined contribution plans BESKRATEETGEIR

and social security costs S RER A 71 35

6,103 3,744
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING N EERAHAX (BERESHE)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED) (&)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued) EEEREFMAL (&)
Except for the directors’ remuneration disclosed in Note 37, BRAMITE7 R E CESMEIN BR T
the number of the remaining 4 (2019: 2) individuals whose B 2 Hgra2 (20194 : 288 ) AL A
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: ™

Number of employees

EEA™
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET
HKS$500,000 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,000/ 7T & 1,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2 2,000,00078 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7T £2,500,0007% 7T 1 -
During the year ended 31 March 2020, no emoluments were paid by RBE20206F3A31HIEFE - AEE I EM
the Group to the five highest paid individuals, including directors, as hEEaRHMALT (BRESE) S0
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation ® ERWRSIEMA KR INARE B R 2 52
for loss of office (2019: Nil). Bk BB (E (20195 - 8 ) o
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12. FiBHHx (ER)
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Over-provision in prior years: BEFEBERE:
Hong Kong profits tax BEANEH - (364)
Deferred tax: ERERRIA -
Net charge/(credit) for current year AFEERE (ER)FHE
(Note 17) (KEE17) 1,420 (40)

Income tax expense/(credit) e,/ (Ex) 1,420 (404)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

(CONTINUED)

Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group
had no estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: Nil). On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passes The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HKS2 million of profits of the qualifying entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HKS2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of entity not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

PRC corporate income tax

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance notes, subsidiaries in
the PRC are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at 25%
of the estimated assessable profits during the year (2019: 25%). No
provision for PRC corporate income tax have been made as the
Company's subsidiaries in the PRC have tax losses brought forward
which are available for off-set against the estimated assessable
profits for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

12. FiEHAX (E2) (&)

EARAANEH

AR E B RNE E2020F3 A3 1B IEEEW
EATERB SN T EREEFEH
ERE M (2019%F « &) - R2018F3 210 - &
IR S WIB07ERIE (BE]) (F79%)
EBIEZR ([ER]) S| ARG B MR R H
SRETR2018F3A2B % E AEH TR
DHAB-BREFSHAAS AEKER
2 B2,000,0007% JT i FI 1 128.25%# B - M
2,000,00078 7T LA _E 27 % FI) #4216 5% 5 Ft o T
HEEEBEANSHMAH AR 2 EE Y
Vi I 4 B 1 B — TR 1 6.5% 80 B

FEIEERBH

RIEFERER E S EATEREE RO REE
1555 PR E R R ERFE NG ER
58 F)25% .2 B R (20194 : 25% ) B 4
EMEH -ARARE ZHPENE A RE
BARITIEEE - P EEIE 20203318
IEFE 2 AFHERBUEF] (20195 - &) -
WERE P B EBHEL#E-
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iR A M SR MTEE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

2. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

(CONTINUED)

Withholding tax on distributed/undistributed

profits

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced
by a tax treaty, for dividends distributed by PRC subsidiaries to

12. FiEHEx (EZ) (&)

PR KD

0 Kot A iz TR Bt

B2008F1 A 1B M BRIERBEFRIGIEN T

B D

BRI EBERE B ERRE

its immediate holding company outside the PRC for earnings EXABNMEEFBEIRIEEER AT S
generated beginning on 1 January 2008. KA B R BIAR0%TE HIAL ©
The amount of taxation charge/(credit) for the year can be NEEHRBERYT (KR) BB ATE
reconciled to the loss before income tax as follows: BZHEMT
2020 2019
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHERT T
Loss before income tax FRPTiSTHATE 18 (280,402) (43,220)
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rate  J&SEE TSR Rt E 2 Fi 18 (46,266) (7131)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAEZEREEZWBARFR
operating in other jurisdictions TEMEZZE (1,453) 46
Tax at the statutory tax rates on losses REEMERFTHEEGHE QT
attributable to an associate 518 2 Bi1A 4,721 -
Tax effect of: D2 &
Expenses that are not deductible for TRIIB 2 A
tax purpose 40,497 6,871
Income not subject to tax BARB A (38) (191)
Temporary differences not recognised MARER G ERE 1,312 =
Tax losses not recognised R R 2 BIEE 18 2,689 1,065
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised B AR RER 2 HIBEBE
previously (42) (805)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEHRBRE - (364)
Others Hb - 105
1,420 (404)
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13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is calculated by dividing
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the

e S mR M s (48)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

13. BRER

BREABBZFAENRFARRAER
PRI R EIE B ERAF AR BITERRZ

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in METFHHETE -
issue during the year.
2020 2019
Loss attributable to equity holders of the RATREFELER (FHT)
Company (HK$'000) (281,822) (42,816)
Weighted average number of ordinary BETE GREARNBIEFA 2 L@k m
shares for the purpose of calculating B E (FRR)
basic loss per share (thousands) 1,814,320 1,696,950

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The potential
ordinary shares of the Company are share options (Note 31). The
calculation of dilutive effect of share options is determined by
the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average annual market share price of the
Company's shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights attached to the outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the assumed
conversion of potential ordinary shares in relation to the share
option has an anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss per share.

BREXRERIRA QR RRESREBER
NERNDBITEBRZMEFHHE -

BREEERDEBRBRRITEIIN 2 EBR
MEFHEETE  WRREBRAEBEEHE
TR ARR 2 BT BEUSEE (K
iE31) - BREEETE A E I URER
ATEBBREMNT 2 RBEECERER 7
BAFE(BEERARRARNDZFHAREM
SR ER) KB ZRNBBEE &Lt
SAEZENEE BRRITEBRERD %
T2 BB EITH &R

HZE2020F K2019F3A31BILFE - R:EHE
BMEBEREBELBRETRERE
BHEAEREETE-
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fre BTSRRI R ()
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

14. DIVIDEND

14. R E

The directors do not recommend any payment of dividend in

respect of the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. W% BERRE

EEEEREE2020F3031B ILFEIR
RHERIAR B (20194 : 48 ) o

Furniture,
Leasehold Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
property  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEET B KER
HENE K BERES & RE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAT FAT TR TRAT TR
Year ended 31 March2019 & Z2019F3A31H LEE
Opening net book amount ENERTE = 367 2125 178 1435 4,105
Arising from acquisition of Rl —HNBLAREE
a subsidiary (Note 30) (Bit7E30) 693875 124 = = = 69999
Additions NE - 997 - 75 - 1,072
Disposals (Note 34()) & (MT3E340)) = = = (36) = (36)
Depreciation (Note 10) e (M) (532) (324) (530) (56) (663) (2,105)
Written off * (Note 9) HgEe (Fisto) - (699) (447) (26) = (1172)
Exchange differences EREH = = (20) = = (20)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 69,343 465 1128 135 772 71,843
At 31 March 2019 #201963A31A
Cost B 69875 2,759 21733 595 2,986 97,948
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (532) (2,294) (20,605) (460) 2214) (26,105)
69,343 465 1128 135 72 71,843
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AN
AR A

BTSRRI RE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

15. 135 - W= Kkt ()

(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
Leasehold Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
property improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEee BA-#E
HENE £ BEREE &L RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TR TR TER TR
Yearended 31 March 2020  BZ2020F3A31A L FE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 69,343 465 1,128 135 772 71,843
Additions wE - 3,038 435 147 - 3,620
Disposals (Note 34 (3)) & (F7E34 ) (68,548) (2,089) (39) (9) = (70,685)
Depreciation (Note 10) e (Fxo) (795) (538) (304) (77) (662) (2,376)
Written off * (Note 9) W (BzEo) - (414) - (63) = (477)
Exchange differences ERER - - (51) = = (51)
Closing net book amount FREETFE - 462 1,169 133 110 1,874
At 31 March 2020 R202053A31H
Cost 5% - 493 21,906 505 2,986 25,890
Accumulated depreciation 2 E - 31) (20,737) (372) (2,876) (24,016)
- 462 1,169 133 110 1,874
5 The Group’s leasehold improvements and furniture, fixtures and equipment = K £ [B] B [F] (B 49 %5477,0007 T (2019 : 725,000

with carrying amount of approximately HKS477,000 (2019: HKS725,000) was

BT)ZHERE

FRERGM KERREER

written off upon the termination of certain lease of Hong Kong office. The
Group’s plant and machinery with carrying amount of approximately HKSNil
(2019: HKS447,000) was written off under the deregistration procedures of the
PRC subsidiary.

On 16 December 2019, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose the
leasehold property located in Hong Kong at cash consideration
of HK$53,000,000. The disposal transaction was completed on 16
January 2020. After the disposal, no leasehold property had been
pledged to secure the other borrowings granted to the Group as at
31 March 2020.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's leasehold property with carrying
amount of approximately HK$69,343,000 had been pledged to
secure the other borrowings granted to the Group (Note 25(j)).

HIPEER R = 2 BTN M Y - 7B E
1849 73FE T (20199 : 447,000087T ) 2 B 5 % 1€

22 TS iR 1E B B A 7,2 BB T R 8 -
R2019F 12168 NEBHEBIIE =5

BB IR £ R {E53,000,0007% 7T
EMREENHEDE - HERXHE 2020
F1R168 K - N H B 1% - 120203831
B @EfEemEcEfaR T AEBzHE
fh{E EEH IR -

R2019F3A831B  ASEERBEELY A
693430008 T2 HEMEEER AR T A
SE 2 EtEEEER (BIFF2530)) ©
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iR A M SR MTEE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EHEEE
Premises
L/
HK$’000
THET
Cost: RN
At 1 April 2019 recognised upon the application R20195F4 A1 B ER BBV BWE
of HKFRS 16 R 1657 R RERR 1,252
Additions B 9,192
Early termination of lease REKIEE (1,252)
At 31 March 2020 202053 A31H 9,192
Accumulated depreciation: RAIIE:
At 1 April 2019 201954 H1H =
Charge for the year (Note 10) FRRAX (K5 10) 1,361
Early termination of lease REHKRILHEE (795)
At 31 March 2020 720203 A31H 566
Net carrying amount: BRENEE:
At 31 March 2020 72020F3H31H 8,626

The right-of-use assets mainly represent the Group's rights to
use underlying leased premises as offices for its operations under
operating lease arrangements over the lease terms, which ranged
from 1 to 4 years, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

EREEETIE/ASEREBLLHEL
EREHR (N F124F)ARELEFH
HREEEMEERRE 2N ETIRKA
BB ERRFTREESE (1E)JIK -
YEREHFTEHEABFEAR-
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iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 16.

The right-of-use assets have been recognised, on a lease-by-lease
basis, at the respective initial carrying amounts equal to that of the
related lease liabilities, which are determined based on the lease
payments discounting using subsidiaries” incremental borrowing
rates of 5.1% to 15.0% as at the date of initial recognition during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

EHAEEE (&)

FREEECIREZBHEELENEIIARE
AE(ESREEHEaENYREmE)
R Mz S REENEZE2020F3 43181
FEDREFARVLSERABHZMNBR
A8 S 15 F E N F51%E150%046 3R K9
ENREE-

BREBARENHEHEEET 2 EREDIN
ME W & hE 225 - HEEE A
R{EEERER-

2020

HK$’000

FET

Fixed payments & T 1,613
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHEERE X 11,308
Total cash outflow for leases HEZHReRLBTE 12,921
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fre BTSRRI R ()
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

17. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the year

17.

ELEHIR (BE) 8fF

REBREE2020F3831HIELFERRZ
FEELMBER(BE) ABEREEZSHW

ended 31 March 2020. Ko
Timing
differences
arising Unrealised
from tax profit in
depreciation inventories Total
HIEFE
BEEZERE REH
=5 FE®EF #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT FET
At 1 April 2018 201854818 (204) (884) (1,088)
Net (credited)/charged to (FFA) /MarésEasz

consolidated profit or loss FEE (MI5E12)

(Note 12) (112) 72 (40)
At 31 March 2019 201953 H31H (316) (812) (1,128)
Net charged to consolidated MBHGEE B2 FE

profit or loss (Note 12) (F5E12) 608 812 1,420
At 31 March 2020 202053 A31H 292 - 292

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has unused tax losses and
deductible temporary differences relating to the allowance for
ECL, all of which are arose in Hong Kong have no expiry dates
under the current tax legislation of approximately HK$56,733,000
and HK$17,098,000 (2019: HK$49,164,000 and HK$18,173,000)
respectively. The Group has unused tax losses arose in the PRC,
which will be expired in 5 years, of approximately HK$11,877,000
(2019: HKS6,627,000). Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these balances due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams.

As discussed in Note 12, withholding tax would be payable on the
unremitted retained earnings of certain PRC subsidiaries. The PRC
subsidiaries have been incurring losses since commencement of
operation and there were no distributable retained earnings as at 31
March 2020 (2019: Nil).

R20208F3A3 1R AKEMEEBEHE
EEEREG s ADAMEBERITIRY
REBEYREBEES BERERBEEG
I A 2 HA B B - H 9 Bl 49 456,733,000 7T
1217,098,00058 7T (20194 : 49,164,00078 7T &
18,173,000/870) - NEE BB R+ B E £ 1
RSFREER 2 KRB FIIEE1811,877,000%
7 (2019%F : 6,627,000 7T ) » A A K A %Eﬁ
RAEREFIRE MU ERZEEHRERR
HIBEE-

A EF 1 2FT Rl - ARt A TH B A A
CABKERBAFINBINF - AFKE
BUAK hERBAR—HELER ®R
2020F3 A3 W& AT D IRRE & F (2019
FoE) e
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iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. REEERTRWRE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Share of fair value of net assets on SMENEREE
acquisition FEAFE 4,865 =
Goodwill B 171,140 -
Share of post-acquisition profit or loss SMElEEER (28,614) -
147,391 S
Less: Impairment loss R EE R (147,391) -

Campfire Group (as defined below)

On 10 June 2019, the Group and the two independent third parties
entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the vendors have agreed to sell and the Group has conditionally
agreed to acquire the sale shares, representing 30% of the issued
share capital of Guardian City Limited ("Guardian City") at a total
consideration of approximately HKS$ 176,005,000, of which is satisfied
by cash as to HK$10,000,000 and 153,000,000 shares issued by the
Company at HK$1.085 per share (equivalent to HK$166,005,000)
(Note 28). On 25 June 2019, the acquisition was completed. Upon
the completion of the transaction, Guardian City became an
associate of the Company. Guardian City is principally engaged in
investment holding which holds 62.55% equity interest in Campfire
Holdings Company Limited (collectively as “Campfire Group”).
Campfire Group is principally engaged in operation of co-working
spaces and co-living spaces in Hong Kong and the UK. At the date
of acquisition, Campfire Group operates a total of 12 co-working/
co-living spaces. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 28 May 2019, 10 June 2019
and 25 June 2019.

Campfire B (E& R T X)
R2019F6 108 AEBEENEBILE =
FEINEEHE B 2EEHFERE
HE MASEEBKRERBZEKEHER
1 (#8 & M Guardian City Limited ( [ Guardian
City | )EEHTRAZ30%) BREDE
176,005,0007 7T+ & # LAZR & 2 £410,000,000
BT KRB BARR RIRF IR 10858 LB T
153,000,0008% B 15 (48 & 166,005,000 7T.)
Z AT (Kf5E28) - 201986 H25H
WHEETEE ST - MR 5 5E A 1& * Guardian
Cityl &7 A &) 2 B & A 7 ° Guardian City
FERFREEMR - 58 Campfire Holdings
Company Limited (#t7# [ Campfire 5@ ] ) 2
62.55%f%4E » Campfiref2 B £ BRAEHE K HEE
REEXZTEERAAZTEEEHELIE R
W BEEIE A Hl - CampfireEE @& EA H12@
HETE / HEEEEM -XSHEDRIE
B RN B H 8 A201995 288 ~ 201946
A108 &2019F6 A25B 2 R o



174  Affluent Partners Holdings Limited $2EiZ R G R A 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. REtE NFINIKRE (&)

Campfire Group (Continued)

As the completion date, the fair value of net identifiable assets of
Campfire Group was amounting to approximately HK$25,926,000.
The management assessed the consideration by referencing to the
valuation of the fair value of 100% equity interests in the Campfire
Group, estimated by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Ltd (“CHFT"),
an independent firm of professional qualified valuer, based on
market approach for the starting-up business. In view of the future
development potential of the co-working spaces industry in Hong
Kong, goodwill of approximately HK$171,140,000 was recognised by
the Group and presented included in the investments in associates.

Up to the reporting period, the Group paid partial cash
consideration of HK$6,000,000 to vendors for the acquisition and
the outstanding balance of HK$4,000,000 is recognised as other
payables (Note 23) in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Particulars of investments of associates as at 31 March 2020 are set
forth below:

Campfire5 & (&)

5K B H - CampfiresE 8 2 7] 34 Bl & B %
B2 AFEL 52592600087 - BB
EHBYEESERGEATEN LR
HAERAR ([EH ) REBEARVIBIESZ
M5 A 5T BY Campfire 22 B 10006 % 42 59 A I
BEHEEHSRE®ETHG - EREEXZTH
TRTEZAREREN  AEBBREE
#9171,140,00078 70 - I 251 Bt AREZ A
RIZIE -

HERGSHE AEERKBEERNZEE
7 X4 EB 5 IR £ A E6,000,0008 7T * MK E
1B BREE4,000,0008 T E RERE BT B R A
TR A A FEA 5B (M9EE23) -

R2020F3A31 B 2 RBHE AR 2 RA S
T

Proportion of ownership interest
and proportion of voting power

held by the Group

Place of REEBIBEMN

incorporation/ BEEERLAR
Name of associates operation RERELH Principal activities
BENRER AEMAR SR i B 2020 2019 FEEH
Directly held
HERE
Guardian City * BVI 30% N/A" Investment holding
Guardian City # RBEZES TEH  REER
Indirectly held
HERE
Campfire Holding Company Limited Hong Kong 18.77% N/A  Operation of co-working spaces and
Campfire Holding Company Limited * EE EA co-living spaces

# Not audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited or another member firm of Moore

global network

The financial reporting dates of the above associates are not
coterminous with those of the Group, as they have financial years
ending 31 December.

EEAFTRERARAZ
BEER

¢ WIEMREFHEGTAMEHMERA BN
RERBR KW 2 57— KB EHIEZ

LB E N R 2 RS A B AR S B E
WAHERE - REBZE R ZMBFE HE
F12A31H 1k
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. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Campfire Group (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
in respect of Campfire Group adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements:

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

18. REEERAWRE (&)

Campfire 5B (&)

T %K 3 B3 B B Campfirese B 2 81 7 & BHEE
2 KABREMSHBRREEY RSN
MR ZBEEESEK:

HK$’000
FET
As at 31 March 2020 7202053A31H
Current assets MBEE 36,028
Current liabilities mENBE (114,652)
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE (45,712)
Net liabilities BEFE (124,336)
For the period from 25 June 2019 to 20196 H25H £2020F3A31H Hi
31 March 2020
Revenue LON 76,395
Loss for the period HAE 1R (152,486)

Impairment assessment

Since June 2019, the social movement has been dampening
the economic activities in Hong Kong. The business operating
environment in Hong Kong became uncertain and challenging,
as well as weaker consumer sentiment, decline of visitor arrivals
from mainland China to Hong Kong. Business of the clients of
Campfire Group has been affected significantly and it resulted in
a decline in demand of co-working spaces of Campfire Group. In
addition, since the outbreak of novel coronavirus (the “COVID-19")
in January 2020, travel restrictions, public health measures and
quarantine requirement of travelers imposed by The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘HKSAR") and
other countries have adversely affected the operation of Campfire
Group, which has further result in a drop in demand of co-working
space, and the average rental income of co-working space. In order
to reduce losses and maintain the business of Campfire Group, the
management of the Campfire Group has downsized the co-working
space network in Hong Kong by closing down 9 out of the 13 sites
in Hong Kong.

B
B2019F6 AR HEBEEH —HEHBBLE
EEREKITE -BEERRBESTETE
RFTmksl - LEOBBEEE LIS AR
BEFR B BERABUTNFE - Campfire E B EF K
EBZHERTE BRECGampfirefE @ £
ZTHEZERERFE KT o - 5202051 A
1B EMA S (120198 MBESH] ) A
RK-BBFINTHE ([BEBBE]) BT K
HEMBERERLITRSG - QLA RIK
BRI T  HCampfire £ B 2 B EEK T
Pl B —SERERZT TEEENS
KEAZTHEEEOHFHRS WA TR
BV ER & Campfirete B 2 275
Campfick BRI EREED B R@MA1I3ESTHE
SRR MBS TMERE S RE TIEZEM
B R o
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. REtE NFINIKRE (&)

Campfire Group (Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

At the reporting date, the management of the Group carried out
impairment assessment on the carrying amount of its interest
in Campfire Group. The management considered that it is not
possible to measure fair value less costs of disposal under current
market conditions. Therefore, the management of the Group used
the interest in associates’ value in use as its recoverable amount.
In determining the value in use of the associates, the directors of
the Company estimated the present value of the estimated future
cash flows expected to arise from its share of the present value
of the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by
Campfire Group, including the cash flows from the operations of
Campfire Group and the proceeds from the ultimate disposal of
the investment in Campfire Group. Based on the assessment, the
recoverable amount is equal to zero. Accordingly, the Group has
recognised the impairment loss of investment in Campfire Group of
approximately HK$147,391,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020
based on the above assessment. The key assumptions included no
growth rate and use of 15% to discount the cash flow projections to
net present value.

On 1 August 2019, the Group had entered into the loan facilities
agreement with the Campfire Group for granting the loan in the
principal amount up to HK$25,000,000 carried with interest rate at
15% per annum to Campfire Group for the period of 12 months
from the drawdown date to the final repayment date subject to the
terms and conditions at the discretionary right of the Group. As at
31 March 2020, no amount was utilised.

Campfire5 & (&)

WAE T ()

RIRERH - AEEERE S H R Campfire
EECHEZZEAELETRETN G -BE
EBRAE RRITMRTAAETEN5R D
EFTERAZATFE Bt AEEEHEE
FRREEARERAEBRE ESEAER
WEeE RETHEQARFEREER K
NAEEFE M BB A E D5 Campfire
SEHERSTEEZGBFRKRERER
BEFEECHFFARREeRERE 21
Campfire R B EEA 7R RERFKD
E R Campfire L Bl 2 1% & 2 FTSFIE - R iE
ZAE TR ESEERZT AL RIE L
AT - AEEEREIZE2020F3 4318 1EF
FEERN Campfire R B 2188 2 HEBEL
1473910008 L T ERBBHBE/IERER
FA15%E R & mETE RN AIREFE-

201988 A1 8 AN & & B Campfires & 5]
SV EREE RS AR IR ERRET
WIEAREE 2 BB - M Campfirefe B L
N&FEER % 525,000,000 7T 2 Bk 1R A
R15%:+ 8 HIERBHEEREEZEHH
BEI2E R - R20208F3 8318 WESED
KB -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Dellos Group (as defined below)

At 31 March 2020, the Group had hold 33% equity interests of Dellos
Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Dellos Group”), of which
the particulars of investments in associates are set forth below:

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

18. REEERAWRE (&)

Dellosf B (E& R T X)

7202093 H31H - R & B 5 B Dellos Group
Limited 2 KB A 7] ([Dellos& @] ) 233%
2R PR E A RN EFEHY W

T

Proportion of ownership

interest and proportion of

voting power held by the
Group

Place of rEBEFEW

incorporation/ EERERERLEHIR
Name of associates operation BRERLBH Principal activities
BERRER EEMR RS i B 2020 2019 FEEHK
Directly held
BEEFE
Dellos Group Limited * the Cayman Islands 33% 33% Investment holding
Dellos Group Limited * HEHS TEERKR
Indirectly held
BEER
Natural Spring Global Limited * the British Virgin 33% 33% Investment holding
Natural Spring Global Limited * (the "BVI) WEERKR

RERZES

(IRBELES])
Dellos F&B Co,, Ltd * (‘Dellos Korea 33% 33%  Manufacturing, sale and
F&B") AT distribution of fruit juice and
Dellos F&B Co., Ltd * other beverage products
(IDellos F&B ] ) BLE HERDHERAR
H 88 fm E an
Dellos International Limited * Hong Kong 33% 33%  Trading of beverage products
Dellos International Limited * BB BEERMEM
d Not audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited or another member firm of Moore E WIARESHES A EHAR QAR

global network

The financial reporting dates of the above associates are not
coterminous with those of the Group, as they have financial years

ending 31 December or 30 June.

RERBRZHRBM 25— K EEBEMER

LHiBE N T MSRE 0B EAEEE
WAERE - REBZE R ZMBEE RBE
212A31H=56H308 It °
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. REtE NFINIKRE (&)

Dellos Group (Continued)

Investments in and loans to Dellos Group were fully written down
during the year ended 31 March 2018. The Group was informed by
the management of Dellos Group on 20 June 2018 that Dellos F&B
had filed an application for commencing rehabilitation proceedings
(the “Rehabilitation Proceedings’) with Seoul Rehabilitation
Court (the “Court”) on 13 February 2018 and the Court had
approved the commencement of the Rehabilitation Proceedings on
7 March 2018.

The rehabilitation plan (‘Rehabilitation Plan”) involves, among
other matters, reduction or exemption of the outstanding debts
owed by Dellos F&B, conversion of all or part of the creditors’ claims
into shares of Dellos F&B and repayment plan for the remaining
debts. The Rehabilitation Plan was put forward for approval by the
creditors and shareholders of Dellos F&B and the Court.

Based on the advices from the Group's legal advisers, the Group
considered it was probable that the shareholding of the Group
in Dellos F&B would be diminished. Hence, the directors of
the Company considered that Dellos F&B had ceased to be an
associate of the Group since the date of filing of application
for commencing the Rehabilitation Proceedings and that as a
result of the Rehabilitation Plan, there was no significant value in
the Group's equity interests in the Dellos Group as (i) the main
operating subsidiary in the Dellos Group prior to the date of filing of
application for commencing the Rehabilitation Proceedings is Dellos
F&B; (i) the shareholding of Dellos Group in Dellos F&B would likely
be very significantly diluted; (i) the important decisions of Dellos
F&B would require the Courts approval; and (iv) there would be no
dividend payout during the rehabilitation period. It was considered
highly unlikely that Dellos Group would bring to the Group any
future economic benefits.

Dellos& & (&)

HE2018F3A31H IEFE M DellosE B 2
KERRAEELZERE 2EME - A%
E 7201856 208 B Delloste B 2 B IR [E
B Dellos FRBE M2018F2A13H M E B
BEER ([ER)DRXEBEBRDERERF
([EBRF])  BARER2018F3 /8784
ERBEERF-

BEFE ([EE8HE ) PR (HPaHE)
Y3 EA G Dellos FABAE R KR EBIETS - 151E
AR ZE S En B ERE (L BDellos F&BHI
BHUNEKBTEBRERFR EEFEE
12X Dellos FRBAY(E#E A K A% B LA K% B BA
Skt

BEAEELZBEREZER AEERA
ANEE R Dellos F&BZ REAE #5 18 7] BE & 1Rk
DoAY AAREERE ARXEBHEM
hE L F B EI#E - Dellos FRBE NE A AN
EFEZBENR AERFZEHAEER
Dellost(e B 2 I E W HE K EBE RE A)
Dellostt B A R A2 B B A B B A2 Fr B 2 A1
2 X BEEM B R A ADellos F&B : (i) Dellos
S B M Dellos F&BZ IR EAFIR AT BEE IET K
B 5% ¢ (jil) Dellos F&BZ B8 AR F ALK AR
&g RiVREBRBRBETITSRRRKE -
DellosE B 4 32 /5 #5145 7~ 0] 4 /& 7 62 B 5 7k
R {A] R 2R 4 75 1 25
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Dellos Group (Continued)

According to the Rehabilitation Plan, the loans made by the Group
to Dellos F&B had been made part of the rehabilitation claims,
with the Group having been regarded as a rehabilitation creditor.
Although the Group, as a rehabilitation creditor, will be able to
obtain recovery of the loans in accordance with the terms of the
Rehabilitation Plan, it is subject to approval by the Court and also
the economic conditions of Dellos F&B. In addition, based on the
latest financial information provided by the management of Dellos
F&B, the financial position of Dellos F&B is net current liabilities.
Furthermore, by reference to the published audited financial
statement for the year ended 31 March 2018 all the non-financial
assets of Dellos F&B were pledged to certain banks in Korea. The
directors of the Company considered that the likelihood of recovery
of the loans and interest receivables owed by Dellos Group to the
Group.

On 17 October 2018, the Court approved the Rehabilitation Plan
and under the Rehabilitation Plan, there will be yearly cash payment
instalments over a 10-year period (starting from 2019) in respect
of the 30% of the outstanding debts and the remaining 70% of
the outstanding debts will be converted into the equity of Dellos
F&B. However, based on the latest financial information for the year
ended 31 March 2019 provided by the management of Dellos F&B,
its financial performance continued to deteriorate and its financial
position is still in net current liabilities. In view of the diminished
shareholding upon the conversion of debts to equity and no reliable
estimation of future economic benefits derived, the directors of the
Company considered that the above investment cost and loans and
interest receivables were still unlikely to be recovered.

Based on the advices from the Group’s legal advisers, the
management of Dellos F&B is planning to make a bankruptcy
filing to the Korean court in July 2020 for the formally bankruptcy
proceedings. Once the bankruptcy proceedings confirmed, the
Rehabilitation Plan would no longer exist. In view of this, the
directors of the Company considered that the investment cost and
loans and interest receivables are unlikely to be recovered.

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

18. REEERAWRE (&)

Dellos& & (&)

BRI E &) A& E A Dellos F&BIEH 2
BEREEAERREZ XD MAEE
EWRAEREEA-BREAEE (EAE
BEEAN) BREMRIEER 8 2 K E
BEXCWEAFERM AR FAEE B
TRNEURA Dellos F&BZ 4 AR IR A1 - 1R 15
Dellos FRBE IR ERM v HA IS E R -
Dellos FRBZ BA SR B mEN B EFEE -F
FRSED T ZEE2018F3A31HIETF
& 2 BB HEIREK  Dellos FRBFT A IEE Bl
BECEBTHRES THRIT - ARAEERD
ZEUE DellosE B R ANEE 2 EINE K
MF Bz Al aetk

R2018F10H178 A E A E XA E]-
MREER & 5t AR EE B Z30%Mm
S BRI0FE M (B2019F AR B F#E
THRSSHNR MAKRERES 2 L%
70%118 #E# A Dellos FRBZ IXZAN < SR 1 - 1R 15
Dellos F&BE 1 B R (&L =2019F3A31H Lk
FEZEOPUBER  ERBRRABES
ZUAREGBRRDBRB A EFEAN -
ERRIER D REEAAISMEETTEEZ K
REER R WA RNRERRA LKA
B AN DA R R s B R R ) B AT 1 K ] RE LR
E] °

BIEAREBEEER 2 E R  Dellos F&BZ
&I B 5T 815020205 7 B (A1 88 B A B B2 7B
E - UNETERAEEREF —BERERFE
R EEHEABTBFEE - AENIL K
RAIEERE BERNUARERERKF
BN KA BN E o
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fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

19. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES 19. AR EREE

HK$’000
THET
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4H1H 27,064
Subscriptions A 8,392
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated REFEBEER 2 AT EEE
profit or loss (2,910)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 720193 4318 &2019F471H 32,546
Subscriptions R 811
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated REcERRIZATFEER
profit or loss (1,365)
At 31 March 2020 7202063 A31H 31,992

On 10 November 2017, the Group entered into the investment
agreement and subscribed for certain convertible loan notes issued
by Wonderland (UK) Holdings Limited (“Wonderland (UK)"). The
principal amount is GBP3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$36,050,000) which carries interest at 6% per annum and payable
on the date on which the convertible loan notes become payable
or are redeemed. The maturity date of the convertible loan notes is
on 9 November 2020 and will be redeemed at 100% of the principal
amount.

The convertible loan notes can be converted at any time from the
date the convertible loan notes are fully subscribed and paid up to
the maturity date. Upon the full conversion of the convertible loan
notes, the converted shares will represent 65% of the enlarged share
capital of Wonderland (UK) immediately after the completion of
issuance of new shares. At any time after the convertible loan notes
are fully subscribed by the Group, full conversion would be made
automatically when the pre-tax audited net profit of Wonderland
(UK) exceeded GBP 1,000,000 for the financial year immediately prior
to the maturity date. The convertible loan notes would become
immediately due and payable if Wonderland (UK) ceased to be the
exclusive licensee of a global real estate brand in England.

B2017F 1M A108 AEBFI R EHH
' 58 B Wonderland (UK) Holdings Limited
([Wonderland (UK) ] ) {725 T Al R E
HKEE - K4 553,500,000 8 (FHE R
36,050,000 7T ) « HIZGF6E 2 FIRETE
WEARAMBRERZERKAEMNSKERZ
BB FUAS AN -ATRREREE 2 FEHA
A2020F11 A98 - Wi 1R AN & 85 2 100%FE
@ o

AMRBREREETEHEZERERE R
2 BHAE E 5 H A BR824 o AR BEIA T
BREREEE  SERBROEHEERERE
SERKBETTETAR 1D % 2 Wonderland (UK)AZHE K
B Z265% - AR E R B EREEE
FRBEREMBEA  WREZEINEER 2
B B 4F JE Wonderland (UK) 2 B F AT 48 S A% 40
FIEB 381,000,000 £ - A1 B E) T bAE Heg
# o fifWonderland (UK) T B AR —E2
KEHEME 2 BREFTA  AIRERER
FRGANR 2| B K FE AT o
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19. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group entered into the
deeds of variation to the investment agreement, pursuant to which
(i) the conversion rate of the convertible loan notes was varied
from 65% to 99.9%; and (i) the Group and the existing legal and
beneficial owner of Wonderland (UK) (the “Selling Shareholder’)
have the call option to acquire and put option to sell, respectively,
the two fully paid ordinary shares (representing the sale shares held
by the Selling Shareholder) at a consideration of GBP350 upon the
fully subscription of convertible loan notes by the Group.

Pursuant to the investment agreement, the Group has subscribed
for the convertible loan notes upon the receipt of notice of
drawdown issued by Wonderland (UK). As at 31 March 2020, the
Group has subscribed for approximately GBP3,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$37,548,000) (2019: GBP3,419,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$35,666,000)) convertible loan notes, representing
approximately 100% (2019: 97.7%) of the total subscription amount.

Wonderland (UK) is a company incorporated and registered in
England and Wales with limited liability and it is the exclusive
licensee of Sotheby’s International Realty Limited (“SIRL") and is
principally engaged in the operation of realty agency business
in England. In addition, Wonderland (UK) holds the entire equity
interest of SIRL which mainly deals in residential sales, letting,
development sales, investment and international sales in England
and Wales and it currently has approximately 22,700 sales associates.

The unlisted property fund classified as FVPL (Note 26) has
appointed SIRL and Wonderland (UK), acting as real estates agent to
assist with the sub-selling of the apartments in the residential real
estate project, and the unlisted projects fund shall pay the agency
fee to SIRL and Wonderland (UK) in return.

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

19. TRBRERFEE (F)

B E2019F3R31HLEFE AEBFZ2
BEWZZEEZE it ()T RRE K
ik 7 B R B Re5%E E £99.9% ¢ K ()R
AEBESRBERRERZREZ A&E
BEWonderland UK\ ZIREERENREZEEB A
([HERR]) D RIHEEREHRBEAME R
ORI AR EMRA T TR (HERH
ERRFEZHEERD)  REA350HEEE-

RIRILE ek - A% E B R Wonderland
(UKBELZREBMNERETRIRER
ZiR o FRA2020F3A31H  AEEBEERELD
3,500,0002% % (48 & M %937,548,0007% 7T )
(20194F : 3,419,000 4% (#8% FA 4935,666,000
BIL) )2 I BMRERER - BENERE
FA49100% (2019%E : 97.7% ) °

Wonderland (UK)& — i 7 38 1% 5 K B B Hr
A kB R 2 BRAF] - I ASotheby's
International Realty Limited ([SIRL |) Z
BEIAN BXTZREBBERELERF M
EERIRZETS o LAN - Wonderland (UK)35 A SIRL
(FERABBE BB EEEHEE B
T HREHE KRERBRKREE BEBRTHE
B H227005HE AR ) 2 2 EBARHE -

DEAEBRATFEFABERZELTY
¥ A& (H3E26) B Z ESIRLKE Wonderland
(UKEAERBREESEEHERR
FEEE MIELTOEES K ARSRLE
Wonderland (UK)SZMRIBE R -
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fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

19. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 19. TR ERERE (&)

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s convertible loan notes with
carrying amount amounting to approximately HK$31,992,000 has
been pledged to secure the other borrowings granted to the Group
(Note 25(i)).

The convertible loan notes were analysed for classification in its
entirety as the financial assets at FVPL.

The fair value of the convertible loan notes was determined based
on the valuation provided by CHFT, independent professional
qualified valuer not connected with the Group.

The fair value of the convertible loan notes is level 3 fair value
measurement. There is no transfer under the fair value hierarchy
classification for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the convertible loan notes contained
both receivable component and derivative component which
are not separated out and are classified as financial asset at FVPL.
The methods and assumptions adopted for the valuation of the
convertible loan notes are as follows:

R2020F3 A3 M H AEBEEREN A
31,992,000/ 2 AT AR E R R E L I
BRAEERL 2 HAabfE 243 (M
25() ) °

MR ERZBRCERERATFE AR
BRZEREEZ DB -

ABMEERRREAFENIREELEE
WEEE 2B EXAERMGEMETIR
HZHEEE-

ARBREREE AFEEATEFTEZZ
3 - A B = 2020F M2019F3A31H IEF
B ATEEBRSHE W EEE-

R2020F 20193 A31 80 Al AR EREIE
BERKERIES RISTET RS  MET
Ao WHEARATFEFABERZS
BEE AR EREZREEMRANZ S
ERBERIT
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iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

19. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 19. IR EREE (&)

Valuation of convertible loan notes as a whole

The convertible loan notes was measured at fair value using the
binomial option pricing model and the key inputs into the model
were as follows:

RBREREEBZERMAE

T 450 AR B KR 48 T 5 PR — I L B (K
RRAFEH T HZER 2 T EHARE
-

2020 2019

Enterprise value of Wonderland (UK) Wonderland (UK)Z TS ¥ B & GBP GBP
1,583,818 1,557,405

HEE HeE

Conversion ratio EiR Ly 5 99.9% 99.9%
Volatility R 69.8% 33%
Time to maturity B HARS R 0.62 year 1.62 years &
Credit spread EEEE 19.4% 10.4%
Risk-free rate R 0.11% 0.644%

Note: The enterprise value of Wonderland (UK) was determined by applying the
price to sales revenue ratio analysis ("P/S ratio” of 1.09 (2019: 1.62)) based on
a number of comparable companies in similar business nature of Wonderland
(UK) which are engaged in the real estate agency business in the UK and their
shares are listed on London Stock Exchange and adjusted with the discount for

lack of marketability of 20% (2019: 20%).

The key significant unobservable inputs to determine the fair value
of the derivative component are the enterprise value and expected
volatility. A higher enterprise value and expected volatility used
in the valuation would result in an increase in the fair value of the
derivative component, and vice versa.

The convertible loan notes are denominated in GBP at the end of
reporting period.

fi#: Wonderland (UK)Z ¥ EBE TR & @R
Wonderland (UK) BB AR E 2 Z /A
BEHRAF (HRERKEEFHERIEEL
REBRMNARGRESFZ S M) EBEAT
RN (TR 1.09(20198 :162) ) I
AR T I5 A B M T 3820% (20194F : 20% )
mEEE -

BEMMETARSAFEZEEERTH
BB A ABEBEREFXEERERNE - 4E
MRz X EE R FEHINE BB
TTETABD < RFEEBM R2INA

RBERR - IRBERRBRAREE-
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fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

20. INVENTORIES 20. #E
2020 2019
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHEx FHT
Raw materials R AT # 7,159 15,030
Work in progress E& 1,817 2,323
Finished goods RN G 25,126 41,905
34,102 59,258
The provision for impairment losses on inventories is generally made —BHERAR B180H A E R EEBHE 2
for those inventories aged over 180 days with no subsequent sales ZEFEERTFERESERE  MEER
while the reversal of provision for impairment losses on inventories BEEERERNERAREZSNEEBEZ
is only recognised for those inventories which are sold subsequently BERENCZETERR
with the prices higher than the carrying amounts.
As at 31 March 2020, certain inventories with original cost which 202053 A31H - & F R K A 463,492,000
amounted to approximately HK$63,492,000 (2019: HK$106,244,000) 7 7T (2019%F £ 106,244,000/ 7T ) 2 17 & 1%
were stated at net realisable value of approximately HK$ 13,506,000 A] 8 35 3% (B #913,506,00058 7T (20194F : %
(2019: HK$22,875,000). 22,875,000% 7T ) 51/ B °
21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 21. BRERKREMEWERER &S
=
AND PREPAYMENTS R RE
2020 2019
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHER T
Trade receivables (Note (a)) FEWE K (H5EG@)) 26,496 34,014
Other receivables, deposits and Hab AR e RIBNFIE
prepayments (Note (b)) (FF#ED)) 16,366 16,128
42,862 50,142
Less: Non-current portion W IEmBNER D
Other receivables, deposits and Hab RN He MIEMAFIE
prepayments (Note (b)) (MIEE®)) (1,491) (4,676)

41,371 45,466
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21. BRRERREMEBEWRERER &€
REMAFIE (&)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: Bisr
(a)  Trade receivables (a) ERER

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Trade receivables, gross e E TR - fa 43,594 52,187

Less: allowance for ECL on trade receivables W ERERZEREEERER (17,098) (18,173)

Trade receivables, net W ER  F5E 26,496 34014

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for

ECL, as at the reporting date, based on invoice dates which approximate the

AT RERER (IREREEBEEFZ) R
BEHHREEEAH (BZaRARRA

respective revenue recognition dates: HRE) 2RI DT
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
0 to 30 days 0£30H 10,504 16,378
31 to 90 days 31E90H 6,332 6,551
91 to 180 days 91£180H 4,280 5290
181 to 365 days 181&365H 4,418 4,834
Over 365 days HBi@365H 962 961
26,496 34,014

AEEAREPZEEHETEURSIER
ERARNREL - ERRBEEELZ BERER
BER-—EMEZEEANGEE - RIFTEIED
WEBRE 2 EFE BERCHERKIFN K
EE-RMBTHEFPRE0AEI0R ZEE
- AARFMNREHEIABKELEAR
FrIERERRERES-

The Group's retail sales to customers are mainly made in cash or through credit
card payments. The trade receivables arising from credit card sales are normally
settled in one to two business days in arrears. For the remaining customers,
the Group generally grants a credit period of 30 days to 120 days, according
to industry practice together with consideration of their credibility, repayment
history and years of establishment. A longer credit period may be granted to

large or long-established customers with good payment history.
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fre BTSRRI R ()
Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 & Z£20205F3 H31H IEF R

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)
(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

An ageing analysis of these trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at the

reporting date, based on due dates, is as follows:

21. F”Etl&iéi,*k HibEUWAR - B &

B aE

(a)

I F IE(%;)

(%)

il

EHER (48)

ZERBER (MNREREEBERG) RE
SRHREBEIMA ZREOMOT

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Not overdue 7 4% 160 B 13,293 10,420
Overdue by: fap -tk

1 to 30 days 1£230H 2,825 12,531

31 to 90 days 31290H 5,683 5,888

91 to 180 days 91£180H 1,576 2414

181 to 365 days 181&365H 3,119 2,761

26,496 34,014

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements

in respect of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired.

The management of the Company makes reference to the historical repayment
to assess the impairment for individual debtors with significant balances while
the Group collectively assesses the impairment for its remaining customers
using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings based on shared credit
risk characteristics of customers by reference to geographical area, past default
experience and current past due exposure and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the current and forecasted economic growth rates,
export data and default rate in respective regions, which reflect the general
economic conditions of the regions in which the debtors operate) that is

available without undue cost or effort.

The allowance for impairment are measured at lifetime ECL in accordance
with simplified approach. Included in the overdue balances of approximately
HK$4,695,000 (2019: HKS$5,175,000) has been overdue 90 days or more and
the directors of the Company consider these are not in default based on the
expected subsequent and historical repayment from certain largest customers

and continuous business with the Group.

AEEY EH D BHERBREZ BRE R
BEAERREERREEAER-

ARRERELEZRTRBIUANEAERSE
HRZENEBAZRE MARE2EHE -
BEBRERLBRARERR  B£HAFRE
EPARGERRESHIEEN B BRER
MEBHEEK TR ZRE LHBEAN
HBZR AR NEIA G2 BT &R (1
RREFHAZEMELRZ BELRRITEZ
ERBE 2 REREAEERERE - HOK
BERERE)ELRHE-

WEREETTE BRERE IR HEREER
E1EET 2 - M AR B IR @ A0 B sk LA _E4Y
4,695,000/ 7T (20194F : 5,175,000/ 7T) * MR
BETHRAZP 2 TRME B LB RR K E
REBHREER ARFEERLLELH
BRI FEE A o
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iR MBS mR MR (48)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Movements in the allowance for ECL on trade receivables under HKFRS 9 are as

follows:

IRy =

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

21. BRE R

REMAFIE (&)

My (&)

(a)

EWEE

= (&)

REMBWIERR &€

IRIR TS B 5 R R 0N 2 AR B2 T
BEREARGZBOT

Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL -
credit impaired credit impaired Total
MBS EHEH
FEBE FEBR
—-BEERE —-fEERE wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
As at 1 April 2018 720184818 1,069 18,784 19,853
Changes in the loss allowance: EREREE#
- Written off — i - (1,129 (1,129)
~Transferred to Lifetime ECL- credit impaired ~— ¥ =2 HFEHEE
BiE—EERE (608) 608 =
— Charged/(credited) to consolidated —k, (st N rBi83
profit or loss (Note b) (Mt3EDb) 97 (648) (551)
As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 201983 8318 &2019%F
4A1R 558 17,615 18,173
Changes in the loss allowance: BEREZY:
— Written off — i 8H = (1,384) (1,384)
—Transferred to Lifetime ECL- credit impaired —HEHE=2HFEHEE
BiE—EERE (74) 74 -
- Charged/(credited) to consolidated —H (st A) &8
profit or loss (Note b) (F7ED) 1,883 (1,574) 309
As at 31 March 2020 120206634318 2,367 14,731 17,098
Notes: 3t -
(a) There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant (a) FRARTHERERZ BEBERIT
assumptions made during the year in assessing the loss allowance for EWRE G A AR ERBRK
the trade receivables.
(b) As of 31 March 2020, trade receivables with gross carrying amount (b) EHZE2020F3A3B - EFREAENE

of approximately HK$14,731,000 (2019: HK$17,615,000) were fully
impaired and provided for those credit-impaired customers which are

in unexpectedly difficult economic situations.

14,731,0007%8 7T (20194F : 17,615,00078
T0) 2 RE R E 2 BURME R B HE - R
EARZEEERERFENRETE
2 BB R 5
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

21. B

EREEMEBWERR RE

REMSFIE (&)

MfE: (&)

(b)

Hitp BRERR  RERANTKE

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FET

Other receivables (Note i) o AR AR (BT aEi) 7,846 4,708
Deposits birena 4,171 4571
Prepayments (Note i) TaftRIE (M Ei) 4,349 6,849
16,366 16,128

Notes:

(ii)

At 31 March 2020, other receivables included the amount of
approximately HK$4,627,000 (2019: HK$2,440,000) interest receivables
due from Wonderland (UK), as define in Note 19, the issuer of
convertible loan notes which carry interest at 6% per annum and
payable on the date on which the convertible loan notes become

payable or are redeemed (i.e. 9 November 2020) (Note 19).

Balance included prepayments for the IT system maintenance,
onsite technical support and IT advisory services of HK$1,491,000
(2019: HK$2,236,000) which would be amortised over five years from

commencement in the year ended 31 March 2018.

Balance at 31 March 2019 also included prepayment of GBP100,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,026,000) made by the Group to
an independent third party (the Proposed JV Partner’) in relation to
formation of a joint venture (the “Proposed JV"). The Proposed JV will
be formed to acquire and develop properties across the UK especially in
the student housing, serviced apartments and invest in other suitable
real estate projects. The said Proposed JV will be owned as to 51% by

the Group and 49% by the Proposed JV Partner respectively.

(i)

M2020F3A318 - Efh B BR R B 1E
& Y Wonderland (UK) (& & BBt 5E19)
(THMBRERERZEITA ATRRE
REBRREFEZMERFTE WAR
ARRERZBXKAENLELR &
A (B12020F 11 A9R) P AT AF) 2 7
B.494,627,00078 7T (20194F : 2,440,0007%8
7T) (KizE19) o

HREHBIEAEZ2018F3A3BLESF
ERBERFREEEANRESSE
& IR IS BT 3 R A SRR B AR
1% 2 T8 1 3R 181,491,000 7T (2019%F :
2,236,000/ 7T ) °

R2019F3A31B Z RN B IEA KR
M—2BIFE=FH ([EHEEER
HORKVEECE(BREEED
%) /B 2 78154 5K 18100,0002 8% (48
E R #1,02600087T) KL EZEEE
TEDANEBRKERERDE LE
REBAER BEXABRIEERHM
BEEMEER - FMEZAEER
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The Group had entered into an interest-free loan facility letter
during the year ended 31 March 2019 of GBP500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,130,000) with the Proposed JV Partner in relation
to financing the overheads in management and fulfilling the business
objectives of the Proposed JV at the pre-operation stage prior to
the formation of Proposed JV. Pursuant to the loan agreement, both
parties agreed that, upon the formation of the Proposed JV, the loan
shall be treated as fully repaid by the Proposed JV Partner and be set
off against the agreed capital payment obligation under the MOU.
In the event that formation and operation of Proposed JV failed, the
amount due shall be repayable (in whole or in part) within a period
of 6 months from the date of drawdown with interest-free. As at 31
March 2019, the Proposed JV Partner has drew downed the loan of
approximately GBP100,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,000,000),
in view of no binding investment agreement signed, such balance
is not capital in nature and regarded as the prepayment for the pre-
operation costs of the Proposed JV. During the year ended 31 March
2020, in view of no settlement from the Proposed JV Partner after
the decision of not proceeding the project as discussed below, the
management of the Group considered the recoverability of this loan
was remote and written off of drawdown loan amount of approximately
GBP100,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,026,000 (Note 10)) in

the consolidated profit or loss accordingly.

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # Z2020F3 A31H L F &

21. ERERREMEWRERNR BE
REMAFIE (&)

MsE: (A&

(b) EHEURHR RERANKE ()

BisE: (&)

(ii)

HE019F3A3BLEFE  A5EE
HEEAE D EBMHE] 5000005 §
(18 & 7 495,130,000 7T ) 2 % B B 3K
BME R AR BRI EFEEE D
ERREERMBREEREREES
BhECEBBERCBRETRE
BIEERGZ FTHEFTRE  RK
VRZBEELER BEXRKERAD
HEREGECERHTEMEER WIE
HRBESHE T ZBEESNRE
o fiREER I REERFAEDE
Al R & AN RE B B 5tefE B H
MARESEE(RIHRIEH) - 7R2019
F3IAH ERAELERHERR
B 3 #7100,0002 8% (48 7 471,000,000
BL)  ERTEEZEBLORNBFE
ZEBRWIEERAME WA RERE
BhREEEAKAZBENRE-HE
2020F3 A3 LEFE SR I T XFT
il ERA B CEBHINRETET
ZEBRITEELER NEEEE
BRA  ZERZ AT E MR I FE
HRGABEAMBEEIRNERSE
#7100,0005 85 (#8°E 7 491,026,000% 7T
(KtEE10) ) ©
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fre BTSRRI R ()
Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 & Z£20205F3 H31H IEF R

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(Continued)

Prior to the formation of the Proposed JV, the Group had entered into
two interest-free loan agreements during the year ended 31 March
2019 of aggregate amount of GBP395,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,053,000) with the Proposed JV Partner in relation to financing the
deposit paid for acquisition of parcels of lands and the student housing
projects (the “Underlying Transactions’) to the vendors. In the event
that the Underlying Transactions are terminated by the Proposed JV
Partner or the vendors and the deposit paid is not repayable to the
Proposed JV Partner, the Group shall immediately irrevocably release
the Proposed JV Partner from all and any liability (i.e. outstanding loan
balances) pursuant to the loan agreements. The terms of the loan
agreements failed the SPPI criterion, so that the loans are recognised as

financial assets at FVPL.

As at 31 March 2019, in view of the increasing uncertainties on
UK's economies resulting from ever-changing BREXIT scenario, the
management of the Company and the Proposed JV Partner agreed
not to further proceed the Underlying Transactions. A deposit of the
Underlying Transactions of GBP195,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,000,000) was forfeited upon termination by the Proposed JV
Partner. The management of the Company also considered that it is
unlikely to recover the remaining deposit of GBP200,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,053,000) upon the expiry of the Underlying
Transactions. In view of such, the fair value of the said loan as at 31
March 2019 was considered as minimal and the fair value loss of
approximately HK$4,053,000 was recognised in the consolidated profit
or loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 accordingly.

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables approximate their

fair values as these financial assets, which are measured at amortised cost, are

expected to be received within one year.

21. B

ERRHEMEWRER BT

RENZE ’(%)

GEE

(b)

(#)

Htp B R - BERBENKE (B)

B3

(ii)

(%)

(#)

R EZAEERER  #HE20195F3
A3BIEFE AEERHEZEED
BRI A 39500085 (FHERY
4,053,000/ 7T ) 2 MWD R E R E
ARk EnRk2EREERE ([4
BXB)MMEL X ZIRSRHEE
© MR SWEHE B ERH K
BHRIE MEMZREETRET
ERAEOERN  AAKE BT
AREHRIEE R RERREELE
m%%ﬁZﬁﬁﬁ&EﬁﬁE (BN RE
EREER) - BRIpE 2 EFCREERT
A@%%WKi&ﬂ S &M Bt
BERERBEAPEFABERZ
imﬂﬁé

201953310 - EREBL B RE R
BN NS A A= s
Mz ABEERE  WMAQAERERE
FABEEBUEBETHE —SET
*HEEX%°$EE§§%Z*%%§<£195000
28 (#8% 7 492,000,000 7T ) A &
?é%ﬁz&i%A’é¢¥%1#>xuﬁzozK@ﬁ%
BEINRA  PBBR S L& E
T2 4£200,0005 85 (48 & 7 492,053,000
BIL) ZAREM A K B ER L bl
BERN2019F3A3B 2 A FERRA
B A B E518 494,053,000 L2
HEREZ2019F383B LEE 2L
AEBERER-

EREF R A ERRHRZ REERE QY
BERE REAERZSREBHXAFTEZ

SREESR —FRMRER-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. REREFRE
2020 2019
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHER FET
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 34,491 28,443
Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITR SR ARTERME 2 FHH =
deposit rates. BREUH B, -
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximate RekERARe  REBEREANTERE -
their fair values.
As at 31 March 2020, bank balances of the Group denominated 720203 H31H » AREBUAREE 2R
in RMB amounted to approximately HK$946,000 (2019: 1T #5 82 49 /946,0007%8 7T (20194F : 4,020,000
HK$4,020,000). The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into BIL) o IHAAREE B &R IR BINE
foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies Wi ERINBFHECRITEHR RIADIE
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are subject AR BESTREBRAFINES B R 2
to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control FE A AR Bl K AR A o
promulgated by the PRC government.
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS 23. ENERKREMESER EW
RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS RENRESER
2020 2019
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET T
Trade payables BB K 3,376 8,434
Accrued payroll and employee benefits EstEa MEBET 13,308 6,658
Other payables and other accruals Hit e RSN R EMEAER 15,433 6,167
Deposits received Bz e 430 423

32,547 21,682
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fre BTSRRI R ()
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS 23. ERERREMEMER 2K
RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED) RekETTER (&)
An ageing analysis of trade payables, as at the reporting date, based RmEBH ENEFREBEEZEAR R
on invoice dates, is as follows: DHTWT

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
0 to 60 days 0260H 1,065 6,894
61 to 120 days 612120H 464 40
More than 120 days HBi@120R8 1,847 1,500
3,376 8,434
As at 31 March 2020, consideration payables for acquisition of 202063 H31 8 - Wk ig Bt 8 R A1 A FE R
associates of HK$4,000,000 (Note 18) was included in other payables. 184,000,000% 7T (FisE18) EFt AH MR
e
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables, deposits received ERERREAMEAER BBIES RERT

and accruals approximate their fair values.

24. LEASE LIABILITIES

ERZREEBRENFEMES-

24. FHEGSE

2020

HK$’000

FTHET

Within one year —FR 2,856
Within a period of more than one year KB —FENERMFEHRERN

but not more than two years 2,627
Within a period of more than two years RBEMFETNBAEAFHER

but not more than five years 3,282

8,765

Less: portion classified as current liabilities BB RABARZES (2,856)

Non-current liabilities

EMEAE 5,909
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A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 24 FHEEE (&)

As at 31 March 2020, the future minimum lease payments of the net

minimum lease payments are as follows:

REREMFET:

20203 A31 B RIEMENFFEE 2R K

2020
HK$’000
THET
Within one year —FR 3,276
Within a period of more than one year RBBE—FETBBERNFHERN
but not more than two years 2,860
Within a period of more than two years RBEMFETBRAEFTHENRN
but not more than five years 3,439
Total lease payments ME KA 9,575
Less: Finance charges BoRAEER (810)
Total lease obligations HMERTHES 8,765
25. OTHER BORROWINGS 25. Htfg &
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRET FET
Other borrowings — secured HtesE-HAHER
Within one year (Note (i) —F R (KEE0) 25,650 52,500
Other borrowings — unsecured Hitnfg & — mE AT
Within one year (Note (ii)) —E N (FEEG)) 5,084 -
30,734 52,500
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frRe S mR M s ()
Forthe year ended 31 March 2020 & Z£20205F3 H31H IEF R

25. OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 March 2020, the Group's secured other borrowing with carrying
amount of HK$25,650,000 (2019: Nil) carried fixed interest rate at 15.0% per
annum. The borrowing is provided by a company, which Mr. Leung Alex is a
common director. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the interest expense
of approximately HK$3,064,000 was recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss. The other borrowing is secured by convertible loan notes (Note 19) with
an aggregate borrowing amount of HK$25,650,000 and accrued interests, if any.
Pursuant to the supplemental deed, the Group shall remain as the registered
holder of the convertible loan notes and repay the outstanding amount when

the convertible loan notes redeemed.

As at 31 March 2019, secured other borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$52,500,000 carried fixed interest rates ranging from 11.3% to 18.0% per
annum. The other borrowings are secured by leasehold property (Note 15)
and jointly guaranteed by the Company and its subsidiary (with an aggregate
amount up to HK$52,500,000).

(ii) As at 31 March 2020, unsecured other borrowing with a carrying amount
of HK$2,000,000 (2019: Nil) carried fixed interest rate at 12% per annum and
repayable within 12 months from the date of 8 November 2019. The borrowing

is provided by the Company's beneficial owner, Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing.

As at 31 March 2020, unsecured other borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$3,084,000 (2019: Nil) carried fixed interest rate at 18.0% per annum. The
balance was overdue and under the litigation from the lender as at 31 March

2020 as detailed in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out
in the respective loan agreements.

Hiefs & ()

GEE

(i)

202063 8318 - A & B BR E B 425,650,000
BT (2019 ) 2 AEMEAMERIREE
FRERIS0%T B - BRDBHRERELER
HREAZEFZ —HARRE B ZE2020F3A31
HIEEE ERGERRAERMEFRZL
3,064,000 7T o H b {8 R IA AT IR & R E &
(M EE19) BRI - & AR 58 /325,650,000
TREFHME (E) REBEZRE A&
EEAARATRREXZRZEZHFAAN
WHRER SRR ERREEREESE-

#20194F3 A31H + BRE 1B A52,500,0005%8 T 2
AR E M {8 B IR E R RN F11.3%E18.0%
TR CHMEETIAEREYE (Fia15)E
W WAEARR REMBARLRER (B
5 % /52,500,000 7T) °

7202093 A318 * BRE fE £2,000,0007 7T
(2019 : £8) 7 MK H 4tb f8 FUR E E 5 F R
12%% 8 WZAR2019%F 11 A8H BFH12@ AR
BE -ZEXERRAZERER ARKE
SR

7202093 A318 * BRE fE 43,084,000 7T
(2019 : £8) 7 MK H 4tb 8 FUR E T & F R
18.00%5T 5 o S AR & B IS SRR P s 38 P i -
202053 A31H  ZMBEEBHANEERA
RHFR-

IMERERSERBETEHIINEEE
KEH-
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26. UNLISTED PROPERTY FUND

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

26. FLTYEES

HK$'000

FHET
As at 1 April 2018 R2018F4H1H 38,000
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated profit or loss MR 4R& B R 2 A FEEE (3,500)
As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 720193 4318 &20195F4H1H 34,500
Subscription R 3,800
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated profit or loss 4R & B R Z AT EEE (33,590)
As at 31 March 2020 202053 A31H 4,710

On 23 February 2018, the Group acquired 3,800 non-redeemable,
non-voting participating shares (‘Fund Shares”) which represents
50% of an unlisted property fund (the “Fund”) incorporated in
the Cayman Islands. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group further subscribed 380 Fund Shares at a consideration of
HK$3,800,000.

The investment objective of the Fund is to achieve capital
appreciation through investing its assets available for investment in
residential real estate projects in the UK.

The investment is unlisted and the Group has no power to govern or
participate the financial and operating policies of the investee so as
to obtain benefits from its activities and the Fund was mandatorily
classified and measured as financial assets at FVPL.

R2018F2F238  AEBWERRERST
Mk 2IELEmMEES ([E£])3,8008%
A lER - ERAEZ2ERBG ([EER
%1)  HERES Z50% ° # £202093 31
BIEFE AEEE—PREBBRES K
5 + KR A& 43,800,000/ 7T

BeyRERBABBIAAREE A
ERARKDETEHERED LUEHAR
i

RERFLT MAKEAEZNEERS
HPIRERR MR EEBR B R
BHESHDE MESWREDENFTES
BAVEHFABRRZEMEE-
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26.

27.

UNLISTED PROPERTY FUND (CONTINUED)

During the year, the Fund paid the management fee of
approximately HK$3,040,000 (2019: HK$3,040,000) to its fund
manager, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, in which a shareholder who has significant influence over
the Group also is a shareholder with significant influence over the
fund manager.

The fair value of the Fund at initial recognition and the end of the
reporting period was determined based on the valuation provided
by CHFT, independent professional qualified valuer not connected
with the Group.

The fair value of the Fund is level 3 fair value measurement. There is
no transfer under the fair value hierarchy classification for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The Fund was measured at fair value using the binomial option
pricing model, at initial recognition and at the end of the
subsequent reporting period. Key inputs into the model were as
follows:

26. FEHYERES (F)

FR-EASAEESLRE (—RAREBEM
K2 BRAR B —REAEEEEKX
HEAZBRRNAHESKEEEATE
N2 BRER ) ZAFE B B #93,040,0007 7T (2019
£ 13,040,000 7T ) °

HEeRNU TR LBERRZ AFEIR
FEASEYEBE B EESERMA
BEEGREZEEMEE -

E2 7R AFEAFIMRMAFEAE-HE
202045 K 20194F3 A31H IEFE  RAFERE
WoAET I o

B0 A AR BT REX R KRR
RARGHEMREATENE - AERE
AZ BRI

2020 2019

Market value of the project BEMISEE GBP GBP

58,000,000 72,841,000

K B

Expected volatility TEHA R 1@ 6.2% 349%

Time to maturity ZI| B BR 0.75 yearF 1.89 years4F
Risk-free rate o e ) =X

- Hong Kong —&E 0.617% 1410%

—The UK — 0.089% 0.644%

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the unlisted property fund is
denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTOR/FORMER
DIRECTOR/IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

The balances were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

20208 201983 A31H  JELTEES
LA TTETE -

BNES AESE BEEZERQ

CIE/ e
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iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. g A&
Number of Share
shares capital
8 E [N
‘000 HKS$'000
F i FHET
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2018, ordinary shares of 201854418
HK$0.01 each BREEOIE T @K 1,000,000 10,000
Effect of share subdivision (Note (a)) Rz 2 (Hite) 4,000,000 =
At 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 and 201993 8318 20194818 &
31 March 2020, ordinary shares of 20205F3 H31H -
HK$0.002 each BREME02E T2 EiBR 5,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR:
At 1 April 2018 M2018F4H1H 339,390 3,394
Effect of share subdivision (Note (a)) IR 22 (k@) 1,357,560 =
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 201943 A31H &%201954 A 1H 1,696,950 3,394
Issuance of consideration share upon RUEE R & R R BT R ERD
acquisition of associates (Note 18) (MI5E18) 153,000 306
At 31 March 2020 72020438318 1,849,950 3,700

Note: Bi5E

€)] Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company (a)
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 28 September
2018, a share subdivision was approved with effect from 2 October 2018 in
which every one share issued and unissued ordinary share of HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company was subdivided into five subdivided shares
having a par value of HK$0.002 per subdivided share (“Share Subdivision”).
Immediately after the Share Subdivision, the authorised share capital of the
Company of HK$1,000,000,000 was divided into 5,000,000,000 subdivided
shares, of which 1,696,950,000 subdivided shares were issued and fully paid.
Details of the Share Subdivision are disclosed in the circular of the Company

dated 10 September 2018.

BIE AR B R EMN201859 A28 BT 2 A
RARRFANAE LBBACERRER R
MIFMEEIE  WE B2018F10H2A BB 4E
B ERARRRRAFEREMECONETLZE
—REFTERAFTEERFARAREE
BT (500028 T Z 4R 1 (TR 7
wH) - ZERDIFAE RNRRZEER
7K1,000,000,0007%8 7T 43 45,000,000,0008% # 4 A%
1 B H1,696,950,0008& v A AR 17 = B 81T K&
BR - ROIFAFIERARAT B ER20185F
9OA108 Z KA EE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

29. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

29. BHESWER R A

2020 2019
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHEx FHET
Finance income L
Interest income on short-term bank RERITIF R M EWA
deposits 371 263
Finance costs BF 75 A AR
Interest expenses on borrowings BEZMERX (8,391) (2,609)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBZFERX (158) S
(8,549) (2,609)

30. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 23 March 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party (the “Vendor”),
pursuant to which the Group has agreed to acquire the entire issued
share capital of a company at a consideration of approximately
HK$70,000,000. The acquisition was completed on 4 October 2018.
Such newly subsidiary is incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability which is principally engaged in the property investment
business and is holding an office premise in Hong Kong. The
acquisition had been accounted for as an acquisition of assets.

30. ZBWENEARKBEE

R2018F3A23A AKEEBYE=F
(IBFDIVEERE Bt A%ECER
EUE—HRAR 2B BITRA  RELD
/470,000,000 7T © 7% W B B A2018F10H 4
HZEK - ZF M B AR AR ES MK Z
BRAR FEREMEREEL IRE
BREERAEYE -ZWEEARBBIEE
éo
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R R (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # Z2020F3 A31H L F &

30. ZRNBEHNEBARBWEEE

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (%)
(CONTINUED)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition RUER R EWEEERABBNT

were as follows:

HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (Note a) W B Rk (Fista) 69,999
Other receivables H e U BR 3K 7
Accruals st EA (6)
Total consideration MRE 70,000

Total consideration satisfied by (Note b):

BREC AT A (D)

Cash bk 20,247
Shareholders’ loan novated BEBRERER 49,753
70,000

New cash outflow arising from acquisition

WEELZHMRER

Repayment of shareholders’ loan EEBRRER 49,753
Cash consideration paid BENRERE 20,247
Less: Deposits paid as at 31 March 2018 R 2018F3ABE B 2 ike (20,000)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B BWEBZIRITEHR LR -

50,000

Notes: B3

@) Upon the transfer of the legal title and possession of the office premise, (@) RERWNEYE LT BEREEER
the Group has designated it as the owner-occupied property and use for AEECREZMAENEREEAERY
administrative purpose. EWAETERRAR-

(b)  The consideration for the acquisition was approximately HK$70,000,000, which ) WEREL A70,0000008 T BHE0OE S

R AB 4920,247,0008 T REEBRRE XL
49,753,000 7T (BIRA 7R A B2 RRE ) ©

included (i) cash consideration of approximately HK$20,247,000; and the
novation of shareholders’ loan of approximately HK$49,753,000, represents the

shareholders’ loan as at the completion date.
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fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

30.

31.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
(CONTINUED)

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$804,000
(Note 10) have been excluded from the consideration transferred
and have been recognised as an expense in the year ended 31
March 2019, within the “Administrative expenses’ line item in the
consolidated profit or loss.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on
17 October 2014. Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by
the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 28 September 2018, the refreshment of the
Scheme has been approved and the terms are stated below.

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives to participants
to contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high caliber employees and attract those that are valuable to
the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

The board of directors of the Company, may at its discretion, grant
options to the Group's directors, officers, employees (including,
without limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract
consultants (including executive and non-executive consultants)
or any member of the Group, to subscribe for shares of HK$0.002
each in the share capital of the Company in accordance with the
provisions of the Scheme.

30.

31.

%ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬂ%%ﬁé
IIE

Uiz B2 48 B8 Ak 2N #9804,00058 7T (Bt 5£10) B &
R s REF IR W EREE2019F3
AR EFENGABEZ [TTHEAX]E
BRNERAERE -

REGEURGHBERIRK

D BFR2014F10 8178 H 40 B AR AE 5T &
([&zst8l]) - BIBARRRER2018F9A
BABRFTZARABREEIAE LBBZ
TRRZER EIATEI DB R EER
Bl BN

ZTEE B

ZAtEW B MR AB2EERNAKEEL
BER YSAEERABENEEESFET
RS HAREERENET -

ZEtEIN S EE
AAREFSARBERAANSE I AEEFEM
KEARZES =AKE BT (HER
TRABREEFHNETL) REHEM (8
FENIT RIEITER) % H B AR E - AURE
FZETEIZ X RBA R R AR FREE
00027 7T Z & 17 °
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme

Under the Scheme, subject to the approval of the Company's
shareholders, the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time. No options may
be granted under the Scheme if the grant of such option will result
in the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under this Scheme and any
other share option of the Group must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of passing of the relevant
resolution adopting this Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted to each participant (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant of
Options to a participant which would result in the shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all Options granted and to be
granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant exceeding the limit shall be subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance with such participant and his
close associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, any share options granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company's shares at the date of the
grant) in excess of HKS5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

31. RESHEHUKROGAEBRNIR

(%)
BREZTETHBITHROER

RIBZETE) AR AR BBRERLLE  RIT6E
RIFZF B ERHERITEOME BRE
B A BITHRD &S 8 E MEBELR AR
TRF B BEITARAREN30% © MR L BB RS
BUBHRE  AINSRIEZ A SR L ER
fEo

RITERIEZT S MAREOEAEME
PR T 15 O PR B AR R By - R g 3 K% B
TTRRDBREA KT SBBRRMNZT S
ZBERRZREBBER 2D EITRMHW
10% °

BESHRENBRSRE

READLEARRATERTS2RED
BRE (RECTH D EHRARITENE
BCAR) BS 2 BAT RS T RITHAR D B T
BRBEBITRGE% - EAE—FRE
BRESEREEROEGHE—SRD
BEZE2EABEA BT RERTE
MoRENFEREE (REETE 2
B R RAT IR MO RE AR AR ) AT (RS B BAT RS
TETZBRHBLZ LR AARGRRE
Sl MAMSEE RARRHBRAZER

Z 15
EIXR°

MARAREMNES  EBITHRABEREER
Bk 1R SR B AR H B ERES
NARBIULIERITEE LA E LI R
ERN21E A B R - MAR R EERE I
VIRTESREAMBEAREBEA
AR 2 B 31T 150.1% 8 &8
385,000,00078 7T (RIEA LD B D A A
HZ BRETE) 2 EMBRE  BAERER
PR K EELRH -
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fRE ISR (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Period within which the share must be taken up
under an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
by the directors of the Company, save that such period shall not
be more than ten years from the date of the offer of the share
options, subject to the provisions for early termination as set out in
the Scheme. Unless otherwise determined by the directors at their
absolute discretion, there is no requirement of a minimum period
for which an option must be held before an option can be exercised.
In addition, there is no performance target which must be achieved
before any of the options can be exercised.

Amount payable upon acceptance of the option
and the period within which the payment must be
made

The nominal consideration of HK$1.00 shall be paid within 28 days
from the date of offer of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price of the
option

The subscription price for shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and notified to
the participant in the offer and shall be no less than the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(2)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
(provided that in the event that any options is proposed to be
granted within a period of less than five business days after
the trading of the shares shall be used for the purpose of this
paragraph; and

(3)  the nominal value of a share on the day of grant.

31. RESHEUKRGAEBRNIR

(&)
REBREARBR KR

REBREZTEHABARREFTEE -
HERZ B NS R IB1R 2 B A B B At +
F WA ZBIFTE 2R ILIEFAR
R-FRIBESARTE2EBBET  SRLE
REBRER TITEALARERRENR
R HAMR AR TE © pEN - I EmPME T BB AR T T
TR BAER ZRRBIET-

ESBRESEMNSERLAE
A R S PR

KEARE100ETARR2BIE R BE
F28BH A AT o

BEEBRETEENEE

REZAENBNABESRESS 2R
HEEEXRBNTME2EE ZER B
ATMERUATREZRS

(1 BORREAPRBIMELZEH
WERMRZIWHIE

2 BROREERLAHIAEZEAR
BRAEL 2B ARERMRZ T
W E (ERREDEER IR AE
LEBZHBANEZ R D EFEBER
R ARARBAE) R
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the date of adoption (i.e. 26 September 2014 and ending on
25 September 2024), after which no further options will be granted
but the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in force to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted or
exercised prior to otherwise as may be required in accordance with
the provision of the Scheme.

Details of share options granted under the Scheme are as follows:

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

31. RESHEHUKROGAEBRNIR

(%)

Zat 8l 2 R T HARR

Zat G R ER AN B B 105 B R R A
(BP2014F9 4268 K A2024% 98258 1) -
HExTafk— PR EBRE HZT8l g
NHRAVBHERNTIARB I MEREZET
EIME XA RE B ITAZ BT MR T3
ITERERRAE £ A

RBEZAEIR D 2 BRAEF BT

29 October 13 December

2018 2018 Total
2018%F 20184

10A29R 128138 HEt

Number of ordinary shares to be issued ~ PATTEER 1S T 81T 2

upon exercise: TmREE -

— Chairman —EE 16,968,000 - 16,968,000
— Directors &% 35,936,000 = 35,936,000
- Independent non-executive directors ~ —JBM IEHITE S 3,392,000 = 3,392,000
— Employees —fE&8 8,500,000 1,000,000 9,500,000
64,796,000 1,000,000 65,796,000

For all the share options granted, 50% of the share options granted
to be exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration of
12 months from the date of grant (the “first tranche”) and 50%
of the share options granted to be exercised by each grantee at
any time after the expiration of 24 months from the date of grant
(the “second tranche’). In the event the grantee ceases to be the
participants, the share options granted to the grantee shall lapse on
the date which the grantee ceases to be the participant.

AR EHFAEREREMNS  RTEARA
Z 500 B B AR R i B R ET 1218 A lEim 2
EFREBA FITE ([F—4#t]) RET &%
B Z50%E R X B B A 2418 A &
i AR A T IT6E ([582Ht]) o &
BATBR2EE AR TARARRERE
BRARATBR2EEEARY -
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fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, share-based payment
expense of approximately HK$2,796,000 (2019: HK$8,552,000)
for the share options granted and vested was recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss with a corresponding credit in share
option reserve and the vesting condition of first tranche was
fulfilled.

In respect of the share options granted on 29 October 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 29 October 2019 to 28 October 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 29 October 2020
to 28 October 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

In respect of the share options granted on 13 December 2018,
they are exercisable commencing from 13 December 2019 to 12
December 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from
13 December 2020 to 12 December 2023 (both dates inclusive) for
the second tranche.

Details of the exercise prices and the movement of number of share
options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2020 and 2019
are as follows.

31.

?i;i%%%’ﬂﬂﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
IIE

Zat 822 TN HIBR (48)
HE200F3A31HIEFE ERLREB 2
B 2 B (0 A E AT 3R & 92,796,000
7C (20194F : 8,552,000/ 7T ) E R 4R & B i
R WHETABRERE ME—HF
BIRHFEEER -

BLAA2018F 1020 AR M BEREM S - &
A A2019810 8298 £2023510A28H (8
BEEMA)A F17{# (5 —#) R #2020
F108298 £20235F107288 (BIEH R M
H)AI FITE (E =) »

BA2018F 2 A AR EMNERENS - &
Al 2019812 8138 £2023F 128128 (8
FEEMA)A F17{E (5 —#) R#2020
F£128138 E2023F 1284128 (BIEEEH R
H)AI FITE (E =) »

20204 201953 A31 8 2 1T1E 8 K ik
ITERAIITE 2 BRESRBEEBHUT -

Number of share options
BREHA
Exercise Lapsed/ Lapsed/
price Asat Granted forfeited At forfeited At
per share 1 April during during 31 March during 31 March
(HKS) 2018 the year the year 2019 the year 2020
Bk
TEE  RooisE FREM/  R2019F EREN/  H2020%
(#7) 4818 FRRH R 34318 RE  3A318
29 October 2018 2018104290 134 - 64,796,000 - 64796000 (339360000 30860000
13 December 2018 2018%F12713H 120 = 1,000,000 = 1,000,000 = 1,000,000
- 65796000 - 65796000  (33936000) 31,860,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 33,936,000 (2019: Nil) share
options lapsed because the vesting condition was not fulfilled.
The corresponding reversal of the share-based payment expenses
incurred in the prior years was recognised in the consolidated profit
or loss.

The fair values of employee services received in return for share
options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted at grant date. The fair value is determined by the
directors of the Company with reference to the valuation performed
by an independent valuer, CHFT using the binomial option pricing
model and significant inputs into the model were as follows:

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

31. RESHEHUKROGAEBRNIR

(%)

Zat Bl 2R TN HIBR (48)
HZE2020F3831HILFE - MRBEBIEHFER
JEZERK v 33,936,00015 (20194F « 4 ) B8 A% %
BRM-HERONBEFEELEZRG B
ERAZAXERGEABERER

TR B I O T L A R 8BRS 0
AFEDSERR L OBBENEL A8
MATENE - AT EDRARNERES
WIS ER R HRA AR BT B
REE A EERABBNT -

29 October 13 December

2018 2018

20184F 20184

10H29H 12138

Expected volatility TEHA R 1@ 48.71% 50.07%
Expected option life T8 HA B i o 4F E 5 years4F 5 years®F
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B M as = 0.00% 0.00%
Annual risk-free interest rate FEER R = 2.26% 2.1%
Fair value - First tranche NEE-F—Ht HK$0.3897%8 7T HK$0.3955 7T
- Second tranche —E -t HK$0.4457% 7T HK$0.4547%8 7T

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility of future trends, adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility based on publicly available information, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the
options was incorporated into the measurement of the fair value.

The variables and assumptions used in estimating the fair value
of the share options were the directors’ best estimates. Change in
subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value.

The Group does not have a legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

B HE R 18 R R SR AB S B B 2 IR
48 15 21 B T 49 K SR O U 10 £ e 7
BEHEL R ETETT— T ARRE
RoATEE R M R BRES H il
o

MEEREN D TEMEANEERRER
REFHNREMG - TBRBARKRNHEH A
EEHRATEELEEATE-

AEEVEERNETETNRSEDL
B PEAAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EREIE
(a) Capital Commitments (a) BEREE
2020 2019
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Capital expenditure contracted for but BETAERR
not provided for in the consolidated HEMBmEBEL
financial statements: BEARRXE:
Purchase of property, BEWME WEREHE
plant and equipment - 1,350
(b) Operating Lease Commitments (b) KREHEHRIE
The Group as lessee AEBEREBEA

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group
adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to these leases (see Notes 3.1). From
1 April 2019 onwards, future lease payments are recognised
as lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with the policies set out in Note 4(p),
and the details regarding the Group's future lease payments
are disclosed in Note 24. No operating lease commitment for
the Group as at 31 March 2020.

REBCEFRSEBTEWENLSER
BBV BREENE S - RIEZA
o AREBAEER2019F4818B 2 F
VB EREZEHESHMNA
EBE(RHE) - m2019%F481H
R AR M 54 T 2 BUR - R 2R AR
ENFREEUBRAERERAEE
BE BREANSBEARRBEENKZF
18 7O BT 5F244% B8 © 7420209F3 A31H -
AEBWELEAE R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Operating Lease Commitments (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had outstanding
commitments for the future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

e S mR M s (48)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

32. EAREE (&)
BEHEAE (&)
TEBERABA (H)
201934318  AEEIEN T 5 H
& m < T BE A S HE B R 2R &
BEESARZ AR EERNT

(b)

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Operating leases which expire: LA S TR EW

Within one year —F R - 12,262

In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EEFRF
(BREEEME) - 57
- 12,319

The Group leases as offices and factories under non-
cancellable operating lease commitments. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of one to three years and
rentals are fixed during the relevant lease period.

The Group as lessor

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group had the future
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

AEBUTARELEHEAZEE
MAERBE -HOBEFIFRA
—E=-F mMEsXABEEHRNEE

AEBEAHBAA

20209 ] 201938318 AEE R
TR BB E M TR S E TR
TARRFEASWFT :

2020 2019
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Operating leases which expire: WEHEEL A TRHEER:
Within one year —F R - 821

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not lease any of its offices
under operation lease arrangements. As at 31 March 2019,
the Group leases certain of its offices under operating lease
arrangements with 3 months of non-cancellable period.
Leases are negotiated for a term of three years and rentals are
fixed during the relevant lease period.

R2020F3 8310  NEE W ERE
KEHELRHEAEERABHAE R
2019F3 H31H  AEEIRE ] HE
HEAEA K EHELHHERSR
TR A=E -HERTFHAE=F mi
SREBRBRNETETE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A MR ERMIE (B)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 32, EARKIE (&)

(c) As at 31 March 2020, the Group had commitment, which (c)
is contracted but not provided and subject to fulfillment
of condition precedents for to make the remaining capital
commitment to the unlisted property fund of HK$34,200,000
(2019: HK$38,000,000 (Note 26)).

R2020F3 318 AEEBEF DR
R 2 R EW B FEX R GHE
% HAIEE  ABLIELETIEES(E
i £2 N & 7R # HE£34,200,00058 7T (2019
£ 1 38,000,0007 7T (M 5E26) ) °

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BEAELRS
(a) Key management compensation (a) FEEBABZHM

2020 2019
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IERHAMET 5,964 7,121
Equity settled share-based payments % 4 45 B LARR 10 A BT 5K 5,052 7339

Pension costs defined contribution plans & # & AKX AN E BB H GBI X
and social security costs HEREKAR 72 8]
11,088 14,541

Key management personnel include the directors of the
Company and other senior management of the Group. The
remuneration of key management personnel is determined
by the management of the Company having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

TEERAEBBEARRAEERAE
BEfmEREEE - T2ERAEN
FMAAARERERBEARER

MZBEEE -
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fre B EmA M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 EjiZOmEBH NBEFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BEALRS (#)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Save as disclosed elsewhere on the consolidated financial (b) BEGAEPBRREMIBHFTHEIN
statements, the Group entered into the following material AEBETUTERBEALRS -
related party transactions. These transactions are made of ZERXGTHREZZEEANT T
terms mutually agreed by the related parties. TEZMRFRET L ©

2020 2019
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HKS$'000
BEATBERE XEMHHE FHER T
Beneficial owner Interest expense
TR A FERX 109 =
Company with common executive Interest expense

director FERZ
EEHRAMITEEZ QA 3,064 =
34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 34. MERERERMET

CASH FLOWS

(a) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from (a) WFEEReRERT HEVE HE
disposals of property, plant and equipment comprise: KRB HRIBRLE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHERT FAT
Net book value (Note 15) REDEE (MIFE15) 70,685 36
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BE R H
plant and equipment (Note 9) &8 (f3E9) (17,678) (16)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - BE KR EBTERIE

plant and equipment 53,007 20
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iR A M SR MTEE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities

from financing activities, including both cash and non-

cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are

liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group's consolidated cash flow statement

34, &%

ERERERMTE (&)

(b) MEFBHELEZAEBEYHKR

TRHAMAKREXRARE RS ZAE

2% ERRe LR E
PELCRERE
RenERRAKEZ

A=
TRELD

= A
Fai

o BhEE
B4 sk AR K

RPN EARERPELEZRERE

as cash flows from financing activities. ZafE
Other
borrowing Total
interest liabilities
included in from
Other other financing
borrowings payables activities
FHAE A METH
BARIEZ EER
Hitife® HiEEFNR BEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THER TET FTHET
1 April 2018 M2018F4A1RH = = =
Changes from financing BEREREEE:
cash flows:
Proceeds from other borrowings HitEE 25 5RIA 52,500 52,500
Payments for interests IISARE S (2,609) (2,609)
Total changes from financing RERGREZHAE
cash flows 52,500 (2,609) 49,891
Other changes: Hofth % &)
Interest charges on other borrowings ~ E b & 2 F| 83 H
(Note 29) (Bt F29) - 2,609 2,609
Total other changes Hih @ o) - 2,609 2,609
At 31 March 2019 201953 4318 52,500 - 52,500

i/}lbi
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A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 34, MEBREARERMTE (H&)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) MEFBHELEZEBYHR

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities (Continued) (#1)
Other
borrowing Total
interest liabilities
included in from
Lease Other other financing
liabilities borrowings payables activities
A E A MEED
ERMEZ Bz
HEEE HittfeE HHEERNE BEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2019 201954 H1H - 52,500 - 52,500
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 RINEBEIT
P
FR 2T E 1,252 - - 1,252
At 1 April 2019 (restated) M2019%4 718
(551) 1,252 52,500 - 53,752
Changes from financing MEREREE
cash flows: EIE
Proceeds from other borrowings ~ EAb{EE 2 FTE K
H - 27,650 - 27,650
Repayment of other borrowings BB EMEE - (49,416) - (49,416)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEERE (1,455) - - (1,455)
Payments for interests FERK (158) - (7,330) (7,488)
Total changes from financing cash BB R &R E
flows 2B (1,613) (21,766) (7,330) (30,709)
Other changes: Hfn &
Interest charges on other HipfEE 2
borrowings (Note 29) F B
(BIEE29) - - 8,391 8,391
Interest charges on lease liabilites HE&EZ
(Note 29) MR
(BiEE29) 158 - - 158
New lease liabilities HHERE 9,192 - - 9,192
Early termination of lease RELLERE (224) - - (224)
Total other changes Hin S E)BEH 9,126 - 8,391 17,517

At 31 March 2020 F202063A31H 8,765 30,734 1,061 40,560
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

35. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. TEMNB LT
Place of establishment/  Nominal value of
principal place of issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of subsidiary operation B registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
MEAREE BUt% TECEHE CRTRE IMERHE rEEEEREE L TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B G
Arcadia Jewellery Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$500,000 - 100%  Trading of jewellery products
EERMAERAR Bk E18R50000078 7T BEREEM
Man Sang Jewellery Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 - 100%  Trading of pearl products
(Hong Kong) Limited ) e
RERE (B)AERRA BE TERIET BEVHER
Hui Bao Feng Jewellery PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Purchasing and processing of
(Shenzhen) Limited S$2,000,000 pearls and assembling of
. _pearl jewellery
EZ %A ORI) it #Eff} & 452,000,000 7 RERMIZHR
ARAT ERURHE
Full Wealth Investment Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HKS1 - 100%  Financial assets investment
Hong Kong Limited \ B o i
BERREBRBABRLAR FBAE EERIET TREERE
The English names of certain subsidiaries represent the best effort ETHWEBARNWEE RN EH  BEXH
by the management of the Company in translating their Chinese BOARRBEEEREEABNIKBEAXH
names as they do not have official English names. BEEMS-
As at 31 March 2020, none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt M202063 A31 0 - BHEMB A RS BITEM

securities (2019: Nil). BEEES (2019F &) -
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A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

36. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 36. AT ZBEER

COMPANY
Statement of financial position B % AR R &
2020 2019
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
M3 TERT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BRRIZIEE 11,198 11,198
Amounts due from subsidiaries e UL B B A R FRIA 93,901 72,233
105,099 83,431
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8 1< 7RI R H At FE U BR 3K 8 34
Amounts due from subsidiaries UK BT B R RIFRIE = 119,289
Cash and cash equivalents RekEFRABEE 1 123
9 119,446
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables E i FE RN 12,525 1,568
Other borrowings HimfE & 27,650 =
Amounts due to director/ ENEE BIEERE
former director 848 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENEIE 21,313 2,400
Amount due to immediate FES H B A B FUE
holding company 1,539 5,700
63,875 9,668
Net current (liabilities)/assets HE(BE) EEBE (63,866) 109,778
Net assets EEFE 41,233 193,209
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity AREBRRELESR
holders of the Company
Share capital fi& 7 28 3,700 3,394
Reserves ] @) 37,533 189,815
Total equity BER 41,233 193,209

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of

Directors on 30 June 2020 and was signed on its behalf.

KAREEBEBRDIN2020F6A30R EE
EEMETHUTEERREE -

Cheng Chi Kin Cheung Sze Ming
B E RS
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
FERHTEE HITEE
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iR A M SR MTEE (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

36. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Statement of financial position (Continued)

Note:

(a) Reserves movement of the Company

36. ARAZHBEFR (&)

MR R (F)

GER

(@ AAREHEE

Share Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BRADRE BB AR R RiEE Foby
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2018 A2018F481H 410,810 S (116,215) 294,595
Loss for the year KEEHBE - (113,332) (113332
Equity-settled share-based payments  BXAEAE AR A
(Note 31) EREATR (FEE3T) - 8,552 - 8,552
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019  R2019F3A318 K&
20194F4 810 410810 8,552 (229,547) 189,815
Loss for the year REEEBRE - - (320,777) (320,777)
Issue of consideration shares upon RUEEE & QN RIBFRITR
acquisition of associates (Note 18) Bt (Kizk18) 165,699 - - 165,699
Equity-settled share-based IRIEEE AR =
payments (Note 31) AR (BEEE3) - 2,796 - 2,796
At 31 March 2020 72020%63A31H 576,509 11,348 (550,324) 37,533
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A B HmE M (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 37. EENE R ER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERITHEAT M
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is BESRITREH 2T |EHMT -

set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2020 B £2020F3A31ALFE:
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in BEBEE (TmALal L ENE LR
respect of their services as directors, whether of the company BIRE)ZREBNTEFXEFE
or its subsidiary undertaking Wz Bz
Employers
Equity contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Name of director Fees Salary payments scheme Total
RELE

ABRS  EXHEK

nER® EAEE
BEEpg e e NFHEX 7 st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR THT FET TR THT

Executive directors BITES
Mr. Archambaud-Chao RS L E
Percy Henry Junior (F20195107418H
(resigned on 18 October 2019) BHT) - 679 - 1 690
Mr. Leung Alex 2R E - 120 452 = 572
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming RiaEL s
(appointed on 1 April 2018) (M2018F4A1H
EZf) - 1,432 3,834 18 5,284
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman) BrREE(XE)
(appointed on 27 September 2019)  (7A2019F9A27H
EZfE) - 184 - 9 193
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Yuen Ching Bor Stephen RERGE
(resigned on 18 October 2019) (FA2019F10A18H
BHE) 227 - - - 227
227 2,415 4,286 38 6,966
Independent non-executive BUEHITES
directors
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen BRRLE 220 - 383 - 603
Mr. Lee Kin Keung EXer- S 220 = 383 = 603
Mr. Leung Ka Kui Johnny REMELE
(appointed on 23 January 2019) (7201941 A23H
EZfE) 220 - - - 220

660 = 766 = 1,426
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & 220203 831 H It F[E

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 37. B R fER (&)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHATME (&)
(Continued)

BHZE2019F3831H LFE:
M BEE (Tl as AR E
FIXFKE)CHREENTEFHEFE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in
respect of their services as directors, whether of the company

or its subsidiary undertaking Wz Bz
Employers
Equity contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Name of director Fees Salary payments scheme Total
RELE
Nk EEHEBK
RER BEAGTE
Espg e e OEE ilEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART TET THET THT TR
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Archambaud-Chao RS L E
Percy Henry Junior (20195104 18H
(resigned on 18 October 2019) BHE) = 1,100 2212 18 3330
Mr. Lee Tsz Hang (resigned on FTEEE
13 September 2018) (M2018F9A 138
BHE) - 435 = 9 444
Mr. Leung Alex PEESE = 120 261 = 381
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REFGEAE
(appointed on 1 April 2018) (F2018%4 818
EZ{E) - 1624 2212 18 3854
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Yuen Ching Bor Stephen RERTE (EF)
(Chairman) (resigned on (R2019%10A18H
18 October 2019) BT 360 - 2212 - 2572
360 3,279 6,897 45 10,581
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Pang Siu Yin EhERE
(resigned on 13 September 2018) (7201894 13R
BHE) 100 = - - 100
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen RaREE 220 - 21 - 441
Mr. Lee Kin Keung B S 220 = 21 = 441
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (resigned on BREBEEE
13 September 2018) (R201859A13H
BT 100 - - - 100
Mr. Leung Ka Kui Johnny 2EMELE
(appointed on 23 January 2019) (F2019%1 A 238
EZf) ) - - - )
682 - 442 - 1,124
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)
Notes:

(b)

(c)

(d)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The non-executive director’'s emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. The
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly

for their services as directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no directors agreed to waive their partial

emoluments voluntarily (2019: HKS Nil).

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits during the year (2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company did not
pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2019: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of
directors, or controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors (2019: Nil).

e EmEMEE (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 # Z2020F3 A31H L F &

37. EEfm R ER (&)

(a) EERTHRARNE (&)
fi i

ExprisiTERE s Me EEANBEMIE
HEARARAREEBEREBZRE-
EXFRERITEE S T AN REE
RARNASEMB AR EFMIEMR 2 RS -
EXFABFRTEEZHME T RARK
SERARRERARH 2R -

REZ2020F3831ALFE BEEERE
BREREREZHBHEE (2019F : THT) °

(b) EEZRAKBAEEBER
AREREAMRESE S S W IER
] 3R PR 4R ) Sk BB AR A (2019%F -
®)-

MERHKEEREMOE=SH
REzRE
REZE2020F3831BILFE A AT
WESERHESREMAEME=
AR AB (20195 - ) -

BERNES EBo2EFZE
ErREEBRIBAZE
FEERRHEMXZ Z2EHR

(c)

(d)

RELE2020F3A8318 IEF & 2T
VNEE BEF2XEHEARKEE
BERASTZAZER EBERKHEM
LT HE (20195  4E) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE SRR (8)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 & £2020F3 A31H [F F[E

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(CONTINUED)

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial statements,
no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2019: Nil).

38. LITIGATION

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
17 March 2020, the Company and its subsidiary have received a
writ of summons endorsed with a statement of claim under action
number HCA 248 of 2020 issued in the Court of First Instance of
the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region by
the solicitors acting for Great View Finance Limited (the “Plaintiff’)
against the Company and its subsidiary for demand immediate
repayment of overdue borrowing of approximately HK$3,084,000
(the “Overdue Borrowing”) (Note 25) and the interest on the
Overdue Borrowing at the rate of 18% per annum from 17 January
2020 to the date of settlement. During the year ended 31 March
2020, the Group recorded the interest of approximately HK$114,000
in the consolidated profit or loss.

On 2 June 2020, the Group has fully settled the Overdue Borrowing
and the corresponding interest with an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$3,293,000. The Company and its subsidiary has
accordingly received a notice of discontinuance for confirming the
legal proceedings closed.

Other than the disclosure of above, as at the end of the reporting
period, the Group was not involved in any other material litigation or
arbitration. As far as the management of the Group was aware, the
Group had no other material litigation or claim which was pending
or threatened against the Group.

37.

38.

ESMNERER (F)

(e) EERKRE THIENHZ
BEAREDR
BRZEREVBREMBEEEN B
REEREAFERTMAERE AR
BB RTE RS AR B 2 ¥4
ARz EESEERHEBEEERE
EEAERZZEERS THEEH
(2019%F : %) -

R FR

R AR T HEAR2020F3817H Z A
L AR RENBARERZHEMRE
RIVBERAR ([REDHHARFT R
EMBRRREBFINITHE S F AR R
FAEBEEE 2 SR FAMR SR A20208 HCA 24861
EHREMMEZEASNR  EREREER
B 1E 3% 493,084,000/ 7T ([@HAE =K ]) (B
#E25) K 38 BR 18 3R F ) = 18%5T # FR2020
F1R1I7EBEBEE BB ZF B - B E2020%F3
A3BLEFE  TEERGEEZ AR E
#9114,00078 7t

MR20206F6 A28 - AEE R BEEERHE
TR Ko KB FE FI) B 48 BB #3,293,00078 7T ° AN A A
MEWBARE RS BN BRE
ZREFEE

B EXPIREEIN RS IR NREEY
B MEMEMEARRRRFE - EAEE
EREMRA AEEY EEMARRIEE R
SEMNERFRARE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following material events
after 31 March 2020:

Placing of new shares

On 14 May 2020, the Company entered into the placing agreement
(the "Placing Agreement’) with the placing agent pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place up to
369,900,000 new shares of HK$0.025 per share of the Company (the
"Placing”). On 1 June 2020, all conditions to the placing Agreement
have been fulfilled and the Placing has been completed. After the
Placing, approximately 16.66% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged.

Details of the transaction was disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 14 May 2020, 15 May 2020 and 1 June 2020
respectively.

Assessment of impact of the COVID-19

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 epidemic in China and exposure
in the world, many countries have imposed travel restrictions,
public health measures and quarantine requirement of travelers in
order to contain the outbreak of COVID-19 which resulted in the
weakened consumer sentiment in the world. Up to the date of the
annual report, the outbreak of COVID-19 is yet stable, the directors
of the Company expected that the revenue from pearls and
jewellery business will continue to further deteriorate. In addition,
the co-working spaces and co-living spaces business through
the investment in an associate will also continue to have adverse
impact. The Group will keep continuous attention on the situation
of the COVID-19, assess and react actively to its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issued by the board of directors on 30 June 2020.

iR MBS mR MR (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, Z2020F3 A31H I F &

39.

40.

MEHREE

Bz ERAMIERREMI ST ESEIN
REBMR020FIANBBRELEUNTEARSE
18 :

i £ 3 IR 17
202058148 » AR R AL ERERT AL
Ena ((REHE]) Bt XAREEK
H A E = ER%0.025% LAl & £ %369,900,000
AR R FIRD ([BRESE]) - 202056
AR BEEWEIMEGRECSEER - B
EFHC TR REEFEE AARZE
BTRR AR IE K £916.66% ©

RS ZFBEBENRRNAT B ED R A20205F
58148 20205 A15H K2020F6 A1H 2
YN:

FE2019B RBESHZEE
R BE B 201978 AR R SRR IF W 2 Bk
EX ZEBRREERELITRS  AHEHE
B R IR E AR TE - LB HI201 98 AR S
B BREEEEBERS EEARTF
WA 2019 MESHEEHAREBE &
RAESEHEHREKREES 2 WA
HEHEE — T = AN BRI EREE
NAETZRETIEEEAERZFEEEM
EBNBEEZ DT E AEBGES
AE2019BRAESHEE T EHEEAEE
FBRARCEEENTEWIELERKX
ﬁgo

#HE B IR R
FAMBIRRPL2020F6 30 EZEESH
o N I B o
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFHERE

RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3831BLLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT THET FTHL THET
Revenue WA 111,978 171,266 187,357 212232 210019
Loss before income tax BRETSHE A0 B (280,402) (43,220) (128,555) (24282) (10858)
Income tax (expense)/credit R (Ax) /E% (1,420) 404 (1232) 39 (82)
Loss attributable to equity holders of ARARRELFE
the Company for the year E#E (281,822) (42,816) (129.787) (23,886) (10,940)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March
®3A31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT THET FTAHL THET
Total assets BEE 158,657 277,860 254,068 313,238 339,303
Total liabilities weE 73,525 79,882 17,560 23153 25,646
Equity attributable to equity holders of NS
the Company EME R 85,132 197978 236,508 290,085 313,657
Note: N
The financial figures were extracted from the consolidated financial statements in the annual M IRSEFREETHERE -

report.






	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	公司簡介
	財務摘要
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事履歷
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合收益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務摘要
	封底

